National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

Final

Acute Coronary Syndromes

Cost-effectiveness analysis: Which dual antiplatelet therapy is most cost effective for managing unstable angina or NSTEMI or for managing STEMI in adults undergoing PCI?

NICE guideline NG185 Economic analysis report November 2020

Final

This guideline was developed by the National Guideline Centre based at the Royal College of Physicians



Disclaimer

The recommendations in this guideline represent the view of NICE, arrived at after careful consideration of the evidence available. When exercising their judgement, professionals are expected to take this guideline fully into account, alongside the individual needs, preferences and values of their patients or service users. The recommendations in this guideline are not mandatory and the guideline does not override the responsibility of healthcare professionals to make decisions appropriate to the circumstances of the individual patient, in consultation with the patient and, where appropriate, their careful or guardian.

Local commissioners and providers have a responsibility to enable the guideline to be applied when individual health professionals and their patients or service users wish to use it. They should do so in the context of local and national priorities for funding and developing services, and in light of their duties to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, to advance equality of opportunity and to reduce health inequalities. Nothing in this guideline should be interpreted in a way that would be inconsistent with compliance with those duties.

NICE guidelines cover health and care in England. Decisions on how they apply in other UK countries are made by ministers in the <u>Welsh Government</u>, <u>Scottish Government</u>, and <u>Northern Ireland Executive</u>. All NICE guidance is subject to regular review and may be updated or withdrawn.

Copyright

© NICE 2020. All rights reserved. Subject to Notice of rights.

ISBN:978-1-4731-3902-2

Contents

| 1 | ۱ | 5 | | | | |
|---|------|------------------------------------|---|------|--|--|
| 2 | Meth | nods | | 6 | | |
| | 2.1 | Model | overview | 6 | | |
| | | 2.1.1 | Comparators | 6 | | |
| | | 2.1.2 | Population | 7 | | |
| | 2.2 | Approa | ach to modelling | 7 | | |
| | | 2.2.1 | Model structure: first year treatment period decision tree | 8 | | |
| | | 2.2.2 | Model structure: post-one year extrapolation Markov model | . 10 | | |
| | | 2.2.3 | Uncertainty | . 11 | | |
| | 2.3 | Model | inputs | . 13 | | |
| | | 2.3.1 | Summary table of model inputs | . 13 | | |
| | | 2.3.2 | Baseline risks in first year treatment period decision tree | . 17 | | |
| | | 2.3.3 | Relative treatment effects in first year treatment period decision tree | . 26 | | |
| | | 2.3.4 | Transition probabilities in post-one year extrapolation Markov model | . 31 | | |
| | | 2.3.5 | Health-related quality of life | . 36 | | |
| | | 2.3.6 | Resource use and costs | . 38 | | |
| | 2.4 | Sensiti | ivity analyses | . 47 | | |
| | | 2.4.1 | Stroke 1 year baseline risk adjusted (SA1) | . 47 | | |
| | | 2.4.2 | Adjusting baseline risks for reinfarction and stroke (SA2) | . 48 | | |
| | | 2.4.3 | Reducing SMRs for ACS/Reinfarction (SA3) | . 48 | | |
| | | 2.4.4 | Assuming no treatment effect with stroke (SA4 – 6) | . 48 | | |
| | | 2.4.5 | Rivaroxaban treatment effects included (SA7 – 8) | . 48 | | |
| | | 2.4.6 | Dyspnoea included in the analysis (SA9) | . 51 | | |
| | | 2.4.7 | Clopidogrel loading dose set to 300mg (SA10) | . 52 | | |
| | | 2.4.8 | UA/NSTEMI prasugrel arm loading dose (SA11) | . 52 | | |
| | | 2.4.9 | Alternative treatment durations in intervention costing (SA12-15) | . 52 | | |
| | | 2.4.10 | Proportion of stroke social care costs that are publicly funded (SA16 – | | | |
| | | | 17) | . 52 | | |
| | | 2.4.11 | Bleeding costs (SA18 – 23) | . 52 | | |
| | | 2.4.12 | Utilities not age-adjusted (SA24) | . 54 | | |
| | | 2.4.13 | Discount rate (SA25) | . 54 | | |
| | 2.5 | Compu | utations | . 54 | | |
| | 2.6 | Model validation | | | | |
| | 2.7 | 7 Estimation of cost effectiveness | | | | |
| | 2.8 | Interpr | eting results | . 56 | | |
| 3 | Resu | ults | | . 57 | | |
| | 3.1 | Base o | ase | . 57 | | |
| | 3.2 | Sensiti | ivity analyses | . 67 | | |

| 4 | Discussion | | | | | |
|---|------------|---|------|--|--|--|
| | 4.1 | Summary of results | . 88 | | | |
| | 4.2 | Limitations and interpretation | . 88 | | | |
| | 4.3 | Generalisability to other populations or settings | . 93 | | | |
| | 4.4 | Comparisons with published studies | . 93 | | | |
| | 4.5 | Conclusions | . 95 | | | |
| | 4.6 | Implications for future research | . 95 | | | |

1 Introduction

Dual-antiplatelet therapy (DAPT) (aspirin plus: clopidogrel, prasugrel or ticagrelor) is established practice as part of initial management of acute coronary syndrome (ACS) in order to reduce the risk of further cardiovascular events (and is generally continued post-ACS). NICE guideline CG94 updated NICE TA80 on clopidogrel in combination with aspirin for UA/NSTEMI.⁴⁰ NICE TA317 recommended prasugrel in combination with aspirin as an option for people with ACS having a percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI).³⁷ NICE TA236 recommended ticagrelor in combination with aspirin as an option for people with ACS having a percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI).³⁷ NICE TA236 recommended ticagrelor in combination with aspirin as an option for people with STEMI intended to be treated with primary PCI and people with UA/NSTEMI.³⁹ This means that all three agents are options in current NHS practice. The TAs were unable to make recommendations regarding prasugrel versus ticagrelor at the time of their development although both did consider this comparison. Audit data from 2017/18 showed that 97.5% of people who have had a myocardial infarction (MI) were discharged on clopidogrel, prasugrel or ticagrelor.³²

However, there is uncertainty in clinical practice about which option should be used and variations in practice across England.²⁶ As part of the guideline update the committee therefore considered the question 'Which dual antiplatelet is most clinically and cost effective for managing unstable angina or NSTEMI or for managing STEMI in adults'. The full review of the clinical effectiveness evidence and published cost effectiveness evidence including the committee discussion can be found in 'Evidence report A'.

All agents reduce cardiovascular events but increase bleeding and so there is a trade-off between these effects. Also, mortality could be impacted by both effects. This could result in differences in QALYs and costs downstream. RCTs have suggested benefits of prasugrel and ticagrelor over clopidogrel.

This is an important question for economic modelling as there is variation in current practice. The British Cardiovascular Intervention Society (BCIS)^{25,26} audit reported that in 2017 1.0% of people with UA/NSTEMI received prasugrel, 40.2% received ticagrelor and most of the remaining received clopidogrel. For those having PCI with STEMI, 7.2% received prasugrel, 47.5% received ticagrelor and the remaining will have received clopidogrel. Furthermore, there are considerable differences in the costs of these drugs, with ticagrelor being the most expensive option costing approximately £714 per year. Prasugrel costs approximately £100 per year and clopidogrel, costs approximately £22 per year.

There were five health economic studies identified and included in the review for this question, which all found that ticagrelor was cost-effective in comparison to clopidogrel and that prasugrel was cost-effective in comparison to clopidogrel. Some studies compared all three agents together and found ticagrelor to be the most cost effective. However, the committee considered there to still be uncertainty about the cost-effectiveness of these interventions as the treatment effects used in models did not include new clinical data identified in the clinical systematic review undertaken in the guideline, in particular head-to-head studies that compared prasugrel and ticagrelor.

As a result of this uncertainty, which DAPT combination to use in people with ACS undergoing PCI was identified as the highest priority for new economic analysis by the committee. This was because a recommendation for a particular agent would result in a significant change in clinical practice that could have a substantial resource impact for the NHS as drug costs vary substantially between agents and current practice is variable. It was agreed that new cost-effectiveness analysis could reduce the uncertainty by comparing all three agents together and incorporating the most up-to-date clinical effectiveness evidence.

2 Methods

2.1 Model overview

A cost-utility analysis was undertaken with a lifetime horizon. Quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) and costs from a current UK NHS and personal social services perspective were considered. Both costs and QALYs were discounted at a rate of 3.5% per annum in line with NICE methodological guidance.³⁴ An incremental analysis was undertaken.

2.1.1 Comparators

The comparators selected for the model were:

- 1. Clopidogrel 75mg once daily + aspirin 75-150mg once daily (300-600mg clopidogrel loading dose) for 12 months
- Ticagrelor 90mg twice daily + aspirin 75-150mg once daily (180mg ticagrelor loading dose) for 12 months
- 3. Prasugrel 5-10mg once daily + aspirin 75-150mg once daily (60mg prasugrel loading dose) for 12 months

The analysis did not include aspirin alone as this comparison was not included in the review protocol for this question in the guideline update (see Evidence report A for review protocol) because use of DAPT is well established in ACS. Audit data from 2017/18 showed that 97.5% of people who have had a myocardial infarction (MI) were discharged on clopidogrel, prasugrel or ticagrelor.³²

The committee discussed discontinuation with DAPT and agreed that in their experience most people will continue DAPT for the full year although noted that average treatment duration varied in trials. It was noted by the committee that some people experiencing a major bleed may have their DAPT treatment stopped but in many cases they might restart taking DAPT. Some people that have a cerebral haemorrhage may stop taking their DAPT indefinitely, however as this would affect a small number of people. Some people may stop for other reasons. Discontinuation was not modelled explicitly except for when people died in the first year; however, drug cost calculations took into account estimated average treatment duration as described in section 2.3.6.1.

People presenting with an acute coronary syndrome and that are going to have a PCI, usually receive dual-antiplatelet therapy before the procedure. For those receiving ticagrelor and clopidogrel, they can start the drug immediately. However, a complication is that prasugrel is only licensed for use during PCI. The vast majority of the STEMI population will receive PCI as their primary management strategy and will receive this early on. However, for UA/NSTEMI it will not be known whether or not a PCI is suitable until angiography has been performed and this may not happen for a few days. In the model, for those with UA/NSTEMI receiving prasugrel it was assumed for costing purposes that they receive no DAPT initially, and then receive prasugrel at the time of PCI. The annual MINAP 2015/16³³ report states that the median time to angiography for NSTEMI is 65 hours, therefore it was assumed for costing purposes that people received aspirin for 3 days and then began taking prasugrel at the time of PCI.

It is acknowledged that ticagrelor can be taken beyond 12 months, however, it is indicated for use irrespective of which initial DAPT was taken, therefore it is assumed that the use of ticagrelor beyond 12 months would be the same between DAPT options and was not incorporated in to the model.

It is also acknowledged that an existing NICE technology appraisal (TA335) recommends low dose rivaroxaban as an option in combination with aspirin plus clopidogrel after acute

management of acute coronary syndrome.³⁸ It is beyond the scope of the guideline update to make a recommendation about the use of rivaroxaban after ACS however, as rivaroxaban is only indicated for use with clopidogrel, a recommendation for prasugrel or ticagrelor may preclude rivaroxaban's use and so it is potentially relevant to take this into account in the analysis. The committee indicated that current usage is low therefore it was considered via a modification to the clopidogrel arm in a sensitivity analysis which is discussed in section 2.4.

2.1.2 Population

Two separate populations were analysed:

- People with STEMI undergoing PCI
- People with UA/NSTEMI undergoing PCI

Although treatment effects were being analysed together for the overall ACS population in the clinical review and meta-analyses, the committee agreed the populations should be modelled separately in the cost effectiveness analysis because they are likely to have different baseline risks. Even if relative treatment effects are considered the same between the populations, if baseline risks vary then absolute differences in numbers of clinical events will also vary and this may affect cost effectiveness.

The vast majority of STEMI patients will receive PCI. People with UA/NSTEMI are risk assessed and those at higher risk or with symptoms undergo angiography with a proportion of these going on to receive PCI where indicated. The economic analysis did not consider people with UA/NSTEMI that are medically managed. This is because prasugrel is not indicated in this population and one published UK economic analysis indicated that ticagrelor is cost-effective compared to clopidogrel in this population and additional economic analyses were not considered necessary by the committee.

For UA/NSTEMI it will not be known whether a PCI is suitable until angiography has been performed and this may not take place for a few days. The committee therefore discussed whether it was appropriate to model the UA/NSTEMI population who receive angiography rather than just the PCI population. It was agreed that this was not necessary because once angiography had been performed and the decision to not undertake PCI had been made people could then receive clopidogrel or ticagrelor. The use of a prasugrel strategy for people undergoing PCI does therefore not limit the treatment options for people not undergoing PCI. The committee also discussed whether use of a prasugrel strategy for people with UA/NSTEMI undergoing PCI would delay DAPT in people not undergoing PCI whilst waiting for angiography and if this would impact outcomes (and so should be captured in the modelling) however it was agreed that they did not think this was a significant issue and did not require incorporation into the model.

2.2 Approach to modelling

A two-part model was constructed which included a decision tree to model clinical events in the first year followed by a Markov model for long term extrapolation in order to calculate lifetime costs and QALYs for each comparator.

The initial 1 year decision tree reflects the DAPT treatment period where people receive aspirin plus either clopidogrel, prasugrel or ticagrelor. Estimates of real world UK baseline risks with aspirin plus clopidogrel were used to populate the model and differences in clinical events with prasugrel and ticagrelor were estimated by applying relative treatment effects (odds ratios) from the clinical effectiveness review and evidence syntheses. Costs and clinical events therefore vary by comparator. Details of the decision tree model structure are described in section 2.2.1.

Differential treatment effects were assumed to apply in the first year only. However, in order to fully capture the impact of the differences in clinical events in the first year it is necessary to model the rest of the lifetime of the population, which is standard practice in economic evaluation. For example, if mortality differs between comparators in the first year this will mean that a different number of people will be alive with each treatment at the end of 1 year. Due to this, even assuming no further difference in risk of clinical events between comparators, costs and QALYs will vary for the population beyond one year. A Markov model was used for this extrapolation period and estimated risks for the population in this did not vary by initial DAPT treatment. Details of the Markov model structure are described in section 2.2.2 below.

The model was run for each of the DAPT comparators, with people starting in the decision tree for one year and then entering the Markov model which was run for repeated cycles. The time spent alive in each of the health states was calculated. By attributing costs and quality of life weights (utilities) to the people in each health state total costs and QALYs were calculated for the populations. The Markov model was run for a lifetime (for 40 years, by which time the majority of the cohort had died) in order to calculate lifetime costs and QALYs. Comparing the results for each of the comparators allowed us to identify the most cost effective intervention. See section 2.2.3 for details of how uncertainty was taken into account.

Full details of all model inputs are described in section 2.3.

Summary of key model assumptions:

- Relative treatment effects based on evidence synthesised from any ACS population represent the relative treatment effects for people with STEMI and PCI and UA/NSTEMI and PCI (this is discussed in more detail in section 2.3.3)
- The probabilities of death, reinfarction and stroke after 1 year do not vary by DAPT treatment received in year 1
- People who did not experience an event in the decision tree (year 1) can only experience one event in the Markov model (either reinfarction or stroke); people who experience an event in the decision tree could not experience an event in the Markov model (this is discussed in more detail in section 2.2.2)

2.2.1 Model structure: first year treatment period decision tree

The initial 1 year decision tree reflects the DAPT treatment period where people could receive aspirin plus either clopidogrel, prasugrel or ticagrelor. Following the review of clinical evidence and committee discussion, it was agreed that the following outcomes needed to be captured in the 1 year model as they potentially vary between DAPT options:

- All-cause mortality
- Reinfarction
- Stroke
- Major bleed
- Minor bleed

There was some uncertainty in the committee about the inclusion of stroke as the treatment effects estimated in the clinical review had wide confidence intervals and were considered somewhat uncertain. However, previous models in this area have generally included stroke (including the NICE TAs for prasugrel and ticagrelor) and so it was agreed that it should be included.

The committee also discussed the importance of other treatment effects and agreed that a considerable amount of people taking ticagrelor may experience breathing difficulties (dyspnoea) as a side effect. This was demonstrated in the clinical review. It was discussed and the committee agreed that this was not a critical outcome as the numbers seen in real world practice are quite low and so did not need to be considered in the base case analysis.

It was modelled as part of a sensitivity analysis however, which is discussed further in section 2.4.

The first year decision tree was broken down into two time periods: 0 to 30 days and 31 days to 1 year as this was considered to make best use of the available clinical data, in particular incorporating new studies that directly compared prasugrel and ticagrelor. The clinical evidence review found outcome data at different time points including at 30 days and 1 year. Until the publication of ISAR-REACT 5 late in guideline development, all of the new studies comparing prasugrel and ticagrelor directly only had 30 day outcomes and the committee agreed that incorporating this new evidence was essential. A network meta-analysis (NMA) was undertaken to combine all 30 day evidence together into a simultaneous set of treatment effects and this was utilised in the model for the 0 to 30 day period. There was inconsistency between the direct and indirect estimates at 1 year and so NMA was considered unreliable and not undertaken. Instead three different treatment effect scenarios were used for the 1 year data in the model that incorporated different clinical data and explored the impact of the inconsistency on conclusions about cost effectiveness. More details about the relative treatment effect data used in the model and the inconsistency in the 1 year outcome data are given in section 2.3.3.

The decision tree included four potential health outcomes at each time point in the decision tree: alive with no further event, alive with reinfarction, alive with stroke and dead. Major and minor bleeding were incorporated as adverse events as the effects were considered to be short-term (except for haemorrhagic stroke which is captured in the stroke outcome). People alive at the end of the 1 year period entered the post-year one Markov model to extrapolate 1 year outcomes to a lifetime perspective. Figure 1 illustrates the structure of the decision tree and which health states people enter the Markov model. The rationale for where people enter the Markov model is discussed in the next section.

It was acknowledged that the major bleeding and stroke outcomes overlap as the stroke outcome included both ischemic and haemorrhagic strokes and a haemorrhagic stroke will also be counted as a major bleed. However, it was felt that capturing strokes explicitly was important as, while they were uncommon, they have a substantial and sustained impact on health and resource use. Major bleeding however is not a separate health state but is a short-term adverse effect and rates of haemorrhagic stroke are low so the committee agreed that the impact on results should not be large and capturing both strokes and major bleeds was the best approach for modelling purposes.

The model structure was the same for STEMI and UA/NSTEMI analyses.



Figure 1: Model structure: one year treatment period decision tree

Note: Probabilities of events are dependent on DAPT being received. People who are alive are also at risk of a short-term major or minor bleeding adverse event.

2.2.2 Model structure: post-one year extrapolation Markov model

In a Markov model a set of mutually exclusive health states are defined that describe what can happen to the population of interest over time. People in the model can only exist in one of these health states at a time. Possible transitions are defined between each of the health states and the probability of each transition occurring within a defined period of time (a cycle) is assigned to each possible transition.

The Markov model consisted of six health states. These included: no further event, reinfarction, post-reinfarction, stroke, post-stroke and dead. Those that were alive and had experienced no further events at the end of the decision tree entered the 'no further event' health state in the Markov model. Those that had experienced reinfarction (either once or twice) at the end of the decision tree entered the 'post-reinfarction' health state. Those that had experienced a stroke at the end of the decision tree entered the 'post-stroke' health state. Those that had experienced a stroke at the end of the decision tree entered the 'post-stroke' health state. For those that experienced both a stroke and reinfarction, it was discussed and agreed with the committee that they should enter the post-stroke health state, as this is the worse health state with substantially higher costs and there may be overlap in treatment received for having reinfarction and having a stroke. Also, those that experienced two strokes or two reinfarctions entered the same health state in the Markov model, which is a simplification for modelling purposes.

Figure 2 illustrates the Markov model structure and the possible transitions between health states. The Markov model used a 1 year cycle length. People in the no further event health state had the possibility of transitioning to reinfarction, stroke or dead. Reinfarction and stroke were tunnel health states, meaning that people only remain in that health state for one cycle, at which point they must transition to dead or the post-reinfarction/post-stroke health

states. The reason for including these tunnel health states is to account for the fact that in the first year after a major event, people will have higher costs, lower quality of life and a higher risk of mortality. Once someone is in the post-reinfarction or post-stroke health state, they cannot experience another event and so either remain in that state or move to the dead state (this includes those that entered the Markov model in the post-event health states). This is a simplification of reality but was considered reasonable for modelling purposes due to the lack of data available to model downstream further events. Also, this is a method employed by other cardiovascular models such as the ticagrelor NICE technology appraisal (TA236), a health technology assessment for clopidogrel and aspirin in NSTEMI²⁷ and a previous model looking at glycoprotein antagonists in NSTEMI in the UK.⁴⁵ This was taken into account when selecting model inputs where possible; for example, cost estimates for a health state that incorporated repeat events were used if available. Dead was an absorbing health state.



Figure 2: Model structure: post-one year extrapolation Markov model

Notes: 1 year cycles; model was run for 40 years at which point most people will be in the dead state; the state people enter model depends on events experienced in year 1 decision tree.

2.2.3 Uncertainty

The model was built probabilistically to take account of the uncertainty around input parameter point estimates. A probability distribution was defined for each model input parameter. When the model was run, a value for each input was randomly selected simultaneously from its respective probability distribution; mean costs and mean QALYs were calculated using these values. The model was run repeatedly – 5,000 times for the base case and each sensitivity analysis – and results were summarised in terms of mean costs and QALYs. The percentage of time each comparator was most cost-effective at a threshold of £20,000 per QALY gained was recorded.

When running the probabilistic analysis, multiple runs are required to take into account random variation in sampling. To ensure the number of model runs were sufficient in the probabilistic analysis it was checked for convergence in the incremental costs, incremental QALYs and net monetary benefit at a threshold of £20,000 per QALY gained for each

comparator. This was done by plotting the number of runs against the mean outcome at that point (see example in Figure 3) for the base-case analyses. Convergence was assessed visually and all had stabilised before 5000 runs.





The way in which distributions are defined reflects the nature of the data, so for example probabilities were given a beta distribution, which is bounded by 0 and 1, reflecting that a probability will not be outside this range. All of the variables that were probabilistic in the model and their distributional parameters are detailed in Table 1. Probability distributions in the analysis were parameterised using error estimates from data sources.

| Parameter | Type of distribution | Properties of distribution |
|--|----------------------|--|
| Baseline risks | Beta | Bounded between 0 and 1. As the sample size and the number of events were specified alpha and beta values were calculated as follows: Alpha = (number of people having event) Beta = (Number of people) – (number of people having event) |
| Odds ratios at 1 year Hazard ratios SMRs | Lognormal | The natural log of the mean was calculated as follows: Mean = ln(mean cost) – SE ² /2 Where the natural log of the standard error was calculated by: SE = [ln(upper 95% CI) – ln(lower 95% CI)]/(1.96×2) $\sqrt{\ln \frac{SE^2 + mean^2}{mean^2}}$ |
| Odds ratios (30 days) | Bespoke | The network meta-analysis used simulation methods, which yielded 60,000 individual estimates of each odds ratio. These estimates represent the posterior |

Table 1: Description of the type and properties of distributions used in the probabilistic sensitivity analysis

| Parameter | Type of distribution | Properties of distribution |
|--------------------|----------------------|--|
| | | distribution of the odds ratio. A sample of 5,000 preserving correlations was taken from the 60,000 estimates. |
| Utilities | Beta | Bounded between 0 and 1. Derived from mean of a domain or total quality of life score and its standard error, using the method of moments. Alpha and Beta values were calculated as follows: Alpha = mean ² ×[(1-mean)/SE ²]-mean Beta = Alpha×[(1-mean)/mean] |
| Utility decrements | Gamma | Bounded at 0, positively skewed. Derived from mean and its standard error. Alpha and Beta values were calculated as follows: Alpha = (mean/SE) ² Beta = SE ² /Mean |

The following variables were left deterministic (that is, they were not varied in the probabilistic analysis):

- The cost-effectiveness threshold (which was deemed to be fixed by NICE)
- Health state costs (based on analyses that use unit costs from UK national sources)
- Drug costs (based on NHS drug tariff which is fixed)
- Mortality probabilities for general population (based on UK national data)

In addition, various one way and scenario sensitivity analyses were undertaken to test the robustness of model assumptions. In these, one or more inputs were changed and the analysis rerun to evaluate the impact on results and whether conclusions on which intervention should be recommended would change. Details of the sensitivity analyses undertaken can be found in methods section 2.4.

2.3 Model inputs

2.3.1 Summary table of model inputs

Model inputs were based on clinical evidence identified in the systematic review undertaken for the guideline and supplemented by additional data sources as required. Model inputs were validated with clinical members of the guideline committee. A summary of the model inputs used in the base-case (primary) analysis is provided in Table 2 below. More details about sources, calculations and rationale for selection can be found in the sections that follow.

| Input | Data | Source |
|--------------|--|---------------------|
| Comparators | Clopidogrel & aspirinTicagrelor & aspirinPrasugrel & aspirin | |
| Populations | Adults with STEMI undergoing PCI Adults with UA/NSTEMI undergoing PCI | |
| Perspective | UK NHS and PSS | NICE reference case |
| Time horizon | Lifetime | NICE reference case |

Table 2: Summary of base-case model inputs

| Input | Data | Source | | | | | | |
|--|-------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Discount rate | Costs: 3.5% | NICE reference case | | | | | | |
| | Outcomes: 3.5% | | | | | | | |
| Baseline risks with clopidogrei 0 to 30 days | | | | | | | | |
| STEMI | | | | | | | | |
| All-cause mortality | 6.15% | Mortality tracked BCIS PCI audit data, Hulme 2019 ¹⁷ | | | | | | |
| Reinfarction | 2.91% | Krishnamurthy 2019 ²¹ | | | | | | |
| Stroke | 0.30% | UK audit of PCI data, Myint 2016 ³¹ | | | | | | |
| Major bleed | 0.94% | Calculated based on relationship between bleeds and 30 day and 1 year events from PLATO RCT (see section 2.3.2) | | | | | | |
| Minor bleed | 0.71% | Calculated based on relationship between bleeds and 30 day and 1 year events from PLATO RCT (see section 2.3.2) | | | | | | |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | | | |
| All-cause mortality | 1.79% | Mortality tracked BCIS PCI audit data, Hulme 2019 ¹⁷ | | | | | | |
| Reinfarction | 1.02% | Calculated based on 1 year rate from NICE CG94 ⁴⁰ using PLATO and Swedeheart rates (see section 2.3.2) | | | | | | |
| Stroke | 0.11% | UK audit of PCI data, Myint 2016 ³¹ | | | | | | |
| Major bleed | 0.65% | PLATO RCT, Lindholm 2014 ²⁴ | | | | | | |
| Minor bleed | 0.41% | Calculated based on relationship between bleeds and 30 day and 1 year events from PLATO RCT (see section 2.3.2) | | | | | | |
| Baseline risks with clopid | ogrel 31 days to 1 year | | | | | | | |
| STEMI | | | | | | | | |
| All-cause mortality | 3.80% | Mortality tracked BCIS PCI audit data, Hulme 2019 ¹⁷ | | | | | | |
| Reinfarction | 3.88% | Krishnamurthy 2019 ²¹ and recalculated based on 30 day events (see section 2.3.2) | | | | | | |
| Stroke | 1.01% | Calculated based on 30 day events from Myint 2016 ³¹ using Swedeheart audit data (see section 2.3.2) | | | | | | |
| Major bleed | 2.69% | Steg 2010 ⁵⁴ | | | | | | |
| Minor bleed | 2.03% | Calculated based on relationship between bleeds and 30 day and 1 year events (see section 2.3.2) | | | | | | |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | | | |
| All-cause mortality | 3.71% | Mortality tracked BCIS PCI audit data, Hulme 2019 ¹⁷ | | | | | | |
| Reinfarction | 3.26% | NICE CG94 ⁴⁰ and recalculated based on 30 day events (see section 2.3.2) | | | | | | |
| Stroke | 0.53% | Calculated based on 30 day events from Myint 2016 ³¹ using Swedeheart audit data (see section 2.3.2) | | | | | | |
| Major bleed | 1.77% | Lindholm 2014 ²⁴ | | | | | | |
| Minor bleed | 1.12% | Calculated based on relationship between bleeds and 30 day and 1 year events (see section 2.3.2) | | | | | | |

| Input | Data | Source | | | | | | |
|-------------------------------|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Relative treatment effects | versus clopidogrel at 30 da | ays (odds ratios; 95% Cl) | | | | | | |
| Ticagrelor | | | | | | | | |
| All cause- mortality | 0.85 (0.70 to 1.02) | Systematic review of RCTs undertaken as | | | | | | |
| Reinfarction | 0.68 (0.55 to 0.84) | part of guideline development (network | | | | | | |
| Stroke | 1.28 (0.86 to 1.83) | comparing any of clopidogrel, prasugrel | | | | | | |
| Major bleed | 1.00 (0.89 to 1.11) | and ticagrelor) – see Evidence report A | | | | | | |
| Minor bleed | 1.28 (0.88 to 1.81) | and NMA report | | | | | | |
| Prasugrel | | | | | | | | |
| All-cause mortality | 0.81 (0.63 to 1.02) | Systematic review of RCTs undertaken as | | | | | | |
| Reinfarction | 0.80 (0.65 to 0.98) | part of guideline development (network | | | | | | |
| Stroke | 0.84 (0.46 to 1.39) | comparing any of clopidogrel, prasugrel | | | | | | |
| Major bleed | 0.99 (0.61 to 1.52) | and ticagrelor)) – see Evidence report A | | | | | | |
| Minor bleed | 0.74 (0.51 to 1.04) | and NMA report | | | | | | |
| Relative treatment effects | at 1 year (odds ratios; 95% | 5 CI) | | | | | | |
| Ticagrelor versus clopidogr | el (used in scenarios 1 and 3 |) | | | | | | |
| All-cause mortality | 0.77 (0.68 to 0.88) | Systematic review of RCTs undertaken as | | | | | | |
| Reinfarction | 0.82 (0.73 to 0.92) | part of guideline development (pairwise | | | | | | |
| Stroke | 1 13 (0 89 to 1 44) | meta-analysis; 1 year outcomes) – see | | | | | | |
| Major bleed | 1 04 (0.95 to 1 14) | Evidence report A | | | | | | |
| Minor bleed | 1.37 (1.19 to 1.57) | | | | | | | |
| Prasuarel versus clopidoare | el (used in scenarios 1 and 2) | | | | | | | |
| All-cause mortality | 1 00 (0.83 to 1.21) | Systematic review of RCTs undertaken as | | | | | | |
| Reinfarction | 0.75 (0.66 to 0.84) | part of guideline development (pairwise | | | | | | |
| Stroke | 0.93 (0.67 to 1.30) | meta-analysis; 1 year outcomes) – see | | | | | | |
| Major bleeding | 1 43 (1 14 to 1 79) | Evidence report A | | | | | | |
| Minor bleeding | 2 07 (0 88 to 4 87) | | | | | | | |
| Ticagrelor versus prasugre | (used in scenarios 2 and 3) | | | | | | | |
| All-cause mortality | 1 24 (0 90 to 1 70) | Systematic review of RCTs undertaken as | | | | | | |
| Reinfarction | 1.63 (1.17 to 2.26) | part of guideline development (ISAR- | | | | | | |
| Stroke | 1 16 (0 62 to 2 14) | REACT 5 analysis; 1 year outcomes) – | | | | | | |
| Major bleed | 1.06 (0.78 to 1.44) | see Evidence report A | | | | | | |
| Minor bleed | Note: No data reported in ISAR-REACT 5 for minor bleed | | | | | | | |
| Transition probabilities in | post vear 1 Markov model | | | | | | | |
| Transition probabilities excl | udina death | | | | | | | |
| STEMI | | | | | | | | |
| Reinfarction | 4.30% | Calculated from baseline risk data | | | | | | |
| Stroke | 1.12% | between 31 days and 1 year for STEMI and readjusted to reflect 1 year probability | | | | | | |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | | | |
| Reinfarction | 3.62% | Calculated from baseline risk data | | | | | | |
| Stroke | 0.59% | between 31 days and 1 year for UA/NSTEMI and readjusted to reflect 1 year probability | | | | | | |
| Transition probabilities to d | ead state | | | | | | | |

| Input | Data | Source |
|------------------------------------|--|--|
| General population | Age and sex dependent | ONS life tables for England 2015-1744 |
| mortality | Age entering Markov model: • STEMI: • Male: 62 years • Female: 69 years • UA/NSTEMI: • Male: 64 years • Female: 69 years % male entering Markov model • STEMI: 75% • UA/NSTEMI: 72% | BCIS PCI audit data, Hulme 2019 ¹⁷ |
| No further event SMR | 2.00 (1.99 to 2.01) | Smolina 2012 ⁵³ |
| Reinfarction SMR | 4.50 (4.43 to 4.57) | Smolina 2012 ⁵³ |
| Post-reinfarction SMR | 3.00 (2.95 to 3.05) | Smolina 2012 ⁵³ |
| Stroke SMR | 4.73 (4.34 to 5.15) | Bronnum-Hansen 2001 ⁶ |
| Post-stroke SMR | 2.32 (2.17 to 2.49) | Bronnum-Hansen 2001 ⁶ |
| Costs | (| |
| Treatment costs (cost per | vear) | |
| Aspirin | £24 | Includes loading dose where applicable. |
| Clopidoarel | £22 | Unit costs from NHS Drug Tariff July |
| Prasugrel | £100 | 2020 ⁴¹ and dosing from British National |
| Ticagrelor | £714 | Formulary *, accessed 1* July 2020. |
| Decision tree costs (0 – 30 |) day event; 31 day to 1 yea | ar event) |
| No further event; no further event | £1,640 | See section 2.3.6.2 |
| No further event; reinfarction | £5,564 | See section 2.3.6.2 |
| No further event; stroke | £15,203 | See section 2.3.6.2 |
| No further event; death | £1,168 | See section 2.3.6.2 |
| Reinfarction; no further event | £5,104 | See section 2.3.6.2 |
| Reinfarction; reinfarction | £8,792 | See section 2.3.6.2 |
| Reinfarction; stroke | £18,431 | See section 2.3.6.2 |
| Reinfarction; death | £4,396 | See section 2.3.6.2 |
| Stroke; no further event | £17,323 | See section 2.3.6.2 |
| Stroke; reinfarction | £21,719 | See section 2.3.6.2 |
| Stroke; stroke | £21,014 | See section 2.3.6.2 |
| Stroke; death | £14,035 | See section 2.3.6.2 |
| Death; n/a | £0 | |
| Adverse event costs | | |
| Major bleed | £1,955 | NHS reference costs 2017/18 ¹² , weighted average of gastrointestinal bleeds with interventions |

| Input | Data | Source | | |
|--|--------------------------|---|--|--|
| Minor bleed | £176 | NHS reference costs 2017/18 ¹² , weighted average of emergency admission with investigation | | |
| Markov model costs | | | | |
| No further event | £943 | Danese 2016 ⁹ | | |
| Reinfarction | £5,104 | Danese 2016 ⁹ | | |
| Post-reinfarction | £1,415 | Danese 2016 ⁹ | | |
| Stroke | £18,522 | Xu 2018 SSNAPP project ⁶⁵ | | |
| Post-stroke | £6,576 | Xu 2018 SSNAPP project ⁶⁵ | | |
| Quality of life (utilities) | | | | |
| Health states | | | | |
| No further event | 0.842 | NICE TA236 ³⁹ PLATO health economic | | |
| Reinfarction | 0.779 | subgroup analysis | | |
| Post-reinfarction | 0.821 | | | |
| Non-fatal stroke | 0.703 | | | |
| Post-stroke | 0.703 | | | |
| Dead | 0 | By definition | | |
| Age-adjustment (general population utility by age) | Age and sex dependant | Calculated using formulae from Ara and Brazier 2010. ³ Applied multiplicatively with health state weights. | | |
| Adverse event decrement | s (and duration applied) | | | |
| Major bleed | 0.038 (45.38 days) | Amin 2016 ¹³ | | |
| Minor bleed | 0.026 (7.60 days) | | | |

Abbreviations: NMA = network meta-analysis; ONS = Office for National Statistics; PCI = percutaneous coronary intervention; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SMR = standardised mortality ratio.

2.3.2 Baseline risks in first year treatment period decision tree

The model was populated with baseline risks for those receiving clopidogrel and aspirin (e.g. the probability of death at 30 days etc). When running the model for those receiving ticagrelor and prasugrel a relative treatment effect obtained from the clinical review and evidence synthesis (compared to clopidogrel) was applied to this in order to estimate the difference in number of events with these alternative treatments. The relative treatment effects, and how they are used in the model, are discussed in section 2.3.3.

2.3.2.1 The available data and general issues

The data required for the baseline risks in the first year decision tree was the proportion of people who have died, and who are alive with reinfarction, stroke or no event at 30 days and at 1 year after STEMI and after UA/NSTEMI in people receiving clopidogrel and aspirin. The potential to undertake original analysis of real world patient level data using national audit data linked with mortality and HES data was discussed as this would allow exact calculation of the probabilities required for the model but this was not feasible within guideline development time constraints. Therefore, published analyses of real world risks utilising UK audit data were sought and presented to the committee for discussion of the best available data sources.

No data source was identified that reported data exactly as required however a number of separate UK real-world analyses provided information about mortality, stroke and reinfarction after STEMI and UA/NSTEMI and these were used to estimate the required probabilities for the decision tree. The data used in the model to inform probabilities for each outcome is

described in the subsequent sections in detail. Some general issues and the approach taken are described below first.

One issue was that the model aims to estimate the number of people alive at a particular time point with stroke or reinfarction but the available data analyses mostly looked at all events over the time period (reinfarction for STEMI and stroke for STEMI and UA/NSTEMI was based on all events and reinfarction for UA/NSTEMI was based on non-fatal events). Where this was the case this data has been used but it is acknowledged this may results in an overestimate of the number of people alive having had these events at 1 year and so also underestimate the number alive with no new event (note that the number of people alive will not be affected just whether or not they have an event). Given this, a sensitivity analysis was undertaken using lower probabilities for stroke and reinfarction (as described in section 2.4) to explore whether conclusions were sensitive to this.

Another issue was whether probabilities between 31 days and 1 year should vary depending on what happened between 0 and 30 days. While the committee agreed that in reality it may be the case that prior events will influence these probabilities, the real world UK data identified were for the population as a whole. The committee discussed whether to try and adjust the probabilities to try and account for this but preferred to use the same probability throughout given the available information and agreed that this was a reasonable simplification for modelling purposes given the overall number of people alive in the population will remain correct. Therefore in the model, the same probability of having an event (death, MI or stroke) between 31 days and 1 year was applied irrespective of whether someone experienced MI, stroke or no new event between 0 to 30 days.

Data relating to people with ACS receiving clopidogrel and aspirin were sought however audit data was mostly analysed for the overall cohort, rather than just those that received this dual antiplatelet option. The committee noted that there may be issues with using the most recent audit data for the baseline risks. Firstly, they stated that a high proportion of people will not be taking clopidogrel as the use of ticagrelor and prasugrel has increased in recent years. For those that are on clopidogrel it may be that these people have a higher bleeding risk (e.g. an older population) and therefore were given clopidogrel, which would not be a good representation of the average population.

Therefore, the committee felt that it may be useful to use slightly older audit data to account for this. It was highlighted that there was a balance between choosing a year where clopidogrel use was high but also ensuring that it was still relevant to current practice in terms of other processes, for example, radial access and drug-eluting stent usage. Therefore, BCIS reports were used to obtain the DAPT use for each year in order to help aid committee decisions regarding which data to use. The specific data used in the model and the rationales are described in the sections that follow by outcome.

| | 2010 | 2011 | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 |
|----------------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| STEMI | | | | | | | | |
| Prasugrel | 9.3% | 22.2% | 22.6% | 16.1% | 14.1% | 10.5% | 9.9% | 7.2% |
| Ticagrelor | n/a | n/a | 7.04% | 21% | 30.1% | 38.1% | 42.2% | 47.5% |
| Clopidogrel ^(a) | 90.7% | 77.8% | 70.4% | 62.9% | 55.8% | 51.4% | 47.9% | 45.3% |
| DES use | 54.4% | 59.5% | 68.4% | 75.8% | 81.9% | 86.3% | 89.1% | 91.0% |
| Radial access | 50.0% | 57.0% | 65.5% | 71.5% | 75.8% | 80.3% | 82.8% | 85.8% |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | | | |
| Prasugrel | 0.54% | 1.5% | 2.6% | 1.9% | 1.6% | 1.6% | 1.1% | 1.0% |
| Ticagrelor | n/a | n/a | 3.7% | 15.2% | 23.0% | 29.9% | 34.3% | 40.2% |
| Clopidogrel ^(a) | 99.5% | 98.5% | 93.7% | 82.9% | 75.4% | 68.5% | 64.6% | 58.8% |

Table 3: BCIS audit data²⁶

| | 2010 | 2011 | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 |
|---------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| DES use | 66.6% | 69.8% | 76.8% | 82.5% | 86.9% | 89.7% | 90.9% | 91.5% |
| Radial | 54% | 62% | 66.7% | 71.9% | 75.6% | 79.8% | 83% | 85.8% |
| access | | | | | | | | |

(a) Clopidogrel use was not always reported therefore it was assumed that everyone not receiving prasugrel or ticagrelor was receiving clopidogrel.

Calculating probabilities for 31 days to 1 year

To calculate probabilities for 31 days to 1 year, the appropriate numerator (r) and denominator (n) needed to be calculated from the data for this time period. That is the numerator needed to only include events that occurred between 31 days and 1 year and the denominator needed to only include those at risk at 31 days (i.e. those alive).

Probability of event 31 days to 1 year = <u>events 31 days to 1 year (r)</u> people at risk at 31 days (n)

Events 31 days to 1 year (r) = events at 1 year – events at 30 days

People at risk at 31 days (n) = total population – people who died 0 to 30 days

As the data analyses identified for each outcome (other than mortality) did not generally report the actual number of people who had died by 30 days this was estimated by multiplying the total population by the 0 to 30 day mortality probability used in the model.

Details of the calculations for each outcome are described in subsequent sections.

Incorporation of baseline risk into probabilistic analysis

Each baseline risk probability was incorporated into the probabilistic analysis using an independent beta distribution. These were parameterised using the relevant number of events (r) and number of people at risk (n).

While theoretically the four alternative outcomes at each timepoint would be incorporated using a Dirichlet distribution (used for multinomial data) this was not possible here as not all the probabilities came from the same source. However, checks were built into the model to ensure the overall probabilities generated were appropriate (not exceeding one or negative) and so this is not considered problematic.

In addition, it was noted that there may be covariance between probabilities in the model however data was not available to incorporate this and so independent distributions were used. This is a common approach in cost effectiveness modelling. It is noted that this may result in some additional uncertainty in the analysis results.

2.3.2.2 Mortality

A study by Hulme 2019¹⁷ reported crude and relative survival estimates at 30 days and 1 year for males and females following PCI for England and Wales in the years 2007 to 2014. This analysis was based on mortality tracked BCIS PCI audit data and STEMI and UA/NSTEMI were reported separately. Although the study did not report survival based on clopidogrel use, it was agreed to use a year where BCIS reported higher clopidogrel use (as seen in Table 3), and as a result the year 2011-12 was chosen as clopidogrel use was 77.8% for STEMI and 98.5% for UA/NSTEMI. The data on crude survival was used to obtain the 30 day and 1 year probability of death as demonstrated in Table 4. These were then combined to obtain the overall probabilities for males and females, based on a weighted average.

| | 30 days crude survival | 30 day mortality ^(a) | 1 year crude survival | 1 year mortality ^(a) |
|---------------------|---------------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------------|
| STEMI | | | | |
| Female | 0.914 | 1 - 0.914 = 8.6% | 0.865 | 1 - 0.865 = 13.5% |
| Male | 0.947 | 1 – 0.947 = 5.3% | 0.916 | 1 - 0.916 = 8.4% |
| All (male & female) | | 6.15% | | 9.71% |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | |
| Female | 0.977 | 1 – 0.977 = 2.3% | 0.937 | 1 - 0.937 = 6.3% |
| Male | 0.984 | 1 - 0.984 = 1.6% | 0.949 | 1 - 0.949 = 5.1% |
| All (male & female) | | 1.79% | | 5.43% |

Table 4: Hulme 2019 survival and mortality calculations

(a) The probability of mortality at 30 days and 1 year were calculated using the crude survival.

As described in more detail in Section 2.3.2.1 above, the model structure in the first year was split to model 0 to 30 days and 31 days to 1 year, calculation of the probabilities for 31 days to 1 year needed to account for people who had died at 30 days in the numerator and denominator. Table 5 shows the calculations and resulting model inputs for mortality for STEMI and UA/NSTEMI.

| | - | • | | | |
|--------------|--------------------|-------------|----------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|
| Ν | R | Probability | Ν | R | Probability |
| STEMI | | | | | |
| 30 days | | | 1 year | | |
| 40,724 | 2,504 | 6.15% | 40,724 | 3,955 | 9.7% |
| Recalculate | d for model inputs | : | | | |
| 0 to 30 days | 3 | | 31 days to 1 year | | |
| 40,724 | 2504 | 6.15% | 40,724 – 2,504 = 38,220 | 3,955 – 2,504 = 1,451 | 1,451/38,220 = 3.80% |
| UA/NSTEM | Ι | | | | |
| 30 days | | | 1 year | | |
| 54,518 | 978 | 1.79% | 54,518 | 2,962 | 5.43% |
| Recalculate | d for model inputs | : | | | |
| 0 to 30 days | 3 | | 31 days to 1 year | | |
| 54,518 | 978 | 1.79% | 54,518 - 2,962 = 53,540 | 2,962 – 978 = 1,984 | 1,984/53,540 = 3.71% |

Table 5: Data inputs for mortality baseline risk in STEMI and UA/NSTEMI

2.3.2.3 Reinfarction

An analysis of reinfarction using national STEMI data was not identified. Krishnamurthy 2019 however reported an analysis of real world data in Leeds comparing the differences in outcomes of people taking clopidogrel, ticagrelor and prasugrel at 30 days and 1 year.²¹ This was a study conducted at Leeds General Infirmary and assessed all adults with STEMI that underwent primary PCI between 1 January 2009 and 31 December 2011. The committee agreed this was a reasonable source of baseline risk estimates given national data wasn't available. Table 6 shows the number of people and probability of reinfarction taken from the study. As discussed in more detail above, this probability was for all reinfarctions, and therefore would overestimate the number of people alive with a reinfarction at 1 year. This was addressed in a sensitivity analysis to see if this impacted conclusions.

As described in more detail in Section 2.3.2.1 above, calculation of the probability for 31 days to 1 year for the model needed to account for events that occurred 0 to 30 days in the numerator and people who had died by 30 days in the denominator. Table 7 shows how these were adjusted to obtain the probabilities for 0 to 30 days and 31 days to 1 year.

Table 6: Reinfarction for STEMI population from Krishnamurthy 2019

| n | r at 30 days | Probability of reinfarction at 30 days | r at 1 year | Probability of reinfarction at 1 year |
|-------|--------------|--|-------------|---------------------------------------|
| 1,648 | 48 | 48/1,648 = 2.91% | 108 | 108/1,648 = 6.55% |

Abbreviations: n = number of people in the study; r = number of events

Table 7: Data inputs for reinfarction baseline risk in STEMI

| Ν | R | Probability | Ν | R | Probability |
|--------------|--------------------|-------------|-----------------------------------|---------------|--------------------|
| 30 days | | | 1 year | | |
| 1648 | 48 | 2.91% | 1648 | 108 | 6.55% |
| Recalculate | d for model inputs | | | | |
| 0 to 30 days | ; | | 31 days to 1 year | | |
| 1648 | 48 | 2.91% | 1648 – (1648*6.15%ª) = 1547 | 108 - 48 = 60 | 60/1547 = 3.88% |

(a) This is the probability of death at 30 days, taken from Hulme 2019¹⁷

For the UA/NSTEMI population undergoing PCI, the best available source identified was an analysis of MINAP data that was conducted for the previous UA/NSTEMI NICE Guideline CG94.⁴⁰ This analysis reported reinfarction at 1 year and reported it separately by type of management, therefore it was available for those who underwent PCI. This analysis was conducted for people with UA/NSTEMI in England from 2005 to 2007. It was discussed that this was guite an old analysis and that treatment may have improved since then, for example, the guideline recommended the use of early angiography and PCI if indicated, meaning that more people with UA/NSTEMI have undergone PCI since then. Only 15% of the people analysed in this dataset underwent PCI. However, one of the positives of using this data was that it was specific to PCI and also the use of ticagrelor and prasugrel had not started, meaning everyone in the analysis would have received clopidogrel. As a result, the committee agreed this was the best available source of data available to estimate baseline risk. Also, the probabilities were for non-fatal events, therefore the correct number of people alive with a reinfarction at one year was available. As a result these were not adjusted in a sensitivity analysis. Table 8 shows the events and probabilities. The committee considered using more recent data from the Swedish national audit Swedeheart as this had published an analysis of UA/NSTEMI outcomes in Sweden including reinfarction⁵⁶. However, UA/NSTEMI overall was analysed and only 47.3% had PCI so the committee agreed the MINAP analysis was preferable.

Table 8: CG94 probability of reinfarction

| n | r at 1 year | Probability of reinfarction at 1 year |
|-----------|-------------|---------------------------------------|
| 2,392 | 101 | 101/2392 = 4.22% |
| ALL STOCK | | |

Abbreviations: n = number of people in the study; r = number of events

As the MINAP analysis did not report reinfarction at 30 days, this was estimated using the 1 year data combined with information about the proportion of 1 year events that happen between 0 and 30 days. The committee agreed the best source of information about this relationship identified was the Swedeheart audit described above.⁵⁶ However, as there was some uncertainty due to this analysis not only including people receiving PCI, the committee also wanted to know the relationship between 30 day and 1 year events in the clopidogrel arm of the PLATO RCT⁵⁸, as this was the trial which was considered closest to UK practice, as it was the only trial to recruit in the UK. This was only available for the overall ACS

population and was not specific to UA/NSTEMI. Table 9 shows the probability of reinfarction at 30 days and one year from Swedeheart and PLATO, and the resulting proportions of 1 year events that occurred by 30 days.

| - | | | | |
|---|---------------------|-----------------------------|--|--|
| | n | Probability of reinfarction | | |
| Swedeheart 2011-2012 | | | | |
| 30 day | 24,962 | 2.0% | | |
| 1 year | 24,962 | 9.9% | | |
| Proportion of events that occurred by 30 days | | 2.0%/9.9% = 20.2% | | |
| PLATO | | | | |
| 30 day | 9186 ^(a) | 1.8% | | |
| 1 year | 9291 | 6.4% | | |
| Proportion of events that occurred by 30 days | | 1.8%/6.4% = 28.1% | | |
| Calculated 30 day probability of reinfarction | | | | |
| Average proportion of 30 days to 1 year | | (20.2+28.1)/2 = 24.2% | | |
| Calculated 30 day probability of r | einfarction | 24.2% * 4.22% = 1.02% | | |

| Table 9: | Relationship | between 30 da | ay and 1 | year events | for reinfarction |
|----------|--------------|---------------|----------|-------------|------------------|
|----------|--------------|---------------|----------|-------------|------------------|

(a) Note: the authors were contacted for 30 day outcomes and the number of participants was slightly different to those reported in the published paper

The committee decided to average the percentage obtained from the Swedeheart and PLATO analysis in order to calculate the probability of reinfarction at 30 days as these estimates were similar. Again, adjustments were made in order to obtain the correct number of events between 31 days and 1 year (r) and the total number of people at risk at 31 days (n) in order to calculate the probability of reinfarction 31 days to 1 year. Table 10 shows how the baseline risk was adjusted for reinfarction in UA/NSTEMI.

Table 10: Data inputs for reinfarction baseline risk in UA/NSTEMI

| Ν | R | Probability | Ν | R | Probability |
|--------------|--------------------|-------------|--------------------------------------|---------------|---------------------|
| 30 days | | | 1 year | | |
| 2,392 | 24 | 1.02% | 2,392 | 101 | 4.22% |
| Recalculate | d for model inputs | : | | | |
| 0 to 30 days | ; | | 31 days to 1 year | | |
| 2,392 | 24 | 1.02% | 2,392 – (2,392*1.79%ª) = 2,349 | 101 – 24 = 77 | 77/2,349 = 3.26% |

(a) This is the probability of death at 30 days, taken from Hulme 2019¹⁷

2.3.2.4 Stroke

Data on 30 day probability of stroke was taken from Myint 2016³¹, which looked at outcomes of stroke following PCI based on BCIS audit data. As described in more detail in Section 2.3.2.1 above, fatal and non-fatal events were included in this data, and therefore will somewhat overestimate the number of people alive with a stroke at 1 year. This was addressed in a sensitivity analysis to see if this impacted conclusions.

| n | r (ischaemic stroke) | r (haemorrhagic stroke) | r (all stroke) | Probability of stroke at 30 days |
|-----------|-------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------|----------------------------------|
| STEMI | | | | |
| 102,493 | 256 | 48 | 304 | 304/102,493 = 0.30% |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | |
| 205,962 | 181 | 41 | 222 | 222/205,962 = 0.11% |

Table 11: Myint 2016³¹ stroke outcomes at 30 days

As there was no real world data for 1 year outcomes of stroke, data from Swedeheart and PLATO was used to calculate the relationship between 30 day and 1 year events, as seen in Table 12.

Table 12: Relationship between 30 day and 1 year events for stroke

| | n | Probability of stroke | | |
|--|---------------------|-----------------------|--|--|
| Swedeheart STEMI 2011-2012 | | | | |
| 30 day | 117,546 | 0.5% | | |
| 1 year | 117,546 | 2.1% | | |
| Percentage increase 1 year relative | to 30 days | 2.1%/0.5% = 420% | | |
| Swedeheart UA/NSTEMI 2011-2012 | 2 | | | |
| 30 day | 24,962 | 0.5% | | |
| 1 year 24,962 | | 2.9% | | |
| Percentage increase 1 year relative | to 30 days | 2.9%/0.5% = 580% | | |
| PLATO (overall ACS) | | | | |
| 30 day | 9186 ^(a) | 0.5% | | |
| 1 year | 9291 | 1.1% | | |
| Percentage increase 1 year relative to 30 days | | 1.1%/0.5% = 224% | | |
| Calculated 1 year probability for stroke | | | | |
| Calculated 1 year probability of strok | ke for STEMI | 420% * 0.30% = 1.25% | | |
| Calculated 1 year probability of strok | e for UA/NSTEMI | 580% * 0.11% = 0.63% | | |

(a) Note: the authors were contacted for 30 day outcomes and the number of participants was slightly different to those reported in the published paper

The estimates obtained from Swedeheart and PLATO were quite different, therefore the committee agreed to use the Swedeheart estimates for both STEMI and UA/NSTEMI in the base case analysis as it is based on large registry data. However due to the differences between the two sources, it was agreed to conduct a sensitivity analysis using the PLATO estimate to assess if this impacted conclusions. The results of this calculation are demonstrated in Table 12. Adjustments were made in order to have the correct number of events between 31 days and 1 year (r) and the total number of people at risk at 31 days (n), in order to calculate the probability of stroke between 31 days and 1 year. Table 13 shows the calculations to obtain these probabilities.

Table 13: Data inputs for stroke baseline risk in STEMI and UA/NSTEMI

| Ν | R | Probability | Ν | R | Probability |
|---------|-----|-------------|---------|-------|-------------|
| STEMI | | | | | |
| 30 days | | | 1 year | | |
| 102,493 | 304 | 0.30% | 102,493 | 1,277 | 1.25% |

| Ν | R | Probability | Ν | R | Probability |
|--------------------------------|--------------------|-------------------|---|------------------------|--------------------------|
| Recalculated for model inputs: | | | | | |
| 0 to 30 days | ; | | 31 days to 1 year | | |
| 102,493 | 304 | 0.30% | 102,493 – (102493*6.15% ^a) = 96,190 | 1,277 – 304 = 973 | 973/102,493 = 1.01% |
| UA/NSTEM | I | | | | |
| 30 days | | | 1 year | | |
| 205,962 | 222 | 0.11% | 205,962 | 1,288 | 0.63% |
| Recalculate | d for model inputs | 5 | | | |
| 0 to 30 days | | 31 days to 1 year | | | |
| 205,962 | 222 | 0.11% | 205,962 – (205,962*1.79% ^a) = 202,266 | 1,288 – 222 = 1,066 | 1,066/202,266 = 0.53% |

(a) This is the probability of death at 30 days, taken from Hulme 2019¹⁷

2.3.2.5 Major and minor bleeding

Suitable real world data about major and minor bleeding for the specific populations in the model were not identified. As a result, the committee agreed that estimates from the PLATO RCT should be used. This was because the committee indicated that this trial was closest to UK practice.

As haemorrhagic stroke would be classified as a major bleed but also be captured in the stroke health state, the major bleeding rate should ideally exclude haemorrhagic stroke to account for double counting. However, the major bleeding rate was not reported without haemorrhagic stroke. As major bleeding was incorporated as a short-term adverse event it was deemed appropriate to assume that there was no overlap for the purposes of the model.

Overall major and minor bleeding rates looked very high in the PLATO RCT, and this was thought to be because their definition of bleeding included CABG related bleeding. They also reported other bleeding outcomes according to different definitions and it was decided by the committee to use the definition which excluded CABG bleeding. However, these were not well reported. Table 14 shows the data that was available on non-CABG major and minor bleeding.

Table 14: Data available from published sources for non-CABG related bleeding from PLATO

| | Major bleed | Minor bleed |
|-----------|-------------|----------------------|
| STEMI | | |
| 30 day | NR | NR |
| 1 year | 3.46% | 2.61% ^(a) |
| UA/NSTEMI | | |
| 30 day | 0.65% | NR |
| 1 year | 2.38% | NR |

Abbreviations: NR = not reported

(a) This was calculated from published data, using the total number of non-CABG major and minor bleeds and subtracting the number of major bleeds.

As seen above, there was no data available on minor bleeds for UA/NSTEMI and there was no data on major bleeds at 30 days and minor bleeds for STEMI. As a result, calculations were undertaken to estimate the probabilities.

To estimate the number of major bleeds at 30 days for STEMI, the relationship between 30 day and 1 year events for UA/NSTEMI was applied. For UA/NSTEMI 27% of 1 year events occurred in 30 days. Using this combined with the 1 year STEMI major bleeding rate resulted in an estimated probability of major bleed at 30 days of 0.94% for STEMI. The relationship of 30 day and 1 year events from UA/NSTEMI was used again to obtain the probability of minor bleeds at 30 days, which was 0.71%.

In order to calculate minor bleeds for UA/NSTEMI, the relationship between major and minor bleeds was estimated from a different outcome for bleeding, based on the TIMI criteria. This was deemed appropriate as the probabilities were similar for bleeding events where they reported the same outcome (e.g. major bleeds). Table 15 shows how this was calculated.

| Outcome | Probability | | | |
|---|---|--|--|--|
| Major bleed at 1 year (TIMI) | 2.79% | | | |
| Major and minor bleeds at 1 year (TIMI) | 4.56% | | | |
| Minor bleeds at 1 year (estimated) | 1.77% | | | |
| % minor bleeds related to major bleeds | 63% | | | |
| Minor bleed 30 day (estimated) | Probability of major bleed at 30 days*63% = 0.41% | | | |
| Minor bleed 1 year (estimated) | Probability of major bleed at 1 year*63% = 1.51% | | | |

Table 15: Calculations for UA/NSTEMI minor bleed

It was deemed appropriate to use the major bleeding data when estimating rates for minor bleeding because the relationship between minor bleeding at 30 days and 1 year is likely to be similar for major bleeding at 30 days to 1 year. Table 16 shows the probabilities after calculations.

| able ferr resublities of major and miller breeding | | | | |
|--|-------------|-------------|--|--|
| | Major bleed | Minor bleed | | |
| STEMI | | | | |
| 30 day | 0.94% | 0.71% | | |
| 1 year | 3.46% | 2.61% | | |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | |
| 30 day | 0.65% | 0.41% | | |
| 1 year | 2.38% | 1.51% | | |

Table 16: Probabilities of major and minor bleeding

Note: Values in italics indicate that they are calculated estimates.

As with the previous baseline risks, adjustments were made to obtain the correct number of events between 31 days and 1 year (r) and the total number of people at risk at 31 days (n) in order to calculate the correct probabilities of major or minor bleeding between 31 days and 1 year. These calculations are shown in Table 17 for major bleeding and Table 18 for minor bleeding.

Table 17: Data inputs for major bleeding baseline risk in STEMI and UA/NSTEMI

| Ν | R | Probability | Ν | R | Probability |
|--------------|--------------------|-------------|-------------------|-----|-------------|
| STEMI | | | | | |
| 30 days | | | 1 year | | |
| 3,752 | 35 | 0.94% | 3,752 | 130 | 3.46% |
| Recalculated | d for model inputs | : | | | |
| 0 to 30 days | ; | | 31 days to 1 year | | |

| Ν | R | Probability | Ν | R | Probability |
|--------------------------------|----|-------------|--------------------------------------|---------------|---------------------|
| 3,752 | 35 | 0.94% | 3,752 – (3,752*6.15%ª) = 3,521 | 130 - 35 = 95 | 95/3,521 = 2.69% |
| UA/NSTEM | 1 | | | | |
| 30 days | | | 1 year | | |
| 2,617 | 17 | 0.65% | 2,617 | 62 | 2.38% |
| Recalculated for model inputs: | | | | | |
| 0 to 30 days | | | 31 days to 1 year | | |
| 2,617 | 17 | 0.65% | 2,617 – (2,617*1.79%ª) = 2.570 | 62 - 17 = 45 | 45/2,570 = 1.77% |

(a) This is the probability of death at 30 days, taken from Hulme 2019¹⁷

Table 18: Data inputs for minor bleeding baseline risk in STEMI and UA/NSTEMI

| Ν | R | Probability | Ν | R | Probability |
|--------------|--------------------|-------------|---|--------------|---------------------|
| STEMI | | | | | |
| 30 days | | | 1 year | | |
| 3,752 | 27 | 0.71% | 3,752 | 98 | 2.61% |
| Recalculate | d for model inputs | 5: | | | |
| 0 to 30 days | ; | | 31 days to 1 year | | |
| 3,752 | 27 | 0.71% | 3,752 – (3,752*6.15%ª) = 3,521 | 98 – 27 = 71 | 71/3,521 = 2.03% |
| UA/NSTEM | I | | | | |
| 30 days | | | 1 year | | |
| 2,617 | 11 | 0.41% | 2,617 | 40 | 1.51% |
| Recalculate | d for model inputs | 5: | | | |
| 0 to 30 days | | | 31 days to 1 year | | |
| 2,617 | 11 | 0.41% | 2,617 – (2,617*1.79% ^a) = 2,570 | 40 - 11 = 29 | 29/2,617 = 1.12% |

(a) This is the probability of death at 30 days, taken from Hulme 2019¹⁷

2.3.3 Relative treatment effects in first year treatment period decision tree

Relative treatment effects for ticagrelor and prasugrel compared to clopidogrel were based on the systematic review of clinical evidence for clopidogrel, ticagrelor and prasugrel (in combination with aspirin) which was undertaken as part of guideline development. This is described in full along with the committee discussion of the clinical evidence in Evidence report A.

Note that the committee agreed that the best estimates of treatment effect to use for decision making in the guideline and so also in the model were from evidence syntheses that combined all ACS data together irrespective of ACS subtype (STEMI or UA/NSTEMI) or management approach (revascularisation or not). This was on the basis that the underlying mechanism is the same for all types of ACS and so it is reasonable to assume relative treatment effects may be similar and this maximises the evidence that contributes to the estimates of treatment effect. The committee discussed this issue in detail because there are also rational bases why relative treatment effects may vary between these groups. For example, STEMI is a medical emergency, requiring immediate treatment, so with well-established differential onsets of action of clopidogrel, prasugrel and ticagrelor, it is conceivable that this may impact their relative clinical effectiveness in STEMI patients. To

address this issue and ensure evidence suggesting any potential differential effects was not omitted, the committee reviewed the evidence for all ACS and also stratified by condition (i.e. STEMI or UA/NSTEMI) and management approach (i.e. with or without revascularisation) in pairwise meta-analyses. Following consideration of all the pairwise meta-analyses the committee concluded that it was reasonable to assume that relative treatment effects were consistent and that combined ACS population syntheses provided the best estimate of treatment effects for decision making purposes. Heterogeneity was not identified in the pairwise meta-analyses which suggests that the study populations did not differ in factors that interacted with the relative treatment effects. Following this an NMA was conducted for key 30-day outcomes using the overall ACS population to combine the available data for ticagrelor versus clopidogrel, prasugrel versus clopidogrel and ticagrelor versus prasugrel into a single set of consistent treatment effects using all available data to facilitate interpretation of the evidence and undertaking cost effectiveness analysis. Following publication of the ISAR-REACT 5 trial late in guideline development, NMA was also considered for 1 year outcomes but was not undertaken due to inconsistency in the network. This is discussed in more detail in the sections below.

In the model, relative treatment effects for prasugrel and ticagrelor compared to clopidogrel were applied to the baseline risks obtained for the clopidogrel arm in order to calculate revised risks of different clinical events with prasugrel and ticagrelor. As described in the previous section, baseline risks were specific to the population being evaluated in the model that is split by STEMI and UA/NSTEMI and for people receiving PCI. This means that while the relative treatment effects were not split by subgroup, because the baseline risks differed this resulted in different absolute effects. An example of how this works is demonstrated in Table 19.

Table 19: Example of absolute effect differences

| | 30 day probability of reinfarctio n with clopidogre I ^(a) | Number of people with reinfarction with clopidogrel per 1000 | Odds ratio for ticagrelo r | 30 day probabilit y with ticagrelor | Number of people with reinfarctio n with ticagrelor per 1000 | Difference in number of people with reinfarctio n per 1000 |
|-----------|--|---|-------------------------------------|--|--|---|
| STEMI | 2.91% | 29 | 0.81 | 2.03% | 20 | 9 |
| UA/NSTEMI | 1.02% | 10 | | 0.71% | 7 | 3 |

(a) This is the baseline risk of reinfarction with clopidogrel

The odds ratios were applied to the baseline probabilities to obtain the probability of events occurring in the prasugrel and ticagrelor arms using the following formula:

probability in comparator
$$arm = \frac{\exp(\ln(a) + \ln(b))}{1 + \exp(\ln(a) + \ln(b))}$$

- EXP = exponential
- a = odds of baseline probability
- b = odds ratio

The committee discussed how to use the available relative treatment effects in the model. The committee agreed it was important to incorporate the 30-day outcome data because a considerable amount of the evidence comparing ticagrelor and prasugrel directly (all of it until ISAR-REACT 5 published late in guideline development) only had 30-day outcome data (ticagrelor vs prasugrel 30-day outcomes = 6 studies [PRAGUE18³⁰, RAPID II⁴⁷, RAPID II⁴⁶, Alexopoulous 2012², Bonello 2015⁴ and Laine 2014²²], total n = 1698; ticagrelor vs prasugrel 1-year outcomes = 1 study [ISAR-REACT 5⁵²] total n = 4018). Ideally, 31-day to 1-year relative treatment effects would have been calculated for all comparisons in the model by removing events occurring up to 30 days from 1-year outcome data. However, this was

mostly not possible as 30 day outcomes were not available for the studies and/or populations with 1 year outcomes. Given this, consideration was given to how best to use the available clinical evidence in the model. One option considered was to apply the 30-day relative treatment effects 0-30 days in the model and then apply the 1 year relative treatment effects to the 31 days to 1 year baseline risks in the model, in the absence of 31 day to 1 year relative treatment effects. This approach was initially considered the best way to take account of the full body of evidence that directly compared ticagrelor and prasugrel (agreed before the publication of ISAR-REACT 5) although it did mean that the events generated by the model would not necessarily be consistent with the studies that did have 1 year outcomes. However, it was agreed that a more conservative approach was to ensure the model generated relative event numbers consistent with the 1 year relative treatment effects being used in that scenario. While this puts less weight on the studies with only 30 day outcomes, it reflects the key large studies in this area (when all scenarios of the analysis are considered) including one that directly compared ticagrelor and prasugrel (ISAR-REACT 5). The 30-day relative-treatment data was still incorporated and impacts the timing of events in the first year. How relative treatment effects are applied in the model is described below.

The model calculates 30 day to 1 year probabilities in the following way. Events at 30 days with prasugrel and ticagrelor are calculated by applying the 30 day odds ratio to the 0 to 30 day baseline risk with clopidogrel. Total events over the year are calculated with prasugrel and ticagrelor by applying the 1 year odds ratio to the 0 to 1 year baseline risk with clopidogrel. Events occurring between 30 days and 1 year are calculated by subtracting the 30 day events from the 1 year events. What this means is that the total events over the year in the model is determined by the baseline risk with clopidogrel over the year and the 1 year treatment effect data. However, the timing of events is affected by the 30 day baseline risk with clopidogrel and the 30 day relative treatment effects with prasugrel and ticagrelor. This means a reduction in events at 30 days still will have an impact on QALYs, even if by 1 year there is no treatment difference, due to a delay in the event occurring. In the probabilistic analysis 30 day and 1 year odds ratios were incorporated as independent variables. In reality they may be correlated and so this may increase uncertainty in the analysis. However, it is also noted that the evidence for 30 day and 1 year outcomes does not always come from the same studies and this uncertainty cannot be captured quantitatively. Given this, in some iterations of the probabilistic analysis it may be possible for the combinations of baseline risks and ORs ratios to result in a greater number of event occurring at 30 days than over the year. The model was therefore programmed so that 30 day events were constrained to be no more than the 1 year events to avoid negative probabilities at 30 days to 1 year.

30 days

The relative treatment effects applied in the model for the 0 to 30 day period are shown in Table 20. These were from a network meta-analysis that combined RCT evidence for ticagrelor versus clopidogrel (7 RCTs: PLATO⁵⁹, DISPERSE-2⁷, Dehghani 2017¹¹, Wang 2016b⁶⁰, Wang 2019⁶¹, Han 2019¹⁶ and Jing 2016¹⁸), prasugrel versus clopidogrel (4 RCTs: TRITON-TIMI 38²⁹, ETAMI⁶⁷, TRILOGY⁴⁹ and Dasbiswas 2013¹⁰) and ticagrelor versus prasugrel (6 RCTs: PRAGUE18³⁰, RAPID I⁴⁷, RAPID II⁴⁶, Alexopoulous 2012², Bonello 2015⁴ and Laine 2014²²). Full methods for the NMA are described in the separate NMA report. An NMA combines all available evidence into a single set of consistent treatment effects.

| Outcomes | Intervention | Odds ratio (95% CI) |
|---------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------|
| All-cause mortality | Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel | 0.85 (0.70 to 1.02) |
| | Prasugrel versus clopidogrel | 0.81 (0.63 to 1.02) |
| | Ticagrelor versus prasugrel | 1.04 (0.79 to 1.39) |
| Reinfarction | Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel | 0.68 (0.55 to 0.84) |

Table 20: Model inputs: relative treatment effects applied 0 to 30 days (from NMA)

| Outcomes | Intervention | Odds ratio (95% CI) |
|-------------|-------------------------------|---------------------|
| | Prasugrel versus clopidogrel | 0.80 (0.65 to 0.98) |
| | Ticagrelor versus prasugrel | 0.84 (0.64 to 1.14) |
| Stroke | Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel | 1.28 (0.86 to 1.83) |
| | Prasugrel versus clopidogrel | 0.84 (0.46 to 1.39) |
| | Ticagrelor versus prasugrel | 1.47 (0.82 to 2.98) |
| Major bleed | Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel | 1.00 (0.89 to 1.11) |
| | Prasugrel versus clopidogrel | 0.99 (0.61 to 1.52) |
| | Ticagrelor versus prasugrel | 1.00 (0.65 to 1.64) |
| Minor bleed | Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel | 1.28 (0.88 to 1.81) |
| | Prasugrel versus clopidogrel | 0.74 (0.51 to 1.04) |
| | Ticagrelor versus prasugrel | 1.69 (1.16 to 2.59) |

Abbreviations: 95% CI = 95% confidence interval; NMA = network meta-analysis.

Source: Systematic review and NMA undertaken as part of guideline development. See Evidence report A and the NMA report for full methods. RCTs incorporated: ticagrelor versus clopidogrel, 7 RCTs (unpublished data obtained from authors for PLATO⁵⁹, DISPERSE-2⁷, Dehghani 2017¹¹, Wang 2016b⁶⁰, Wang 2019⁶¹, Han 2019¹⁶ and Jing 2016¹⁸); prasugrel versus clopidogrel, 4 RCTs (STEMI subgroup from TRITON-TIMI 38²⁹, ETAMI⁶⁷, TRILOGY⁴⁹ and Dasbiswas 2013¹⁰); ticagrelor versus prasugrel, 6 RCTs (PRAGUE18³⁰, RAPID I⁴⁷, RAPID II⁴⁶, Alexopoulous 2012², Bonello 2015⁴ and Laine 2014²². Note that not all studies report all outcomes of interest.

The network meta-analysis used simulation methods, which yielded 60,000 individual estimates of each odds ratio. These estimates represent the posterior distribution of the odds ratio. In the probabilistic economic analysis, for each iteration, we sampled at random from these 60,000 estimates. Each time we took both odds ratios (prasugrel vs clopidogrel and ticagrelor vs clopidogrel) from the same NMA iteration, to ensure that the correlation between the different treatment effects was preserved.

1 year

The 1 year relative treatment effects applied in the model were obtained from the pairwise meta-analyses described in Evidence report A. The publication of ISAR-REACT 5 resulted in a data loop at 1 year for mortality, reinfarction, stroke and major bleeding (see Figure 4). An NMA for 1 year outcomes was explored, but the results were deemed unreliable due to inconsistency between direct and indirect treatment effects estimates. For example, the ticagrelor vs prasugrel estimate implied by the ticagrelor vs clopidogrel and prasugrel vs clopidogrel studies was statistically different to that obtained from the ticagrelor vs prasugrel study (ISAR-REACT 5). The inconsistency was identified through conducting the Bucher test for inconsistency, which demonstrated that an NMA was not appropriate. Also, the studies and outcome data were all checked for accuracy. See the NMA report for results from the Bucher test. This meant that it was not possible to combine all available evidence into a single set of consistent treatment effects. This was discussed with the committee and it was agreed that in order to take into account all available 1 year evidence, alternative scenarios for the base case model had to be conducted; it wasn't felt to be appropriate to select one set of data as the preferred data a priori. Table 21 shows the relative treatment effects used in each of the alternative base case scenarios. The black text shows the trial data used in each scenario. The grey text indicates the implied odds ratios for the remaining comparison; this was calculated as a standard indirect comparison.

Figure 4: 1 year evidence network



| Table 21: Model inputs: I | relative treatment | effects at 1 | year (from | pairwise met | a- |
|---------------------------|--------------------|--------------|------------|--------------|----|
| analysis) | | | - • | - | |

| unarj e | Scenario 1 | Sconario 2 | Sconario 3 |
|-------------------|------------------------------------|---|------------------------------------|
| | | | |
| Data used | Licagreior VS | Prasugrei vs ciopidogrei (meta-analysis) | I Icagreior VS ciopidogrei |
| | analysis) | Ticagrelor versus | Ticagrelor versus |
| | Prasuarel vs clopidoarel | prasugrel (ISAR REACT | prasugrel (ISAR REACT |
| | (meta-analysis) | 5) | 5) |
| | OR (95% CI) | OR (95% CI) | OR (95% CI) |
| Ticagrelor vs clo | pidogrel | | |
| All-cause | 0.77 (0.68 to 0.88) | 1.24 (0.86 to 1.79) | 0.77 (0.68 to 0.88) |
| mortality | | | |
| Reinfarction | 0.82 (0.73 to 0.92) | 1.22 (0.87 to 1.73) | 0.82 (0.73 to 0.92) |
| Stroke | 1.13 (0.89 to 1.44) | 1.08 (0.54 to 2.17) | 1.13 (0.89 to 1.44) |
| Major bleed | 1.04 (0.95 to 1.14) | 1.52 (1.04 to 2.22) | 1.04 (0.95 to 1.14) |
| Minor bleed | 1.37 (1.19 to 1.57) ^(a) | 1.37 (1.19 to 1.57) ^(a) | 1.37 (1.19 to 1.57) |
| Prasugrel vs clop | oidogrel | | |
| All-cause | 1.00 (0.83 to 1.21) | 1.00 (0.83 to 1.21) | 0.62 (0.44 to 0.87) |
| | | | |
| Reinfarction | 0.75 (0.66 to 0.84) | 0.75 (0.66 to 0.84) | 0.50 (0.36 to 0.71) |
| Stroke | 0.93 (0.67 to 1.30) | 0.93 (0.67 to 1.30) | 0.97 (0.50 to 1.88) |
| Major bleed | 1.43 (1.14 to 1.79) | 1.43 (1.14 to 1.79) | 0.98 (0.71 to 1.35) |
| Minor bleed | 2.07 (0.88 to 4.87) ^(a) | 2.07 (0.88 to 4.87) ^(a) | 2.07 (0.88 to 4.87) ^(a) |
| Ticagrelor vs pra | asugrel | | |
| All-cause | 0.77 (0.61 to 0.97) | 1.24 (0.90 to 1.70) | 1.24 (0.90 to 1.70) |
| mortality | | | |
| Reinfarction | 1.08 (0.92 to 1.27) | 1.63 (1.17 to 2.26) | 1.63 (1.17 to 2.26) |
| Stroke | 1.22 (0.80 to 1.84) | 1.16 (0.62 to 2.14) | 1.16 (0.62 to 2.14) |
| Major bleed | 0.73 (0.57 to 0.93) | 1.06 (0.78 to 1.44) | 1.06 (0.78 to 1.44) |
| Minor bleed | 0.66 (0.28 to 1.57) ^(b) | 0.66 (0.28 to 1.57) ^(b) | 0.66 (0.28 to 1.57) ^(b) |
| | | | |

Abbreviations: 95% CI = 95% confidence interval; OR = odds ratio.

- (a) ISAR-REACT 5 did not report minor bleeding therefore treatment effects remained the same as scenario 1.
- (b) These estimates are the implied treatment effects for minor bleeding using the data for ticagrelor versus clopidogrel and prasugrel versus clopidogrel

Note: Black text shows the trial data used in each scenario; grey text is the implied treatment effect calculated from the trial data for other comparisons.

Source: Meta analyses of 1 year outcomes undertaken as part of guideline development. See Evidence report A for full methods. RCTs incorporated: ticagrelor versus clopidogrel, 12 RCTs (DISPERSE 2⁷, Dehgani 2017¹¹, Han 2019¹⁶, Li 2018²³, PHILO¹⁴, PLATO⁵⁹, Tang 2016⁵⁷, Wang 2016⁶⁰, Wang 2019⁶¹, Wu 2018⁶⁴, Yao 2017⁶⁶, Zhang 2016⁶⁸); prasugrel to versus clopidogrel, 3 RCTs (Kitano 2020²⁰, Savonitto 2018⁵⁰, TRITON-TIMI⁶³); ticagrelor versus prasugrel, 1 RCT (ISAR-REACT 5⁵²)

Odds ratios were incorporated into the probabilistic analysis using a log-normal distribution. This was parameterised using the mean odds ratio stated above and the standard error calculated from the confidence interval.

2.3.4 Transition probabilities in post-one year extrapolation Markov model

Differential treatment effects were assumed to apply in the first year only and so probabilities post one year do not vary by initial DAPT treatment.

The transition matrices showing the probabilities of transitions applied in the post-one year extrapolation Markov model for STEMI and UA/NSTEMI are shown in Table 22. Death is age-dependant and changes each cycle, therefore the probabilities of transitioning between the health states is dependent on this and changes every cycle.

| STEMI | | | | | | |
|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| | То | | | | | |
| From | No further event | Reinfarction | Post-reinfarction | Stroke | Post-stroke | Dead |
| No further event | 1 - 4.30% - 1.12% - age- dependant mortality | 4.30% | 0 | 1.12% | 0 | Age-dependant |
| Reinfarction | 0 | 0 | 1 – age-dependant mortality | 0 | 0 | Age-dependant |
| Post-reinfarction | 0 | 0 | 1 – age-dependant mortality | 0 | 0 | Age-dependant |
| Stroke | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 – age-dependant mortality | Age-dependant |
| Post-stroke | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 – age-dependant mortality | Age-dependant |
| Dead | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | |
| UA/NSTEMI | То | | | | | |
| UA/NSTEMI From | To No further event | Reinfarction | Post-reinfarction | Stroke | Post-stroke | Dead |
| UA/NSTEMI From No further event | To No further event 1 - 3.62% - 0.59% - age- dependant mortality | Reinfarction 3.62% | Post-reinfarction 0 | Stroke 0.59% | Post-stroke 0 | Dead Age-dependant |
| UA/NSTEMI From No further event Reinfarction | To No further event 1 - 3.62% - 0.59% - age- dependant mortality 0 | Reinfarction 3.62% 0 | Post-reinfarction 0 1 – age-dependant mortality | Stroke 0.59% 0 | Post-stroke 0 0 | Dead Age-dependant Age-dependant |
| UA/NSTEMI From No further event Reinfarction Post-reinfarction | To No further event 1 - 3.62% - 0.59% - age- dependant mortality 0 | Reinfarction3.62%00 | Post-reinfarction 0 1 – age-dependant mortality 1 – age-dependant mortality | Stroke 0.59% 0 0 | Post-stroke 0 0 0 | DeadAge-dependantAge-dependantAge-dependant |
| UA/NSTEMI From No further event Reinfarction Post-reinfarction Stroke | To No further event 1 - 3.62% - 0.59% - age- dependant mortality 0 0 | Reinfarction3.62%00000 | Post-reinfarction 0 1 – age-dependant mortality 1 – age-dependant mortality 0 | Stroke 0.59% 0 0 0 0 0 | Post-stroke 0 0 0 1 – age-dependant mortality | DeadAge-dependantAge-dependantAge-dependantAge-dependantAge-dependant |
| UA/NSTEMIFromNo further eventReinfarctionPost-reinfarctionStrokePost-stroke | ToNo further event1 - 3.62% - 0.59% - age- dependant mortality0000000 | Reinfarction 3.62% 0 | Post-reinfarction 0 1 – age-dependant mortality 1 – age-dependant mortality 0 0 | Stroke 0.59% 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 | Post-stroke 0 0 0 1 – age-dependant mortality 1 – age-dependant mortality | DeadAge-dependantAge-dependantAge-dependantAge-dependantAge-dependantAge-dependant |

Table 22: Post-one year extrapolation Markov model: transition matrices for STEMI and UA/NSTEMI excluding death

In the post-1 year Markov model, people in the no further event health state had the possibility of transitioning to reinfarction, stroke or dead. The rate of reinfarction or stroke post 1 year was assumed to be the same as the rate for people on aspirin and clopidogrel between 31 days and 1 year. This is a method that has been employed by other models, for example, the previous model in NICE CG94 used the rate between 6 months and 1 year. The committee agreed that this was reasonable given that it excludes events occurring in the first 30 days (where events are more frequent) and as there was no data identified which provided the risk of reinfarction or stroke after 1 year in this population. The baseline risks that were used in the 1 year decision tree between 31 days and 1 year were used in the post year-one Markov model converted to a 1 year probability using standard formulae assuming a constant underlying rate. Also, the conversion accounted for censoring due to mortality.

In the model, reinfarction and stroke were tunnel health states, meaning that people only remain in that health state for one cycle, at which point they must transition to dead or the post-reinfarction/post-stroke health states; the probability of these transitions (excluding death) is therefore 1.

Once someone is in the post-reinfarction or post-stroke health state, they cannot experience another event and so either remain in that state or move to the dead state; the probability of remaining in these states (excluding death) is therefore 1.

Transition to the dead state

The transition probability of dying for each of the health states was determined by applying relevant standardised mortality ratios (SMRs) to cycle-specific general population mortality rates. This means that mortality rates increase with age in the model. These were then converted to probabilities using standard methods.

General population mortality was based on data from lifetables for England 2015-17.⁴⁴ Cyclespecific general population mortality was calculated taking into account the average age and gender split for the population entering the model and how this changed over time (age will increase by 1 year each cycle and mortality rate will increase with age; as mortality rates differ by gender and the average age by gender also varied in an ACS population, the gender split will change over time). Note that gender population mortality is not available beyond 100 years. Therefore, the model applies the mortality rate for age 100 to those that are older than 100 years. Table 23 shows age and gender split data used in the model. The percentage of people that are male and female that enter the Markov model was obtained from Hulme 2019. It is acknowledged that as the data obtained from Hulme 2019 was used to model mortality in the decision tree, this is the percentage split in the first year, therefore the percentage that are male and female after 1 year could be different. This was explored and showed that after accounting for mortality in the first year the percentage that were male and female remained the same, therefore the same values as reported in Hulme 2019 were used. The average age used in the Markov model to calculate mortality was one year higher than the reported age in the study, to reflect that people enter the Markov model one year after their ACS event.

| Population | Model entry age | Male | | |
|------------|------------------------------------|------|--|--|
| STEMI | Male: 63 years Female: 70 years | 75% | | |
| UA/NSTEMI | Male: 65 years Female: 70 years | 72% | | |

Table 23: Model inputs: average age and gender split

Source: Analysis of 2011/2012 PCI audit data for England and Wales by Hulme 2019.¹⁷Based on 41,974 PCIs for STEMI and 56,152 for UA/NSTEMI. Average start age was calculated from ages reported by gender and gender split reported in paper.

The model aimed to reflect the real-world population of people with ACS undergoing PCI in England. Data was therefore sought from reports of national audit data. Ideally we were looking for information specifically for people with ACS who have undergone PCI as demographics will be different to the overall ACS population and specific to STEMI and UA/NSTEMI separately as again demographics were considered to potentially vary by type of ACS. An analysis of national audit data in this format was identified in the study reported by Hulme 2019.¹⁷ The data reported for the years 2011/2012 was used and included 40,724 PCIs for STEMI and 54,314 for UA/NSTEMI. More recent audit data is available however these demographics were not reported for these populations separately. It is noted however that for the overall PCI population (ACS and stable) these demographics are very similar in the most recent year and 2013/14.²⁶

SMRs were identified from checking other models and published sources, and those used in the Markov model are shown in Table 24.

| Event | SMR (95% CI) | Source | | |
|-------------------|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| No further event | 2.00 (1.99 to 2.01) ^(a) | Smolina 2012. ⁵³ All-cause mortality compared to that expected in the general population after first acute MI. Based on individuals in England admitted to hospital between 2004 and 2010 ($n = 371,619$). | | |
| Reinfarction | 4.50 (4.43 to 4.57) ^(a) | Smolina 2012.53 All-cause mortality compared to that | | |
| Post-reinfarction | 3.00 (2.95 to 3.05) ^(a)) | expected in the general population after second acute MI. Based on individuals in England admitted to hospital between 2004 and 2010 ($n = 15,833$). | | |
| Stroke | 4.73 (4.34 to 5.15) | Bronnum-Hansen 2001. ⁶ All-cause mortality after first non-fatal stroke compared to that expected in the general population in years 0-1 for males and females. Danish population 1982–1991 (n=8,324). | | |
| Post-stroke | 2.32 (2.17 to 2.49) ^(b) | Bronnum-Hansen 2001. ⁶ Average of SMRs for years 1-15 for males and females. All-cause mortality after first non-fatal stroke compared to that expected in general population. Danish population 1982–1991 (n=8,324). | | |

Table 24: Post-one year extrapolation Markov model: standardised mortality ratios

(a) Cls were not reported therefore these were calculated by assuming the standard deviation was equal to the mean and using the reported n number – n = 371,619 for first MI and n = 15,833 for second MI.
(b) Cls calculated from Monte Carlo simulation.

Figure 5 illustrates how mortality changes over time in the model for those in the no further event health state. The first two data points are the rates 0 to 30 days and 31 days to 1 year from the UK PCI audit data described in section 2.3.2. Data points after this are based on age and gender dependent general population mortality adjusted using the 'no further event' SMR in Table 24.



Figure 5: Graphical presentation of mortality rate per year in the no further event state

The SMR for the no further event and reinfarction/post-reinfarction health states were obtained from Smolina 2012.⁵³ This study reported long-term survival after a first and second acute MI in England in 387,452 individuals identified between 2004 and 2010. The SMRs were reported graphically and approximate average values for use in the model were obtained by visually assessing the graphs in discussion with clinical committee members. Also, the study reported that the SMR for those with their first MI stabilises at 2.00 by 4 years and for those with a second MI it stabilises at around 3.00 by 4 years. The study did not report confidence intervals (or information from which they could be calculated) and so they were estimated assuming the standard deviation was equal to the mean and the reported n number. The estimated confidence intervals are shown in Table 25.

| Health state | Sample mean | Estimated standard deviation | Sample size | Estimated confidence intervals |
|-------------------|-------------|------------------------------------|-------------|--------------------------------------|
| No further event | 2.00 | 2.00 | 371,619 | 1.99 to 2.01 |
| Reinfarction | 4.50 | 4.50 | 15,833 | 4.43 to 4.57 |
| Post-reinfarction | 3.00 | 3.00 | 15,833 | 2.95 to 3.05 |

Table 25: Estimates of confidence intervals for Smolina 2012⁵³ SMRs

The post-stroke standardised mortality ratios were obtained from Bronnum-Hansen 2001.⁶ This study looked at long-term survival following a stroke in people in Denmark. The SMRs were reported separately for different time intervals, initially for years 0 - 1 and also for different intervals between years 2 - 15. To calculate the SMR for the post-stroke health state a straight average was used as the model reflects a lifetime perspective. A confidence interval for the average SMR was obtained using Monte Carlo simulation.
The SMRs were included in the probabilistic analysis using a lognormal distribution which was parameterised using the confidence intervals. General population mortality was not varied probabilistically.

2.3.5 Health-related quality of life

Health state weights (utilities)

Utilities were sought for the ACS population having dual-antiplatelet therapy who have experienced no additional event, reinfarction and stroke. Table 26 shows the data used in the model. These utilities were applied in both the first year treatment period decision tree and the post-year 1 Markov model.

When an event occurred in the decision tree, it was assumed this happened halfway through the relevant time period, therefore, the utilities were applied as follows:

- For those having an event between 0 and 30 days, it was assumed to occur on average at 15 days (for example, no further event applied for 15 days and stroke applied for 15 days).
- For those having an event between 31 days and 1 year, it was assumed to occur on average after 5.5 months (not including the initial 30 day period) (for example, reinfarction for 5.5 months and dead for 5.5 months).

In the Markov model a half cycle correction was applied, which assumes that events occurred halfway through the cycle (at 6 months).

| | Mean | SE |
|-------------------|-------|-------|
| No further event | 0.842 | 0.002 |
| Reinfarction | 0.779 | 0.010 |
| Post-reinfarction | 0.821 | 0.038 |
| Stroke | 0.703 | 0.010 |
| Post-stroke | 0.703 | 0.038 |

Table 26: Model inputs: health state utilities

Abbreviations: SE = standard error

Source: NICE TA236 2011³⁹. EQ-5D-3L completed by patients with ACS as part of PLATO health economic substudy, UK valuation tariff applied.

Utilities were sought through checking cost-utility analyses identified in the systematic review of health economic studies in this area undertaken for this guideline update and recent NICE technology appraisals related to ACS. Additional ad-hoc searching was undertaken to establish if there was any more recent published data in the ACS population. The recent rivaroxaban NICE technology appraisal conducted a systematic review and concluded that the best available data was the utilities used in the ticagrelor NICE TA manufacturer model which were obtained from the PLATO health economics sub-study.³⁹ These were considered appropriate to use by the rivaroxaban TA evidence review group as they distinguished between those that have already had an ACS (no further event health state) and those that have reinfarction. The PLATO health economics sub-study administered the EQ-5D-3L to a subset of people in the RCT and the UK valuation set was used to obtain the utility weights. Although the manufacturer submission for the ticagrelor NICE TA used different utility values for the clopidogrel and ticagrelor arms, the ticagrelor TA evidence review group report indicated that this was not appropriate and that the same utilities should apply to each arm and the only difference in quality of life should be between which health state the person is in. The committee agreed that for this model the event specific utilities from the PLATO health economic sub study should be used as they match the health states in the model and are in line with the NICE reference case. It was agreed that quality of life should be lower in

the first year after having a reinfarction as this was considered clinically appropriate and is in line with other models in ACS.

It was acknowledged that in the decision tree those that have two events (e.g. stroke in 0 to 30 days and a stroke in 31 days to 1 year) may experience a further disutility. Although you may experience further disutility, it was agreed that the disutility associated with the second event would be smaller than the disutility associated with the first event. As a result, using the same utilities was considered a reasonable assumption by the committee.

The health state specific utility values were incorporated into the probabilistic analysis using a beta distribution, which is bounded by 0 and 1 as utilities are generally between these values. It is possible that utility values can be less than 1 (states considered worse than death) however given that the mean estimates for all of the health states are far from zero this was considered reasonable. This was parameterised using the method of moments approach that uses the mean and SE to calculate alpha and beta for the distribution.

Age adjustment of health state weights

Each year in the model utilities were age-adjusted in order to account for the fact that as people age their quality of life decreases. This is a method that is adopted by many other economic models and was also highlighted in the recent rivaroxaban NICE TA evidence review group report as being something that should be incorporated. If it is not done, QALYs may be overestimated.

Each year in the model age-specific general population EQ-5D-3L utilities were derived using the following formula from Ara 2010³:

$$Utility = 0.9508566 + 0.0212126 * Male - 0.0002587 * age - 0.0000332 * age^2$$

Note: for variable 'Male', male is equal to 1 and female is equal to 0.

The average age and gender split of the population was used in calculations as described in Table 23 in Section 2.3.4.

These were then combined with the health-state specific utilities using the multiplicative method.

Age-specific utilities were not varied probabilistically.

Bleeding adverse events

Minor bleeding and major bleeding (except stroke) were incorporated into the model as short term adverse events. The committee noted that you might expect a short term decrement in quality of life when experiencing a bleeding event and data was sought regarding this. The utility decrements applied for a minor and major bleed in the model along are shown in Table 27 along with the duration they were applied for in order to calculate QALY loss.

Table 27: Model inputs: minor and major bleeding quality of life decrements

| Adverse event | Utility decrement ^(a) (95% Cl) | Standard error ^(b) | Duration applied for ^(c) |
|------------------|--|-------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Minor bleed | 0.026 (-0.0470 to -0.0293) | 0.005 | 7.60 days |
| Major bleed | 0.038-(-0.0365 to -0.0148) | 0.006 | 45.38 days |

(a) Source: Amin 2016¹⁷. Primary analysis of EQ-5D-3L data (US tariff) from people with ACS on DAPT that experienced a bleed from the TRANSLATE-ACS study, n=9,290. Utility decrement was calculated in analysis by comparing quality of life of those who experienced a bleed to those who did not experience a bleed.

(b) Standard errors were calculated using the lower and upper 95% confidence intervals reported in the study

(c) Source: Doble 2018¹³

A systematic review conducted by Doble 2018¹³ identified 12 studies that reported quality of life associated with major and minor bleeding for people taking DAPT. The study also conducted a small patient preference elicitation study using EQ-5D-3L and 5L to obtain utilities for major and minor bleeding. The elicitation exercise resulted in data collected from 21 individuals, who were all taking DAPT for ACS or after a coronary intervention. This study was conducted in the UK and used the EQ-5D-3L tariff which is line with NICE current preferred methods. The study reported that most participants completing the elicitation exercise had experienced a minor bleed; however, not everyone had experienced a major bleed. Due to the study being based on a small sample of people and the fact they were not directly affected by the condition, an alternative source that was identified in the systematic review was considered. The TRANSLATE-ACS study was a longitudinal study conducted in the USA looking at DAPT treatment patterns after an ACS event. The study was conducted in over 9,000 people that were treated with PCI and taking DAPT. Bleeding events were reported according to BARC and health related quality of life was recorded. Participant's EQ-5D scores were collected at baseline and 6 months. They reported utility decrements of people who experienced bleeding compared to those in the study that did not experience any bleeding. Although the study used the EQ-5D US tariff, it was felt appropriate to use this data over other studies as the study was conducted on a large number of people who were the population of interest. Although the US tariff was used, it uses the time-trade-off valuation method which is the same as the UK tariff. Also, the Doble 2018 study compared the US and UK valuation tariff in the elicitation exercise and showed that they resulted in small differences, which further supported the use of the values from the TRANSLATE-ACS study.

When applying utility decrements the duration that the event is expected to impact quality of life has to be applied. The TRANSLATE-ACS study did not report the duration that major and minor bleeds impacted quality of life, and the previous prasugrel NICE TA assumed that major bleeds would affect quality of life for 14 days. The Doble 2018 study asked participants in the elicitation exercise how long they would expect a bleed to impact quality of life and the average amount of time was 7.6 days for minor bleeds and 45.38 days for major bleeds. The committee agreed that this was the best source of data as it involved asking people on DAPT that may have experienced a bleed.

The utility decrement associated with major bleeding was incorporated into the probabilistic analysis using a gamma distribution. This is bounded by zero which reflects the assumption that this adverse event will only result in lower QALYs, which was agreed to be clinically appropriate. It was parameterised using the mean utility decrement and standard error calculated from the reported confidence interval.

The utility decrement with minor bleeding was incorporated into the probabilistic analysis using the difference in utility decrement with a minor bleed and a major bleed to ensure that in the probabilistic analysis the utility decrement with a minor bleed is not higher than with a major bleed. A gamma distribution was used for the difference for the same reasons as given above. It was parametrised using the difference in mean utility decrement and standard error calculated from the reported confidence intervals for the decrements for major and minor bleeding.

2.3.6 Resource use and costs

2.3.6.1 Intervention costs

In the analysis, DAPT costs varied by comparator in the first year. The unit costs of aspirin, clopidogrel, prasugrel and ticagrelor that are used in the model shown in Table 28. Clopidogrel, prasugrel and ticagrelor all require a loading dose to be used in people presenting with ACS. The loading dose for clopidogrel can either be 300mg or 600mg, but for the purposes of modelling the 600mg dose was used as this is what is often done in current practice. A sensitivity analysis using a 300mg loading dose was conducted as described in section 2.4. The daily dose of prasugrel is 10mg for adults 18 – 74 years and with a body

weight above 60kg, and for anyone under 60kg or 75 years and over the daily dose is 5mg. As the annual cost of the 5mg and 10mg dose is different, an assumption had to be made regarding what proportion of people would be receiving each dose. Recent prescription cost analysis data showed that 90% of prasugrel prescriptions were for the 10mg dose. However, as the current usage of prasugrel is low, this would not reflect the overall PCI population. As a result, a local hospital database was checked and showed that approximately 10 - 20% of people that have undergone PCI for ACS would be eligible for the 5mg dose. Therefore, the model assumed that 15% would receive the 5mg dose and 85% would receive the 10mg dose. All three drugs are taken alongside aspirin therefore the cost of aspirin was included. The doses and resulting costs of these drugs are shown in Table 29.

| Drug | Tablet size | Tablets per pack | Cost per pack | Cost per tablet |
|-------------|-------------|------------------|---------------|-----------------|
| Aspirin | 75mg | 28 | £1.84 | £0.07 |
| Clopidogrel | 75mg | 28 | £1.66 | £0.06 |
| Prasugrel | 5mg | 28 | £14.40 | £0.51 |
| | 10mg | 28 | £6.34 | £0.23 |
| Ticagrelor | 90mg | 56 | £54.60 | £0.98 |

Table 28: DAPT unit costs

Source: NHS Drug Tariff July 202041

Table 29: Model inputs: DAPT costs

| Drug | Loading dose | Loading dose cost | Daily maintenance dose | Cost per day | Cost per year |
|-------------|-----------------|----------------------|------------------------------|--------------|---------------|
| Aspirin | n/a | n/a | 75mg | £0.07 | £24 |
| Clopidogrel | 300mg | £0.24 | 75mg | £0.06 | £22 |
| | 600mg | £0.47 | 75mg | £0.06 | £22 |
| Prasugrel | 60mg | £1.36 | 5mg | £0.51 | £188 |
| | | | 10mg | £0.23 | £83 |
| Ticagrelor | 180mg | £1.95 | 180mg | £1.95 | £712 |

Source: doses from British National Formulary¹⁹, accessed 1st July 2020; unit costs NHS Drug Tariff July 2020⁴¹

Prasugrel can only be given in people undergoing PCI. Standard treatment for STEMI is primary PCI immediately. However, management in people with UA/NSTEMI is different with a proportion of people undergoing angiography to determine if PCI is appropriate. It will not be known if these people will receive PCI until angiography has been undertaken and MINAP audit data showed that on average it takes around 3 days from event angiography (with some taking place sooner and some later). Therefore, intervention costs in the UA/NSTEMI prasugrel group were calculated assuming that they would only receive aspirin for 3 days, and then receive the prasugrel loading dose on day 3 followed by daily prasugrel and aspirin costs. This was to be in line with what was done in the ISAR-REACT 5 trial. A sensitivity analysis was conducted which assumed that these people received clopidogrel until angiography and then were switched to prasugrel as the committee were uncertain about leaving people off DAPT until angiography.

Loading dose costs were applied to everyone in the model. For those that died between 0 to 30 days, the daily treatment costs were applied for 15 days. For those that died between 31 days and 1 year, the first 30 day intervention cost was applied and then the costs were applied for a further 5.5 months to be in line with the assumption that on average events occur halfway through the cycle. For those who were alive at 1 year intervention costs were calculated taking into account an estimate of average treatment duration of 328 days (90% of the year). The same treatment duration was used for all DAPT options. This basis for the treatment duration is discussed further below.

Treatment duration

Intervention costs for those alive at one year were calculated taking into account estimated typical treatment duration. The committee discussed that in their experience continuation of DAPT for a year is high however in trials some participants discontinued the study intervention before then and this may result in lower intervention costs.

The committee considered information from 3 key studies: PLATO, TRITON-TIMI and ISAR-REACT-5. This is described below.

The ISAR-REACT 5 trial reported that 15.2%/12.5% of participants on ticagrelor/prasugrel respectively discontinued the trial therapy prematurely and that the median duration in those that discontinued was 84/109 days respectively.⁵¹ Using the discontinuation percentages and median days on treatment (as mean was not reported) for those who discontinued, and assuming those who do did not discontinue prematurely received 365 days of treatment, it was estimated that people received an average of 322/333 days of treatment for ticagrelor/prasugrel respectively. This equates to 328 days across the groups.

The PLATO trial reported 240/245 mean days on treatment for ticagrelor/clopidogrel respectively.⁴³ This equates to 243 days across the groups.

The assessment report for the NICE technology assessment for prasugrel (TA182) included intervention costs adjusted for treatment duration based on data from TRITON-TIMI 38 as part of a cost effectiveness analysis where maximum DAPT duration was 12 months.¹⁵ Using this and the reported unit costs it was calculated that a treatment duration of around 302 days for both prasugrel and clopidogrel was used.

The committee noted that in their experience continuation with DAPT was high. It was also noted that in PLATO 12 months treatment was not mandated and participants could leave the study at 6, 9 or 12 months if the pre-specified number of endpoints had occurred in the study. It was agreed that the ISAR-REACT-5 estimate of 328 days should be used in the base case analysis as it is the most recent study and a pragmatic trial and so was most likely to represent current real world discontinuation; in the base case analysis, the same treatment duration was applied for all three DAPT options. Different assumptions were explored in sensitivity analyses (see section 2.4).

2.3.6.2 Health states

The sources of cost data for health states were identified by reviewing models in ACS and other cardiovascular models (NICE guidelines, TA models or published economic models) and through non-systematic online searches to identify newer publications. The costs applied in the model are summarised in Table 30 below. More detail about the data sources and calculation are provided in the sections that follow.

Note that in the year 1 decision tree, assuming events occurring between 31 days and 1 year occur around 6 months, costs were attributed assuming the first 6 month costs are determined by what occurs between 0 to 30 days and the second 6 months costs are determined by what event occurs during the 31 day to 1 year period.

| 0 to 30 days | 31 day to 1 year | Cost | Source |
|---------------------|---------------------|--------|--|
| No further event | No further event | £1,640 | Danese 2016⁹first MI 1 – 6 months costs with estimated acute cost removed (based on NHS reference cost of PCI¹²) Plus half the Danese 2016⁹ annualised post-6 months costs |

Table 30: Model inputs: year 1 decision tree health state costs

| | 04 | | |
|---------------------|---------------------|---------|---|
| 0 to 30 days | 31 day to 1 year | Cost | Source |
| No further event | Reinfarction | £5,564 | Danese 2016⁹ first MI 1 – 6 months costs with estimated acute cost removed (based on NHS reference cost of PCI¹²) |
| | | | Plus Danese 2016⁹ second MI 1 – 6 months costs |
| No further event | Stroke | £15,203 | Danese 2016⁹ first MI 1 – 6 months costs with estimated acute cost removed (based on NHS reference cost of PCI¹²) |
| | | | Plus the Xu 2018³³ Year 1 stroke costs with recurrence costs removed , 6 month cost post-year 1cost removed, and non-publicly funded social care costs removed |
| No further event | Death | £1,168 | Danese 2016⁹ first MI 1 – 6 months costs with estimated acute cost removed (based on NHS reference cost of PCI¹²) |
| Reinfarction | No new | £5,104 | Danese 2016⁹ second MI 1 – 6 months costs |
| | event | | Plus half the Danese 2016⁹ annualised second MI post-6 months costs |
| Reinfarction | Reinfarction | £8,792 | Danese 2016⁹ second MI 1 – 6 months costs multiplied by 2. |
| Reinfarction | Stroke | £18,431 | Danese 2016⁹ second MI 1 – 6 months costs |
| | | | Plus the Xu 2018⁶⁵ Year 1 stroke costs with recurrence costs removed, 6 month cost post-year 1cost removed, and non-publicly funded social care costs removed |
| Reinfarction | Death | £4,396 | • Danese 2016 ⁹ second MI 1 – 6 months costs |
| Stroke | No new event | £17,323 | • Xu 2018 ⁶⁵ Year 1 stroke costs with recurrence costs removed and non-publicly funded social care costs removed. |
| Stroke | Reinfarction | £21,719 | • Xu 2018 ⁶⁵ Year 1 stroke costs with recurrence costs removed and non-publicly funded social care costs removed. |
| | | | Plus Danese 2016⁹ second MI 1 – 6 months costs |
| Stroke | Stroke | £21,014 | • Xu 2018 ⁶⁵ Year 1 stroke costs with recurrence costs removed and non-publicly funded social care costs removed. |
| | | | Plus acute stroke costs estimated using method used in Xu 2018⁶⁵ and 2017/18 NHS reference costs |
| Stroke | Death | £14,035 | Xu 2018⁶⁵ Year 1 stroke costs with recurrence costs removed, 6 month cost post-year 1cost removed, and non-publicly funded social care costs removed |
| Death | n/a | £0 | Assumption |
| | | | |

Stroke costs

The cost of stroke was based on Xu 2018⁶⁵ which estimated the financial burden of stroke to the NHS and social care services. This was done using a patient simulation based on UK Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme data. The costs associated with stroke were estimated up to 5 years after the person incurred their first stroke. The costs of stroke were reported for 1 year and 5 years. Costs associated with the NHS and social care services were reported separately. The social care costs in the report included both publicly funded and independently funded costs. Costs from this study are shown in Table 31.

Table 31: Costs from published sources: stroke

| Health state | Cost | Source |
|---------------|---------|---|
| Stroke 1 year | £23,052 | Xu 2018 – SSNAP project inflated to 2017/1865 |
| Stroke 5 year | £47,023 | Xu 2018 – SSNAP project inflated to 2017/18 ⁶⁵ |

Costs inflated from 2016 to 2017/18 using health services specific indices reported in the PSSRU publication Unit costs for health and social care; 2017/18 was the latest index available⁸

As this analysis takes an NHS and personal social services perspective, non-publicly funded costs should not be included. A recent report published by the Stroke Association (Patel 2017⁴⁸) used the assumption that approximately 50% of social care costs are publicly funded. Therefore, an assumption was made in the model that 50% of these costs were publicly funded, which was tested in a sensitivity analysis.

In the 1 year decision tree clinical events including stroke are modelled explicitly as you can have a stroke between 0 to 30 days and another between 31 days and 1 year. However, the Xu 2018 costs include repeat stroke events. The costs associated with recurrent strokes was based on unpublished data obtained from the authors and was recorded for the overall 5 year costs; therefore, an adjustment was made to the 1 year costs. When someone experienced a second stroke in the model, the acute costs of stroke were calculated from NHS reference costs, using the same currency codes that were used in the SSNAP 2018 report⁶⁵ which involved non-elective stroke, thrombolysis, ambulance and scan costs. These are shown in Table 32. For those that experienced their first stroke in the 31 days to 1 year period, the cost of stroke was adjusted. Instead of halving the 1 year cost of stroke, it was deemed appropriate to assume that the majority of costs in the first year happen in the first 6 months. Therefore, the annual cost of stroke after year 1 was halved and removed from the first year stroke cost to obtain a higher cost. This was done to ensure no costs were lost once people entered the Markov model in the post-stroke health state.

In the Markov model repeat events are not modelled explicitly and so it was deemed appropriate to use the Xu 2018 costs that captured the cost of repeat events.

| Currency Code | Currency Description | Activity | National average unit cost |
|------------------|----------------------------|----------|-------------------------------|
| Acute stroke ad | mission | | |
| Non-elective lor | ng stay | | |
| AA35A | Stroke with CC Score 16+ | 12,203 | £8,659 |
| AA35B | Stroke with CC Score 13-15 | 14,461 | £6,419 |
| AA35C | Stroke with CC Score 10-12 | 17,864 | £5,082 |
| AA35D | Stroke with CC Score 7-9 | 20,624 | £4,052 |
| AA35E | Stroke with CC Score 4-6 | 20,118 | £3,420 |
| AA35F | Stroke with CC Score 0-3 | 12,652 | £2,821 |
| Non-elective sh | ort stay | | |
| AA35A | Stroke with CC Score 16+ | 2,618 | £951 |
| AA35B | Stroke with CC Score 13-15 | 4,207 | £736 |
| AA35C | Stroke with CC Score 10-12 | 7,568 | £730 |
| AA35D | Stroke with CC Score 7-9 | 12,448 | £712 |
| AA35E | Stroke with CC Score 4-6 | 17,105 | £683 |
| AA35F | Stroke with CC Score 0-3 | 14,922 | £667 |

Table 32: Cost of acute stroke

| Currency Code | Currency Description | Activity | National average unit cost | |
|--|--|-----------|-------------------------------|--|
| Cost of admissi | £3,310 | | | |
| Thrombolysis ^(a) | | | | |
| YR23A | Percutaneous Transluminal, Embolectomy or Thrombolysis, of Blood Vessel, with CC Score 5+ | 12 | £719 | |
| YR23B | Percutaneous Transluminal, Embolectomy or Thrombolysis, of Blood Vessel, with CC Score 0-4 | 64 | £959 | |
| Cost of thrombo | olysis (weighted average) | | £921 | |
| Scan | | | | |
| RD01A | Magnetic Resonance Imaging Scan of One Area, without Contrast, 19 years and over | 438,550 | £131 | |
| RD20A | Computerised Tomography Scan of One Area, without Contrast, 19 years and over | 167,572 | £79 | |
| Cost of scan (weighted average) ^(b) | | | £80 | |
| Ambulance | | | | |
| ASS02 | See and treat and convey | 5,325,368 | £252 | |
| Cost of ambula | £195 | | | |
| Total cost of a | cute stroke: | | £3,692 | |

Source: NHS Reference Costs 2017/1812

(a) Thrombolysis costs were based on day-case admissions, and assumed that 11.6% received thrombolysis as reported in SSNAP report

(b) Cost of scan was based on 98.1% of people having a CT scan and the remaining having an MRI, taken from SSNAP report

(c) This was based on 77.3% of people arriving by ambulance, taken from the SSNAP report

The stroke costs used in the model are summarised in Table 33.

Table 33: Costs used in the model: stroke

| | Cost | Source/Assumptions |
|------------------------------------|---------|--|
| Decision tree | | |
| Stroke occurring in 0 – 30 days | £17,323 | Xu 2018 ⁶⁵ 1 year stroke cost removed recurrence costs and 50% of social care costs; based on unpublished data obtained from authors |
| Stroke 31 days to 1 year | £14,035 | Xu 2018 ⁶⁵ 1 year stroke cost removed recurrence costs and 50% of social care costs as well as removed half the annualised cost (£3,288) to account for 6 months of ongoing treatment; based on unpublished data obtained from authors |
| Second stroke | £3,692 | NHS reference costs 2017/18; based on the costs included in Xu 2018 ⁶⁵ |
| Markov model (annual costs) | | |
| Stroke | £18,522 | Xu 2018 ⁶⁵ 1 year costs with 50% of social care costs removed |
| Post-stroke | £6,576 | Xu 2018 ⁶⁵ 5 year costs adjusted to remove 1 year cost and annualised; 50% of social care costs removed. |

ACS with no further event and ACS with new MI costs

Danese 2016⁹ aimed to illustrate the costs to the NHS that are associated with cardiovascular events among adults receiving lipid modifying therapy. This was a retrospective cohort study that used Clinical Practice Research Datalink records from 2006 to 2012. They reported the costs to the NHS associated with having a myocardial infarction. The study recorded first events and repeat events, and the costs were reported separately for these. Costs were reported for the first six months following the acute event, and the cost incurred from 7 to 36 months was presented as an annualised cost. Costs from this study are shown in Table 34.

It was acknowledged that the cost used in the model for people with ACS (MI or unstable angina) but no further event is based on people who have had a myocardial infarction only; however the committee agreed that the downstream resource use and management strategy would be similar for this population especially as this analysis considered people with ACS undergoing PCI.

It was discussed that this study was based on people receiving lipid modifying therapy prior to the cardiovascular event they experienced. However, the committee indicated that whether or not you are taking lipid modifying treatment before an event should not impact the treatment you receive for having a myocardial infarction and therefore these costs could be applied in this model.

| Health state | Cost | Source |
|----------------------------------|--------|----------------------------------|
| First MI 1 – 6 months | £4,370 | Danese 2016 inflated to 2017/189 |
| First MI post-acute annual cost | £943 | Danese 2016 inflated to 2017/189 |
| Second MI 1 – 6 months | £4,396 | Danese 2016 inflated to 2017/189 |
| Second MI post-acute annual cost | £1,415 | Danese 2016 inflated to 2017/189 |

Table 34: Costs from published sources: ACS with and without new MI

Costs inflated from 2014 to 2017/18 using health services specific indices reported in the PSSRU publication Unit costs for health and social care; 2017/18 was the latest index available⁸

For those that experienced no further event in the model (that is people who have had an ACS but no further event), the cost of having a first MI was applied. For those that had reinfarction in the model, the cost of second MI was applied. In the decision tree it was decided that the cost of the acute event (hospitalisation) should be removed from the initial 6 month cost as everyone in the model experiences an ACS. Danese 2016 did not report a breakdown of the costs in order to remove this acute cost. As a result, the cost of having PCI was obtained from NHS reference costs and this was removed from the overall cost. The NHS reference costs of PCI are shown in Table 35.

Table 35: NHS reference costs 2017/18 of percutaneous coronary angioplasty

| Currency | | Number of | National average |
|--------------|--|-----------|------------------|
| Code | Currency Description | FUE'S | unit cost |
| Non-elective | e long stay | | |
| EY40A | Complex Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 12+ | 752 | £7,572 |
| EY40B | Complex Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 8-11 | 1,335 | £5,447 |
| EY40C | Complex Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 4-7 | 3,165 | £4,485 |

| Currency Code | Currency Description | Number of FCE's | National average unit cost | | | |
|------------------|---|--------------------|-------------------------------|--|--|--|
| EY40D | Complex Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 0-3 | 3,061 | £3,969 | | | |
| EY41A | Standard Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 12+ | 1,307 | £6,826 | | | |
| EY41B | Standard Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 8-11 | 2,802 | £4,577 | | | |
| EY41C | Standard Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 4-7 | 9,037 | £3,649 | | | |
| EY41D | Standard Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 0-3 | 10,510 | £3,185 | | | |
| Non-elective | e short stay | | | | | |
| EY40A | Complex Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 12+ | 292 | £3,152 | | | |
| EY40B | Complex Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 8-11 | 476 | £2,346 | | | |
| EY40C | Complex Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 4-7 | 1,579 | £2,228 | | | |
| EY40D | Complex Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 0-3 | 2,236 | £2,224 | | | |
| EY41A | Standard Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 12+ | 427 | £2,507 | | | |
| EY41B | Standard Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 8-11 | 1,127 | £1,963 | | | |
| EY41C | Standard Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 4-7 | 5,137 | £1,884 | | | |
| EY41D | Standard Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty with CC Score 0-3 | 8,843 | £1,784 | | | |
| Weighted a | Weighted average cost (used as acute cost of MI) | | | | | |

Abbreviations: FCE = finished consultant episode

Source: NHS Reference Costs, 2017/1812; cost of non-elective long stay includes excess bed day cost

The costs used in the model for people with ACS without any event and with a reinfarction are summarised in Table 36.

Table 36: Costs used in the model: ACS with and without reinfarction

| | Cost | Source/Assumptions |
|--|--------|--|
| Decision tree | | |
| ACS no further event (0-6 month cost) | £1,263 | Danese 2016 first MI 1 – 6 months with acute cost removed (based on NHS reference cost of PCI) |
| ACS no further event (6 to 12 months cost) | £471 | Danese 2016 first MI annualised post-acute event cost halved |
| Second MI (0 to 6 month cost) | £4,396 | Danese 2016 second MI 1 – 6 months |
| Second MI (6 to 12 months cost) | £708 | Danese 2016 second MI annualised post- acute event cost halved |
| Third infarction | £4,396 | Danese 2016 second MI 1 – 6 months |
| Markov health state costs | | |
| No further event | £943 | Danese 2016 first MI annualised post-acute event cost |

| | Cost | Source/Assumptions |
|-------------------|--------|---|
| Reinfarction | £5,104 | Danese 2016 second MI acute cost (1 – 6 months) and annualised post-acute event cost halved |
| Post-reinfarction | £1,415 | Danese 2016 second MI annualised post- acute event cost |

Source: Danese 20169

Deaths occurring between 0 and 30 days costs

For those that died at 0 to 30 days, no health state costs were included as the cost associated with 15 days would be minimal.

2.3.6.3 Adverse events

Major and minor bleeding was incorporated in the model as adverse events. The costs associated with these events were applied as a one off. Previous models in ACS and especially DAPT were explored to see how the cost of bleeding was captured. Various approaches were taken and there was a large difference in the costs used in previous models. It was considered by the committee that these costs can vary from person to person as both minor and major bleeds can vary in severity.

Minor bleeding

Although the committee noted that minor bleeds usually don't require interventions, people experiencing a minor bleed may feel worried about the bleed and still seek medical help. As a result, it was considered reasonable to use an A&E visit with investigation. An average of NHS reference costs for all categories of emergency admission (weighted by number of attendances) was used; this is shown in Table 37.

| | Table 37: Minor bleeding | cost based on | emergency medi | cine admission |
|--|--------------------------|---------------|----------------|----------------|
|--|--------------------------|---------------|----------------|----------------|

| | Currency codes | Currency descriptions | Total attendances | Weighted average cost used in model | | |
|---|---|---|-------------------|--|--|--|
| | VB01Z – VB09Z | Emergency Medicine, Category 1 - 3 Investigation and Emergency Medicine, Any Investigation | 16,250,140 | £176 | | |
| S | Source: NHS Reference Costs 2017/18 ¹² | | | | | |

The NICE TA for long term ticagrelor use (TA420) used a much higher cost for minor bleeds which was based on an admission for gastrointestinal bleed without intervention. As a result of such differences in costs, this was used in a sensitivity analysis (described in section 2.4).

Major bleeding

It was discussed that major bleeding can include intracranial bleeds; however gastrointestinal bleeds are more common in this population taking DAPT. As a result, the average cost of an admission for gastrointestinal bleed was used in the base case analysis. An average of NHS reference costs for all categories of gastrointestinal bleed admission (weighted by number of attendances) was used; this is shown in Table 38 and how it was derived. In a sensitivity analysis the costs of intracranial bleeds were included (described in section 2.4).

| Table 38: Major ble | eeding costs based o | on gastrointestinal bleed |
|---------------------|----------------------|---------------------------|
|---------------------|----------------------|---------------------------|

| | 5 | U U | | | | |
|--|---|--------------------|----------------------------|--|--|--|
| Currency code Currency description | | Number of FCE's | National average unit cost | | | |
| Non-elective long stay | | | | | | |

| Currency code | Currency description | Number of FCE's | National average unit cost |
|------------------|--|-----------------|----------------------------|
| FD03A | Gastrointestinal Bleed with Multiple Interventions, with CC Score 5+ | 1,058 | £5,685 |
| FD03B | Gastrointestinal Bleed with Multiple Interventions, with CC Score 0-4 | 955 | £3,637 |
| FD03C | Gastrointestinal Bleed with Single Intervention, with CC Score 8+ | 1,486 | £3,909 |
| FD03D | Gastrointestinal Bleed with Single Intervention, with CC Score 5-7 | 2,244 | £2,828 |
| FD03E | Gastrointestinal Bleed with Single Intervention, with CC Score 0-4 | 5,568 | £2,173 |
| FD03F | Gastrointestinal Bleed without Interventions, with CC Score 9+ | 2,499 | £2,920 |
| FD03G | Gastrointestinal Bleed without Interventions, with CC Score 5-8 | 6,754 | £2,246 |
| Non-elective s | short stay | | |
| FD03A | Gastrointestinal Bleed with Multiple Interventions, with CC Score 5+ | 32 | £1,511 |
| FD03B | Gastrointestinal Bleed with Multiple Interventions, with CC Score 0-4 | 25 | £1,130 |
| FD03C | Gastrointestinal Bleed with Single Intervention, with CC Score 8+ | 69 | £1,219 |
| FD03D | Gastrointestinal Bleed with Single Intervention, with CC Score 5-7 | 101 | £1,047 |
| FD03E | Gastrointestinal Bleed with Single Intervention, with CC Score 0-4 | 202 | £1,069 |
| FD03F | Gastrointestinal Bleed without Interventions, with CC Score 9+ | 1,962 | £586 |
| FD03G | Gastrointestinal Bleed without Interventions, with CC Score 5-8 | 9,160 | £538 |
| Weighted ave | erage | | £1.955 |

Abbreviations: CC = complication and comorbidity; FCE = finished consultant episode

Source: NHS Reference Costs 2017/18¹²; non-elective long stay costs including excess bed day costs

2.4 Sensitivity analyses

2.4.1 Stroke 1 year baseline risk adjusted (SA1)

In the base case analysis 1 year baseline risk for stroke was estimated using 30 day stroke risk form UK audits and the percentage increase in events at 1 year compared to 30 days from the Swedeheart audits for STEMI and NSTEMI.^{55,56} The percentage increase to 1 year relative to 30 days was much lower with the PLATO data.⁵⁸ Therefore, an analysis was undertaken where the baseline risk for 1 year was determined by the percentage increase from PLATO. Table 39 shows the values used in the base case analysis and the values used in the sensitivity analysis.

Table 39: Baseline probability of stroke at 1 year

| Population | 30 day probability of stroke | % increase used in base case | 1 year probability of stroke used in base case | % increase used in sensitivity analysis | 1 year probability used in sensitivity analysis |
|------------|------------------------------------|------------------------------------|---|--|---|
| STEMI | 0.30% | 420% ^(a) | 1.25% | 224% ^(c) | 0.72% |
| UA/NSTEMI | 0.11% | 580% ^(b) | 0.63% | 224% ^(c) | 0.26% |

(a) Source: Szummer 2017; based on Swedeheart registry⁵⁵

(b) Source: Szummer 2018; based on Swedeheart registry⁵⁶

(c) Source: Wallentin 2009; based on PLATO RCT⁵⁸

2.4.2 Adjusting baseline risks for reinfarction and stroke (SA2)

As discussed in section 2.3.2, some of the probabilities used in the decision tree may overestimate the number of people alive with MI or stroke at 1 year. The data for reinfarction with STEMI included all events (not just people alive with reinfarction at 30 days and 1 year), as well as the stroke data for both STEMI and UA/NSTEMI. It was discussed that this would overestimate the number of people alive with a reinfarction and stroke and therefore a sensitivity analysis was conducted to reduce these probabilities at 1 year. In order to obtain a good estimate of how many of these events would be fatal, data from the ticagrelor TA236³⁹ was used as it provided a breakdown of events for the clopidogrel arm, which showed that 18% of people that had a reinfarction had died at the end of 1 year, and 20% of people that had a stroke had died at the end of 1 year. Therefore, the 1 year probability for reinfarction in STEMI was reduced by 18% and the 1 year probability for stroke was reduced by 20% for both STEMI and UA/NSTEMI. Reinfarction for UA/NSTEMI remained unchanged as it was the probability for non-fatal events.

2.4.3 Reducing SMRs for ACS/Reinfarction (SA3)

The SMRs being used for the no further event, reinfarction and post-reinfarction health states were obtained from Smolina 2012⁵³ and the SMRs for stroke and post-stroke were obtained from Bronnum-Hansen 2001.⁶ As the SMRs were obtained from alternative sources, there is a chance that the SMRs related to ACS and reinfarction may be overestimating death. This is because they will comprise of deaths from any cause, and therefore would include death from having a stroke. In order to account for this, a sensitivity analysis was conducted where the SMRs for no further event, reinfarction and post reinfarction were reduced by 20% to reduce mortality in these health states and to test if this impacts results.

2.4.4 Assuming no treatment effect with stroke (SA4 – 6)

There was ambiguity around including the stroke outcome in the model as the committee discussed that it affected small numbers and there was uncertainty in the treatment effect estimates. Stroke has high costs associated with it therefore a small number of people experiencing strokes can have a large impact in results. As a result a sensitivity analysis was conducted where there was no treatment effect applied for prasugrel and ticagrelor (by changing the treatment effect to 1) to see if this impacted results (SA14). Also, a sensitivity analysis was conducted where there was no stroke treatment effect applied for ticagrelor but it was still applied for prasugrel (SA15) and another analysis where the stroke treatment effect for prasugrel was not applied but ticagrelor's treatment effect was still applied (SA16).

2.4.5 Rivaroxaban treatment effects included (SA7 – 8)

As discussed in section 2.1.1, there is an existing NICE technology appraisal (TA335) which recommends low dose rivaroxaban as an option in combination with aspirin plus clopidogrel in people who have had an acute coronary syndrome, post-acute management. It is beyond

the scope of the guideline update to make a recommendation about the use of rivaroxaban after ACS however, as rivaroxaban is only indicated for use with clopidogrel, a recommendation for prasugrel or ticagrelor may preclude rivaroxaban's use and so it is potentially relevant to take this into account in this analysis. The committee indicated that current usage is low therefore it was considered via a modification to the clopidogrel arm in a sensitivity analysis. In this exploratory sensitivity analysis treatment effects of low dose rivaroxaban post-ACS were incorporated into the model in those receiving clopidogrel in order to see if this would impact conclusions about which DAPT option was preferred.

Treatment effects were obtained from the ATLAS-TIMI-51 trial.²⁸ These are shown in Table 40**Error! Reference source not found.**. This study reported hazard ratios at 24 months, which was not in line with the outcomes from our clinical review, which reported outcomes at 30 days and 1 year. In order to undertake the sensitivity analysis an assumption was made to assume that treatment effects remain constant. It was highlighted that the distribution of effects is probably not the same throughout 24 months, for example, bleeding events may be more likely in the first few months, however this was an assumption that was made in the absence of other data. Hazard ratios were used as they were reported by the study. They were applied to the event rates with clopidogrel and aspirin in the model and revised probabilities of events occurring were obtained. These are shown in Table 41.

Table 40: Relative treatment effects of low dose rivaroxaban plus clopidogrel and aspirin

| Outcome | Hazard ratio (95% CI) versus clopidogrel and aspirin alone |
|--------------|--|
| Mortality | 0.68 (0.53 to 0.87) |
| Reinfarction | 0.90 (0.75 to 1.09) |
| Stroke | 1.13 (0.74 to 1.73) |
| Major bleed | 3.46 (2.08 to 5.77) |
| Minor bleed | 1.62 (0.92 to 2.82) |

Source: ATLAS-TIMI-51 RCT²⁸

Table 41: Probability of events with clopidogrel and rivaroxaban

| Outcome | Probability at 30 days | Probability 30 days to 1 year |
|---------------------|------------------------|-------------------------------|
| STEMI | | |
| All-cause mortality | 4.22% | 2.60% |
| Reinfarction | 2.63% | 3.50% |
| Stroke | 0.34% | 1.14% |
| Major bleed | 3.21% | 9.01% |
| Minor bleed | 1.14% | 3.27% |
| UA/NSTEMI | | |
| All-cause mortality | 1.22% | 2.53% |
| Reinfarction | 0.92% | 2.94% |
| Stroke | 0.12% | 0.60% |
| Major bleed | 2.21% | 5.98% |
| Minor bleed | 0.66% | 1.81% |

The unit costs of the drugs used in this analysis are presented in Table 42. A dose of 2.5mg rivaroxaban twice daily was used.¹⁹ Dosing for aspirin and clopidogrel remained the same as in the base case analysis.

| Drug | Tablet size | Tablets per pack | Cost per pack | Cost per tablet |
|-------------|-------------|------------------|---------------|-----------------|
| Aspirin | 75mg | 28 | £1.84 | £0.07 |
| Clopidogrel | 75mg | 28 | £1.66 | £0.06 |
| Rivaroxaban | 2.5mg | 56 | £50.40 | £0.90 |

Table 42: Unit costs of drugs

Source: NHS Drug Tariff July 202041

The committee highlighted that not everyone who receives clopidogrel receives rivaroxaban and that use is currently low. Therefore, in the model the proportion of people taking clopidogrel that receive rivaroxaban was also incorporated. Relevant national audits do not collect information about the use of low dose rivaroxaban after ACS. Usage was therefore estimated using information from the prescription cost analysis 2019, that reported the numbers of prescriptions for 2.5mg rivaroxaban tablets, combined with an estimate of the ACS population that receive clopidogrel based on national audit data. See Table 43 for details. This suggested an estimated 1.8% of people on clopidogrel may also receive rivaroxaban. Usage was not available by indication and 2.5mg rivaroxaban is also used for another indication and so this may be an overestimate. Low dose rivaroxaban can also be used in people only receiving aspirin and so it may also be the case that some of the low dose rivaroxaban usage is in people who aren't receiving clopidogrel which would also mean this value may be an overestimate. However, as the usage estimate was very low this was used as a conservative estimate of current practice (SA7). The model was also run with everyone receiving rivaroxaban (SA8).

| | Data | Source/assumptions |
|---|--------------|---|
| Number of people with ACS startin | g clopidogre | l per year |
| People with ACS | 92,233 | MINAP (confirmed MI) |
| % discharged on clopidogrel, prasugrel or ticagrelor | 97.5% | MINAP |
| Number discharged on clopidogrel, prasugrel or ticagrelor | 89,927 | Calculated |
| % STEMI | 39% | MINAP |
| % STEMI receiving clopidogrel | 45% | BCIS PCI audit; assume that clopidogrel usage in |
| % UA/NSTEMI receiving clopidogrel | 58% | ACS PCI population is generalisable to overall ACS population. |
| Estimated number of people with ACS starting clopidogrel each year | 47,598 | Calculated |
| Number of people starting low dos | e rivaroxaba | n post ACS per year |
| Prescriptions for 2.5mg rivaroxaban 56 tablets | 10,992 | Prescription Cost Analysis 2019 |
| Estimated number of people starting low dose rivaroxaban per year | 843 | Calculation = number of prescriptions × 56 ÷ (2 × 365) Based on 2 tablets a day for 365 days. As the BNF starts that the usual duration is 12 months this is assumed to approximate the number of people starting rivaroxaban in a year as people will start and stop treatment at the same rate. |
| Estimated % of people on clopidogrel taking rivaroxaban | 1.8% | Calculated Assumes all 2.5mg usage is for post-ACS indication and only people on clopidogrel have |

Table 43: Estimated usage of low dose rivaroxaban after ACS (SA7)

| Data | Source/assumptions |
|------|--|
| | rivaroxaban. BNF also lists low dose rivaroxaban |
| | for people with CAD or symptomatic PAD so this |
| | may be an overestimate. |

Source: Myocardial Ischemia National Audit Project (MINAP) 2019 report (2017/18 data)³²; British Cardiovascular Intervention Society (BCIS) audit returns 2017-18 (PCI data)²⁵; Prescription Cost Analysis 2019⁴²; dosing from British National Formulary (BNF)¹⁹

Abbreviations: PAD = peripheral arterial disease; PCI = percutaneous coronary intervention.

2.4.6 Dyspnoea included in the analysis (SA9)

As discussed in section 2.2.1, the committee highlighted that a considerable amount of people taking ticagrelor will experience breathing difficulties as a side effect. Although this wasn't considered a critical outcome to include in the base case analysis, it was incorporated as part of a sensitivity analysis to test if this impacted conclusions. Real world estimates of baseline risks for dyspnoea were not available for the clopidogrel arm; therefore, estimates from the clinical review were used in order to obtain the probability of experiencing dyspnoea on clopidogrel. The treatment effects were also obtained from the clinical review (Evidence report A), and both the 1 year baseline risk and treatment effect used in the model are shown in Table 44. The same data was used in the STEMI and UA/NSTEMI analyses. There was no data comparing dyspnoea for prasugrel versus clopidogrel, and only 1 study comparing prasugrel and ticagrelor reported dyspnoea; however, this was based on a small number of participants and at an unspecified time point. Therefore, it was assumed that the rates for prasugrel were the same as clopidogrel, and this was considered an appropriate assumption by the committee.

Table 44: Dyspnoea baseline risks and treatment effects

| Time point | Baseline risk with clopidogrel | Treatment effect with ticagrelor (OR, 95% CI) |
|------------|--------------------------------|--|
| 1 year | 7.85% | 1.77 (1.62 to 1.93) |

Abbreviations: 95% CI = 95% confidence interval; OR = odds ratio

Source: Systematic review and meta analyses undertaken as part of guideline (see Evidence report A)

The committee discussed the impact that experiencing breathing difficulties would have on the adult, and it was agreed that some people might discontinue their antiplatelet. However, it was agreed that discontinuation would not be incorporated for modelling purposes. The committee indicated that a small number of people would stop taking ticagrelor or be swapped to another antiplatelet, and it was discussed that the impact this would have on the treatment effects would be captured. Average treatment duration is also captured in the intervention costs. It was also discussed that people will be informed of this side effect, therefore not everyone will seek medical help. However, a proportion of people may see their GP and the committee discussed that this could lead to a range of different management strategies such as requiring blood tests or an asthma review. Therefore, these resource implications should be captured. For modelling purposes, it was agreed to assume that 80% of people experiencing dyspnoea will see their GP, and 30% will have investigative tests conducted by a nurse. The costs used are presented in Table 45.

Table 45: Resource use associated with dyspnoea

| Appointment | Cost | Cost adjusted |
|-----------------------|------------------------|----------------------|
| General practitioner | £37 (per 9.22 minutes) | n/a |
| Nurse (GP practice) | £42 (per hour) | £14 (per 20 minutes) |
| Total cost per person | | £34 |

Source: PSSRU unit costs 2018⁸; assumption that 80% of people would see their GP and 30% will have investigative tests with a nurse.

2.4.7 Clopidogrel loading dose set to 300mg (SA10)

The base case model uses a clopidogrel loading dose of 600mg for costing purposes. However, it is noted that some people may only receive a 300mg loading dose, therefore this was incorporated as a sensitivity analysis to see if this impacted conclusions.

2.4.8 UA/NSTEMI prasugrel arm loading dose (SA11)

In the base case analysis it was assumed that the UA/NSTEMI prasugrel arm would not receive any dual antiplatelet therapy until the decision to undergo PCI was made. This resulted in the model only applying the cost of aspirin for the first 3 days and then a loading dose of prasugrel on day 3, followed by prasugrel for the rest of the duration. This was conducted to be in line with the ISAR-REACT 5 trial. It was discussed that there may be situations in real practice where the patient has already started another antiplatelet, therefore a sensitivity analysis was conducted where a 600mg clopidogrel loading dose was given on day 1 and clopidogrel and aspirin was costed for 3 days, and then they switched to prasugrel and the cost of prasugrel was accounted for beyond 3 days.

2.4.9 Alternative treatment durations in intervention costing (SA12-15)

As discussed in section 2.3.6.1 in the base case treatment duration for those alive at 1 year was based on an estimate from ISAR-REACT 5 of 328 days with the same duration used for all DAPT options. Alternative assumptions regarding treatment duration in the intervention costing were tested in sensitivity analyses.

This included using average treatment duration estimates from TRITON-TIMI 38 and PLATO instead of ISAR-REACT 5. In the base case analysis, the same treatment duration was used for all DAPT options but the estimates for ISAR-REACT 5 were 11 days lower with ticagrelor and so a sensitivity analysis was run using the ISAR-REACT 5 DAPT-specific treatment durations for ticagrelor and prasugrel; treatment duration with clopidogrel was assumed to the same as prasugrel. A sensitivity analysis was also run were people alive at 1 year were assumed to incur a full year of treatment costs.

| | ISAR REACT 5 (base case) | SA12 (TRITON TIMI) | SA13 (PLATO) | SA14 (ISAR-REACT 5 DAPT specific) | SA15 full year |
|-------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------|--------------------------------------|-------------------|
| Clopidogrel | 328 | 302 | 243 | 333 | 365 |
| Prasugrel | 328 | 302 | 243 | 333 | 365 |
| Ticagrelor | 328 | 302 | 243 | 322 | 365 |

Table 46: Treatment durations used for intervention costing in sensitivity analyses

Source: ISAR-REACT 5 - Schulz 2014⁵¹; TRITON-TIMI 38 – Assessment Group report for NICE TA182¹⁵; PLATO – Nikolic 2013⁴³.

2.4.10 Proportion of stroke social care costs that are publicly funded (SA16 – 17)

As described in section 2.3.6.2 the proportion of stroke social care costs that were publicly funded was assumed to be 50%, which was in line with a previous assumption from a published report. This was tested in a sensitivity analysis, by changing the proportion of social care costs that were publicly funded to 70% (SA11) and 30% (SA12), to see if this impacted conclusions on cost-effectiveness.

2.4.11 Bleeding costs (SA18 – 23)

As discussed in section 2.3.6.3, the costs associated with bleeding can vary and previous technology appraisals have used different estimates. Therefore, different estimates were used to explore whether this impacted results. Firstly, the cost of minor bleeding was adjusted to include the cost of a gastrointestinal bleed without interventions, which was the

method adopted by the ticagrelor technology appraisal, and is much higher than the cost used in the base case. Also, the committee noted that a large proportion of bleeds would be gastrointestinal; therefore a sensitivity analysis using this cost was considered appropriate. This cost was obtained from NHS Reference Costs and is shown in Table 47.

Table 47: Cost of minor bleed for sensitivity analysis (SA18)

| Currency code | Currency description | Number of FCE's | National average unit cost |
|------------------|--|-----------------|-------------------------------|
| Non-elective lon | g stay | | |
| FD03H | Gastrointestinal Bleed without Interventions, with CC Score 0-4 | 15,230 | £1,699 |
| Non-elective sho | ort stay | | |
| FD03H | Gastrointestinal Bleed without Interventions, with CC Score 0-4 | 40,952 | £448 |
| Weighted avera | ige | | £731 |

Abbreviations: FCE = finished consultant episode

Source: NHS reference costs 2017/18¹²; non-elective long stay cost includes the cost of excess bed days

The cost of major bleeding was varied, in order to capture the cost of intracranial bleeds. The committee highlighted that gastrointestinal bleeds were more prominent in those taking DAPT, therefore the proportion of major bleeds that were intracranial was tested and set to 10%, 20%, 30% and 40%. These costs were obtained from NHS Reference Costs and are shown in Table 48. The change in the cost of a major bleed applied in the analysis is demonstrated in Table 49.

Table 48: Cost of intracranial bleeds

| Currency code | Currency description | Number of FCE's | National average unit cost |
|------------------|---|--------------------|-------------------------------|
| Non-elective lon | g stay | | |
| AA23C | Haemorrhagic Cerebrovascular Disorders with CC Score 14+ | 1,224 | £7,666 |
| AA23D | Haemorrhagic Cerebrovascular Disorders with CC Score 10-13 | 1,541 | £4,899 |
| AA23E | Haemorrhagic Cerebrovascular Disorders with CC Score 6-9 | 2,160 | £3,957 |
| AA23F | Haemorrhagic Cerebrovascular Disorders with CC Score 3-5 | 1,522 | £3,503 |
| AA23G | Haemorrhagic Cerebrovascular Disorders with CC Score 0-2 | 994 | £3,226 |
| Non-elective sho | ort stay | | |
| AA23C | Haemorrhagic Cerebrovascular Disorders with CC Score 14+ | 344 | £1,038 |
| AA23D | Haemorrhagic Cerebrovascular Disorders with CC Score 10-13 | 777 | £778 |
| AA23E | Haemorrhagic Cerebrovascular Disorders with CC Score 6-9 | 1,668 | £777 |
| AA23F | Haemorrhagic Cerebrovascular Disorders with CC Score 3-5 | 1,755 | £809 |
| AA23G | Haemorrhagic Cerebrovascular Disorders with CC Score 0-2 | 1,471 | £776 |
| Weighted avera | ige | | £2,625 |

Abbreviations: FCE = finished consultant episode

Source: NHS reference costs 2017/18¹²; non-elective long stay costs include the cost of excess bed days

| Sensitivity analysis | Proportion of major bleeds that are intracranial | Cost used in model |
|----------------------|--|--------------------|
| SA19 | 10% | £2,048 |
| SA20 | 20% | £2,141 |
| SA21 | 30% | £2,234 |
| SA22 | 40% | £2,327 |

Table 49: Costs used in major bleeding sensitivity analyses

Lastly, a sensitivity analysis was conducted where both the cost of minor bleeds and major bleeds were adjusted (SA23). This involved using the higher cost of gastrointestinal bleeds for minor bleeds and the assumption that 20% of major bleeds would be intracranial, and these were adjusted simultaneously to see if this impacted results.

2.4.12 Utilities not age-adjusted (SA24)

In the base case analysis, the utility values were age-adjusted in order to account for the fact that as people age their quality of life decreases. Although this is a method that is deemed appropriate and was recommended by the evidence review group report for the rivaroxaban NICE TA, a sensitivity analysis was conducted where the utility values were not adjusted and the mean values described in Table 26 above were used unadjusted. This was conducted for methodological reasons to test if utilities impacted conclusions.

2.4.13 Discount rate (SA25)

In-line with NICE methodological guidance a sensitivity analysis was undertaken where the discount rate was set to 1.5% for costs and outcomes instead of 3.5% to explore whether results were sensitive to the discount rate used.

2.5 Computations

The model was constructed in Microsoft Excel 2010 and was evaluated by cohort simulation. Time dependency was built in by cross referencing the cohorts age as a respective risk factor for mortality. Baseline utility was also time dependent and was conditional on the number of years after entry to the model.

People started in the decision tree in the 'no further event' health state. People moved to the other health states (reinfarction, stroke and dead) based on probabilities of events occurring which was calculated from baseline risks and treatment effects. Those alive at the end of the decision tree at year 1 entered the Markov model and started in cycle 0. The health state they entered was determined by which health state they were in at the end of year 1 in the decision tree. Those that experienced no further event at the end of year 1 entered the 'no further event' health state in the Markov model. Those that had a reinfarction (once or twice) entered the 'post-reinfarction' health state in the Markov model. Once entering the Markov model, transition probabilities from the 'no further event' health state to 'reinfarction' and 'stroke' were based on the baseline risks at 1 year in the decision tree. Mortality transition probabilities varied depending on age, sex and which health state they were in.

Standardised mortality ratios for each health state were applied to mortality rates; which were then converted into transition probabilities for the respective cycle length (1 year) before inputting into the Markov model. These were converted using the following formulae:

| Transition Probability $(P) = 1 - e^{-rt}$ | Where <i>r</i> =selected rate <i>t</i> =cycle length (1 year) |
|--|---|
| | |

To calculate QALYs for each cycle, life years were weighted by a utility value (this was not treatment dependent). A half-cycle correction was applied, assuming that people transitioned between states on average halfway through a cycle. QALYs were then discounted at 3.5% to reflect time preference. QALYs during the first cycle (in the decision tree) were not discounted. The total discounted QALYs were the sum of the discounted QALYs per cycle.

Costs per cycle were calculated on the same basis as QALYs and were discounted at 3.5% to reflect time preference. Each of the health states had specific costs applied.

Discounting formula:

Discounted total =
$$\frac{\text{Total}}{(1+r)^n}$$
 Where:
r=discount rate per annum
n=time (years)

In the deterministic and probabilistic analyses, the total cost and QALYs accrued by each cohort (STEMI and UA/NSTEMI) was divided by the number of patients in the population to calculate a cost per patient and cost per QALY.

2.6 Model validation

The model was developed in consultation with the committee; model structure, inputs and results were presented to and discussed with the committee for clinical validation and interpretation during development.

The model was systematically checked by the health economist undertaking the analysis; this included inputting null and extreme values and checking that results were plausible given inputs. The model was peer reviewed by a second experienced health economist from the NGC; this included systematic checking of the model calculations. The model was also peer reviewed by a health economist at NICE and an executable version of the model with full technical report was made available to registered stakeholders for review at consultation.

2.7 Estimation of cost effectiveness

The widely used cost-effectiveness metric is the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER). This is calculated by dividing the difference in costs associated with 2 alternatives by the difference in QALYs. The decision rule then applied is that if the ICER falls below a given cost per QALY threshold the result is considered to be cost effective. If both costs are lower and QALYs are higher the option is said to dominate and an ICER is not calculated.

 $ICER = \frac{Costs(B) - Costs(A)}{QALYs(B) - QALYs(A)}$

Cost effective if: • ICER < Threshold

Where: Costs(A) = total costs for option A; QALYs(A) = total QALYs for option A

When there are more than 2 comparators, as in this analysis, options must be ranked in order of increasing cost then options ruled out by dominance or extended dominance before calculating ICERs excluding these options. An option is said to be dominated, and ruled out, if another intervention is less costly and more effective. An option is said to be extendedly dominated if a combination of 2 other options would prove to be less costly and more effective.

It is also possible, for a particular cost-effectiveness threshold, to re-express costeffectiveness results in term of net monetary benefit (NMB). This is calculated by multiplying the total QALYs for a comparator by the threshold cost per QALY value (for example, £20,000) and then subtracting the total costs (formula below). The decision rule then applied is that the comparator with the highest NMB is the cost-effective option at the specified threshold. That is the option that provides the highest number of QALYs at an acceptable cost.

Net Monetary Benefit $(X) = (QALYs(X) \times \lambda) - Costs(X)$

Cost effective if:Highest net benefit

```
Where: \lambda = threshold (£20,000 per QALY gained)
```

Both methods of determining cost effectiveness will identify exactly the same optimal strategy.

2.8 Interpreting results

NICE sets out the principles that committees should consider when judging whether an intervention offers good value for money.³⁴⁻³⁶ In general, an intervention was considered to be cost effective if either of the following criteria applied (given that the estimate was considered plausible):

- the intervention dominated other relevant strategies (that is, it was both less costly in terms of resource use and more clinically effective compared with all the other relevant alternative strategies), or
- the intervention cost less than £20,000 per quality-adjusted life-year (QALY) gained compared with the next best strategy.

3 Results

3.1 Base case

Base case analysis results are presented in Table 50 and shown graphically in Figure 6. In addition, scatter plots showing the distribution of cost and QALY pairs from the probabilistic analysis are shown in Figure 7 to Figure 9. Breakdowns of clinical events and costs are presented in Table 51 and Table 52.

As described in the methods (see section 2.3.3), base case results are presented for three scenarios that utilise different data to inform the relative treatment effects at 1 year in the model (all scenarios also use the 30-day NMA to inform the relative treatment effects 0 to 30 days in the model):

- 1. Ticagrelor vs clopidogrel (meta-analysis); prasugrel vs clopidogrel (meta-analysis)
- 2. Prasugrel vs clopidogrel (meta-analysis); ticagrelor versus prasugrel (ISAR-REACT 5)
- 3. Ticagrelor vs clopidogrel (meta-analysis); ticagrelor versus prasugrel (ISAR-REACT 5)

In the base case analysis, the DAPT option that was most cost effective varied depending on the clinical data used to inform the 1 year relative treatment effects. Ticagrelor was the most cost effective DAPT option for both STEMI and UA/NSTEMI when 1 year relative treatment effect in the model was based on studies comparing prasugrel to clopidogrel and ticagrelor to clopidogrel (data scenario 1). Within this scenario, there was low uncertainty in this conclusion, with ticagrelor being the most cost effective option 93%/86% of the time for STEMI and UA/NSTEMI respectively. However, prasugrel was the most cost effective option for both STEMI and UA/NSTEMI when 1 year relative treatment effect data from ISAR-REACT 5 was incorporated in the model (data scenarios 2 and 3). There was low uncertainty in this conclusion within scenario 3 with prasugrel being the most cost effective option 96%/98% of the time for STEMI and UA/NSTEMI and UA/NSTEMI respectively. There was moderate uncertainty within scenario 2 with prasugrel being the most cost effective option 58%/60% of the time, but clopidogrel being the most cost effective option 37%/38% of the time for STEMI and UA/NSTEMI respectively.

Ticagrelor had the highest costs in all scenarios and ACS subgroups but only had the highest QALYs in scenario 1. In scenarios 2 and 3, prasugrel had lower costs than ticagrelor and also higher QALYs; QALYs are greater with prasugrel in these scenarios as when ISAR-REACT 5 was incorporated ticagrelor had a greater number of all clinical events (except minor bleeding) than prasugrel in the first year. Clopidogrel had the lowest costs in all scenarios and had the lowest QALYs in scenarios 1 and 3 for STEMI and UA/NSTEMI; in scenario 2 ticagrelor had the lowest QALYs. The reason ticagrelor had the lowest QALYs in scenario 2 was because 1 year events with ticagrelor were greater than with clopidogrel in this scenario. This scenario inferred the relative treatment effects of ticagrelor versus clopidogrel from the prasugrel versus clopidogrel meta-analysis and the ticagrelor versus prasugrel data. All details of relative treatment effects can be seen in the methods section but for example, at 1 year ticagrelor had greater mortality than prasugrel in the ISAR-REACT 5 trial and prasugrel had the same mortality as clopidogrel in the meta-analysis, therefore using this data ticagrelor had great mortality than clopidogrel.

In all scenarios the main driver of the higher costs with ticagrelor and lower costs with clopidogrel was the intervention costs, as the intervention costs associated with ticagrelor was around £600 more than clopidogrel for both STEMI and UA/NSTEMI. As prasugrel had the second highest intervention costs, this resulted in prasugrel having the second highest lifetime costs.

| Interventio n | Mean lifetime costs undisc | Mean lifetime costs disc | Mean life years | Mean lifetime QALYs Undisc | Mean lifetim e QALY s disc | Incr. cost | Incr. QAL Ys | ICER | NMB (£20k)* | Rank at £20k * | % CE at £20k* | % Rank 2nd at £20k* | % Rank 3rd at £20k* | % CE at £30k** |
|------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------------|--|---------------|--------------------|---------------|----------------|-------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------|------------------------------|----------------------|
| Scenario 1 - | - Ticagrelo | r vs clopid | ogrel (me | ta-analysis | s); prasug | grel vs c | lopidog | rel (meta-ana | lysis) | | | | | |
| STEMI | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,068 | £17,336 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,149 |) 3 | 3 0% | 40% | 60% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,137 | £17,385 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £49 | 0.01 | £3,507 | 2 £111,381 | 2 | 2 7% | 54% | 40% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,299 | £18,387 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £1,002 | 2 0.13 | £7,455 | £113,067 | 1 | 93% | 7% | 0% | 96% |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,327 | £14,854 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,954 | . 3 | 3 0% | 40% | 60% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,370 | £14,892 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £38 | 8 0.01 | £4,510 | £114,085 | 5 2 | 2 14% | 46% | 39% | 7% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,216 | £15,665 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £774 | 0.07 | £10,424 | £114,795 | 5 1 | 86% | 14% | 0% | 93% |
| Scenario 2 - | - Prasugrel | vs clopido | ogrel (met | ta-analysis |); ticagre | lor vers | us pras | ugrel (ISAR-R | EACT 5) | | | | | |
| STEMI | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,115 | £17,368 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,106 | 6 2 | 2 37% | 58% | 5% | 36% |
| Prasugrel | £23,188 | £17,420 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £52 | 2 0.01 | £3,615 | 5 £111,343 | 3 1 | 58% | 36% | 6% | 58% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,303 | £17,702 | 12.75 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £282 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,887 | ' 3 | 3 5% | 6% | 90% | 6% |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,359 | £14,874 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,936 | 6 2 | 2 38% | 60% | 2% | 37% |
| Prasugrel | £19,403 | £14,914 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £39 | 0.01 | £4,525 | £114,071 | 1 | 60% | 37% | 4% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,810 | £15,386 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £472 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,732 | 2 3 | 3 2% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| Scenario 3 - | - Ticagrelo | r vs clopid | ogrel (me | ta-analysis | s); ticagre | elor vers | sus pras | ugrel (ISAR-F | REACT 5) | | | | | |
| STEMI | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,101 | £17,362 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,091 | 3 | 3 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,996 | £17,983 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.67 | £620 | 0.25 | £2,469 | £115,495 | 5 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,331 | £18,413 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £430 | -0.10 | Dominated | £112,994 | - 2 | 2 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |

 Table 50: Base case analysis results (probabilistic analysis) – cost effectiveness results (mean per person)

UA/NSTEMI

| O/ VINO I LIVII | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------|---------|---------|-------|------|------|------|-------|-----------|----------|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| Clopidogrel | £19,374 | £14,890 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,893 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,774 | £15,175 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.58 | £286 | 0.14 | £1,979 | £116,493 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,262 | £15,701 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £526 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,727 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 1% | 3% |

Abbreviations: CE = cost effective; disc. = discounted; Incr. = incremental; NMB = net monetary benefit; QALY = quality-adjusted life years; undisc = undiscounted; £20K = a threshold of £20,000 per QALY gained; £30K = a threshold of £30,000 per QALY gained.

Note: Incremental costs and QALYs are versus the comparator with the next lowest costs (the previous line in the table) unless that option has been ruled out by extended dominance in which case they are compared to the option with the lowest costs (the first line in the table).

6.35

6.45

6 5 5

Mean QALYs

6.65

6.75



Figure 6: Base case results (probabilistic analysis)

Abbreviations: clop = clopidogrel; pras = prasugrel; tic = ticagrelor; QALYs: guality-adjusted life years.

Mean QALYs







Figure 8: Base case results (probabilistic analysis) for scenario 2 – prasugrel vs clopidogrel (meta-analysis); ticagrelor versus prasugrel (ISAR-REACT 5) scatter plots



Figure 9: Base case results (probabilistic analysis) for scenario 3 – ticagrelor vs clopidogrel (meta-analysis); ticagrelor versus prasugrel (ISAR-REACT 5) scatter plots

| Intervention | Reinfarction | | | | Stroke | | | Major bleed | | | Minor bleed | | | |
|--|----------------|---------------------|----------------|-------------|----------------|---------------------|----------------|-------------|----------------|---------------------|-------------|----------------|---------------------|-------|
| | 0 – 30 days | 31 days – 1 year | Post 1 year | Total | 0 – 30 days | 31 days – 1 year | Post 1 year | Total | 0 – 30 days | 31 days – 1 year | Total | 0 – 30 days | 31 days – 1 year | Total |
| Scenario 1 – Ticagrelor vs clopidogrel (meta-analysis); prasugrel vs clopidogrel (meta-analysis) | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| STEMI | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | 29.1 | 36.5 | 342.0 | 407.6 | 3.0 | 9.5 | 89.6 | 102.0 | 9.4 | 25.3 | 34.6 | 7.1 | 19.1 | 26.2 |
| Prasugrel | 23.4 | 26.5 | 348.6 | 398.5 | 2.5 | 9.1 | 91.3 | 102.9 | 9.3 | 39.4 | 48.7 | 5.2 | 46.7 | 51.9 |
| Ticagrelor | 20.1 | 34.3 | 354.1 | 408.5 | 3.8 | 10.2 | 92.8 | 106.8 | 9.4 | 26.6 | 36.0 | 9.0 | 26.4 | 35.5 |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | 10.2 | 32.1 | 326.0 | 368.3 | 1.1 | 5.2 | 52.9 | 59.1 | 6.4 | 17.4 | 23.8 | 4.1 | 11.0 | 15.1 |
| Prasugrel | 8.2 | 23.8 | 329.8 | 361.8 | 0.9 | 4.9 | 53.5 | 59.3 | 6.4 | 27.2 | 33.6 | 3.0 | 27.4 | 30.4 |
| Ticagrelor | 7.0 | 27.9 | 332.6 | 367.5 | 1.4 | 5.7 | 53.5 | 60.5 | 6.4 | 18.3 | 24.7 | 5.2 | 15.3 | 20.5 |
| Scenario 2 – I | Prasugrel | vs clopic | dogrel (me | ta-analysis | s); ticagrelo | or versus p | orasugrel | (ISAR-RE | EACT 5) | | | | | |
| STEMI | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | 29.2 | 36.4 | 341.7 | 407.4 | 3.0 | 9.5 | 89.7 | 102.2 | 9.4 | 25.2 | 34.6 | 7.1 | 19.1 | 26.1 |
| Prasugrel | 23.6 | 26.4 | 348.3 | 398.3 | 2.5 | 9.2 | 91.4 | 103.1 | 9.3 | 39.4 | 48.7 | 5.3 | 46.9 | 52.2 |
| Ticagrelor | 20.2 | 58.9 | 327.6 | 406.7 | 3.8 | 9.6 | 86.0 | 99.4 | 9.4 | 41.9 | 51.3 | 9.0 | 26.4 | 35.4 |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | 10.2 | 32.0 | 325.4 | 367.6 | 1.1 | 5.2 | 52.9 | 59.1 | 6.5 | 17.3 | 23.8 | 4.1 | 11.1 | 15.1 |
| Prasugrel | 8.2 | 23.8 | 329.2 | 361.2 | 0.9 | 4.9 | 53.5 | 59.3 | 6.4 | 27.2 | 33.7 | 3.1 | 27.6 | 30.7 |
| Ticagrelor | 7.0 | 44.1 | 317.5 | 368.7 | 1.4 | 5.3 | 53.5 | 60.2 | 6.5 | 29.0 | 35.5 | 5.3 | 15.4 | 20.6 |
| Scenario 3 – | Ticagrelo | r vs clopi | dogrel (me | ta-analysi | s); Ticagre | lor versus | prasugre | I (ISAR-R | EACT 5) | | | | | |
| STEMI | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | 29.1 | 36.4 | 341.8 | 407.3 | 3.0 | 9.5 | 89.6 | 102.1 | 9.4 | 25.2 | 34.6 | 7.1 | 19.1 | 26.1 |
| Prasugrel | 23.4 | 10.7 | 368.1 | 402.1 | 2.5 | 9.6 | 96.5 | 108.6 | 9.3 | 24.6 | 33.9 | 5.2 | 46.1 | 51.3 |
| Ticagrelor | 20.1 | 34.3 | 353.8 | 408.2 | 3.8 | 10.3 | 92.8 | 106.8 | 9.4 | 26.6 | 36.0 | 9.0 | 26.4 | 35.4 |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Table 51: Base case analysis results (probabilistic analysis) – events per 1000

| Intervention | Reinfarction | | | | Stroke | | Major b | leed | | Minor bleed | | | | |
|--------------|--------------|------|-------|-------|--------|-----|---------|------|-----|-------------|------|-----|------|------|
| Clopidogrel | 10.2 | 32.0 | 325.3 | 367.4 | 1.1 | 5.2 | 52.9 | 59.2 | 6.4 | 17.4 | 23.8 | 4.1 | 11.0 | 15.1 |
| Prasugrel | 8.2 | 13.5 | 339.8 | 361.5 | 0.9 | 5.2 | 55.3 | 61.4 | 6.4 | 16.9 | 23.3 | 3.0 | 27.2 | 30.3 |
| Ticagrelor | 7.0 | 27.9 | 331.8 | 366.7 | 1.4 | 5.7 | 55.3 | 62.3 | 6.4 | 18.3 | 24.8 | 5.2 | 15.4 | 20.6 |

Table 52: Base case analysis results (probabilistic analysis) – cost breakdown (mean per person)

| | 0 – 1 year | | | | | | | r | | Total costs | |
|--------------|--------------------|------------------|------------------|--------------|----------------|----------------|------------------|--------------|--------|------------------|----------------|
| | Intervention costs | No further event | Reinfarction | Stroke | Major bleed | Minor bleed | No further event | Reinfarction | Stroke | Undiscoun ted | Discounte d |
| Scenario 1 - | - Ticagrelor ve | s clopidogre | l (meta-analysis | s); prasug | rel vs clopid | ogrel (meta | a-analysis) | | | | |
| STEMI | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £38 | £1,450 | £307 | £184 | £68 | £5 | £7,128 | £6,274 | £7,614 | £23,068 | £17,336 |
| Prasugrel | £104 | £1,478 | £235 | £170 | £95 | £9 | £7,264 | £6,120 | £7,661 | £23,137 | £17,385 |
| Ticagrelor | £624 | £1,484 | £252 | £209 | £70 | £6 | £7,379 | £6,288 | £7,986 | £24,299 | £18,387 |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £40 | £1,559 | £193 | £91 | £47 | £3 | £8,084 | £5,256 | £4,056 | £19,327 | £14,854 |
| Prasugrel | £107 | £1,570 | £146 | £84 | £66 | £5 | £8,178 | £5,152 | £4,061 | £19,370 | £14,892 |
| Ticagrelor | £646 | £1,574 | £158 | £103 | £48 | £4 | £8,248 | £5,240 | £4,194 | £20,216 | £15,665 |
| Scenario 2 - | - Prasugrel vs | clopidogrel | (meta-analysis | s); ticagrel | or versus pr | asugrel (IS | AR-REACT | 5) | | | |
| STEMI | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £38 | £1,449 | £308 | £184 | £68 | £5 | £7,124 | £6,321 | £7,618 | £23,115 | £17,368 |
| Prasugrel | £104 | £1,477 | £235 | £171 | £95 | £9 | £7,260 | £6,166 | £7,671 | £23,188 | £17,420 |
| Ticagrelor | £613 | £1,453 | £360 | £199 | £100 | £6 | £6,830 | £6,325 | £7,417 | £23,303 | £17,702 |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £40 | £1,557 | £192 | £91 | £47 | £3 | £8,085 | £5,289 | £4,055 | £19,359 | £14,874 |
| Prasugrel | £107 | £1,569 | £146 | £85 | £66 | £5 | £8,178 | £5,185 | £4,063 | £19,403 | £14,914 |
| Ticagrelor | £640 | £1,554 | £229 | £99 | £69 | £4 | £7,891 | £5,318 | £4,006 | £19,810 | £15,386 |
| Scenario 3 - | - Ticagrelor ve | s clopidogre | l (meta-analysis | s); Ticagre | elor versus p | rasugrel (I | SAR-REACT | 5) | | | |
| STEMI | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £38 | £1,452 | £307 | £184 | £68 | £5 | £7,165 | £6,268 | £7,613 | £23,101 | £17,362 |
| Prasugrel | £105 | £1,503 | £166 | £177 | £66 | £9 | £7,714 | £6,168 | £8,087 | £23,996 | £17,983 |

| | 0 – 1 year | | | | | Post 1 yea | ır | | Total costs | | |
|-------------|------------|--------|------|------|-----|------------|--------|--------|-------------|---------|---------|
| Ticagrelor | £624 | £1,486 | £252 | £209 | £70 | £6 | £7,416 | £6,281 | £7,985 | £24,331 | £18,413 |
| UA/NSTEMI | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £40 | £1,561 | £192 | £91 | £47 | £3 | £8,132 | £5,250 | £4,058 | £19,374 | £14,890 |
| Prasugrel | £108 | £1,587 | £101 | £88 | £46 | £5 | £8,494 | £5,142 | £4,204 | £19,774 | £15,175 |
| Ticagrelor | £646 | £1,576 | £158 | £103 | £48 | £4 | £8,296 | £5,233 | £4,197 | £20,262 | £15,701 |

3.2 Sensitivity analyses

In addition to probabilistic analysis to assess uncertainty, a range of one-way and scenario sensitivity analyses were undertaken (described in section 2.4) including varying the baseline risk of stroke, inclusion of stroke treatment effects, inclusion of dyspnoea as a side effect, varying bleeding and stroke costs, varying dosing assumptions, incorporation of post-ACS rivaroxaban use, varying event-related mortality in the extrapolation model, varying the baseline risk of stroke and reinfarction to account for overestimation of people alive with an event and varying intervention costing assumptions. Results from the sensitivity analyses are presented for scenario 1 in Table 53 (STEMI) and Table 54 (UA/NSTEMI), for scenario 2 in Table 55 (STEMI) and Table 56 (UA/NSTEMI) and for scenario 3 in Table 57 (STEMI) and Table 58 (UA/NSTEMI).

Conclusions about which DAPT option was the most cost effective were unchanged in most sensitivity analyses in all three scenarios and uncertainty remained similar. In the exploratory sensitivity analyses where adjunctive rivaroxaban use post-ACS was incorporated into the clopidogrel group, in some cases relative costs and QALYs between comparators, and conclusions about cost effectiveness changed, although this depended on the proportion of people assumed to receive rivaroxaban. When it was assumed everyone in the clopidogrel group also received rivaroxaban post-ACS, the clopidogrel group had the highest costs in all scenarios (due to the increase in intervention costs of also having rivaroxaban). QALYs were also increased due to the additional treatment effects of rivaroxaban. In scenarios 1 and 2, QALYs with clopidogrel (incorporating rivaroxaban) were higher than with prasugrel or ticagrelor and clopidogrel became the most cost effective option. In scenario 3, QALYs with clopidogrel were still lower than prasugrel for both STEMI and UA/NSTEMI and so the clopidogrel option was still not cost effective as it was dominated (higher costs and lower QALYs than an alternative). Uncertainty remained low in this analysis with prasugrel being the most cost effective option in 83%/92% of simulations for STEMI and UA/NSTEMI respectively. When rivaroxaban usage was assumed to be 1.8% (as estimated current practice is among people receiving clopidogrel) conclusions about which DAPT option was the most cost effective remained the same as in the base case analysis; uncertainty also remained similar.

| | Maan | Meen | | Maan | Maan | Inen | | | | Denle | 0/ | 0/ | 0/ | |
|---------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|---------------|--------------------|----------------------|---------------|--------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------|
| Intervention | Mean lifetime costs undisc | Mean lifetime costs disc | Mean life years | Mean lifetime QALYs undisc | Mean lifetime QALYs disc | incr. cost | Incr. QALY s | ICER | NMВ (£20k) | Rank at £20k | % CE at £20k | % Rank 2nd at £20k | % Rank 3rd at £20k | % CE at £30k |
| Base case an | alysis | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,068 | £17,336 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,149 | 3 | 0% | 40% | 60% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,137 | £17,385 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £49 | 0.01 | £3,507 | £111,381 | 2 | 7% | 54% | 40% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,299 | £18,387 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £1,002 | 0.13 | £7,455 | £113,067 | 1 | 93% | 7% | 0% | 96% |
| Baseline risk | S | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA1: Stroke b | baseline ris | ks adjuste | d based o | on PLATO | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,714 | £14,995 | 13.08 | 8.36 | 6.47 | | | | £114,418 | 3 | 0% | 38% | 62% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,763 | £15,034 | 13.11 | 8.38 | 6.49 | £39 | 0.02 | £2,408 | £114,701 | 2 | 6% | 56% | 38% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,786 | £15,932 | 13.38 | 8.56 | 6.62 | £898 | 0.13 | £6,726 | £116,474 | 1 | 94% | 6% | 0% | 96% |
| SA2: Include | baseline ris | sk adjustm | ent | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £21,845 | £16,419 | 13.17 | 8.38 | 6.48 | | | | £113,196 | 3 | 0% | 37% | 63% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £21,911 | £16,469 | 13.20 | 8.40 | 6.50 | £50 | 0.02 | £3,031 | £113,477 | 2 | 8% | 55% | 37% | 5% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,014 | £17,426 | 13.48 | 8.58 | 6.63 | £957 | 0.13 | £7,173 | £115,188 | 1 | 92% | 7% | 0% | 95% |
| SA3: Reduce | SMR for A | CS/Reinfar | ction by 2 | 20% | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £24,704 | £18,279 | 14.18 | 8.97 | 6.83 | | | | £118,223 | 3 | 0% | 40% | 60% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,775 | £18,329 | 14.20 | 8.99 | 6.84 | £50 | 0.01 | £3,648 | £118,448 | 2 | 7% | 53% | 40% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £25,968 | £19,350 | 14.51 | 9.18 | 6.98 | £1,020 | 0.14 | £7,158 | £120,278 | 1 | 93% | 7% | 0% | 96% |
| Treatment eff | ects | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA4: Stroke t | reatment ef | fect exclue | ded | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,102 | £17,358 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,095 | 3 | 0% | 42% | 58% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,239 | £17,462 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £104 | 0.01 | Extendedly dominated | £111,261 | 2 | 4% | 54% | 42% | 3% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,206 | £18,309 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £951 | 0.15 | £6,319 | £113,154 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 97% |
| SA5: Ticagrel | or's stroke | treatment | effect no | t included | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,070 | £17,338 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,146 | 3 | 0% | 38% | 62% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,141 | £17,388 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £51 | 0.02 | £3,203 | £111,412 | 2 | 5% | 56% | 38% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,169 | £18,285 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £896 | 0.13 | £6,726 | £113,181 | 1 | 95% | 5% | 0% | 96% |
| SA6: Prasugr | el's stroke | treatment | effect not | included | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,122 | £17,375 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,100 | 3 | 0% | 42% | 57% | 0% |

Table 53: Sensitivity analyses results for scenario 1: STEMI population (probabilistic analysis, per person results)

| Prasugrel | £23,259 | £17,478 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £103 | 0.01 | Extendedly dominated | £111,260 | 2 | 6% | 51% | 42% | 4% |
|----------------|-------------|---------------|----------|-------------|------------|--------|------|----------------------|----------|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| Ticagrelor | £24,351 | £18,424 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £1,050 | 0.15 | £7,071 | £113,020 | 1 | 94% | 6% | 0% | 96% |
| SA7: Rivaroxa | aban treatm | nent effect i | included | (current pr | actice usa | ige) | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,119 | £17,374 | 13.06 | 8.30 | 6.43 | | | | £111,233 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,163 | £17,402 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £27 | 0.01 | £2,220 | £111,451 | 2 | 7% | 53% | 39% | 5% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,318 | £18,399 | 13.36 | 8.49 | 6.58 | £998 | 0.13 | £7,529 | £113,104 | 1 | 93% | 7% | 0% | 95% |
| SA8: Rivaroxa | aban treatm | nent effect i | included | (100% usag | ge) | | | | | | | | | |
| Prasugrel | £23,213 | £17,437 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | | | | £111,334 | 3 | 1% | 8% | 90% | 1% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,383 | £18,446 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £1,008 | 0.13 | Extendedly dominated | £112,996 | 2 | 20% | 73% | 7% | 19% |
| Clopidogrel | £24,726 | £18,741 | 13.49 | 8.56 | 6.64 | £1,304 | 0.20 | £6,637 | £113,959 | 1 | 78% | 19% | 3% | 80% |
| SA9: Dyspnoe | ea included | in analysis | S | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,052 | £17,324 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,134 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,126 | £17,377 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £53 | 0.01 | £3,616 | £111,375 | 2 | 7% | 54% | 38% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,286 | £18,378 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £1,001 | 0.13 | £7,481 | £113,049 | 1 | 93% | 7% | 0% | 96% |
| Intervention c | osts | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA10: Clopide | ogrel 300m | g loading d | ose | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,006 | £17,289 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,202 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,075 | £17,338 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £49 | 0.01 | £3,351 | £111,444 | 2 | 8% | 53% | 39% | 5% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,237 | £18,341 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £1,003 | 0.13 | £7,520 | £113,109 | 1 | 92% | 8% | 0% | 95% |
| SA12: Treatm | ent duratio | n based on | TRITON | ТІМІ | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,124 | £17,376 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,094 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,190 | £17,421 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £45 | 0.02 | £2,916 | £111,360 | 2 | 6% | 55% | 38% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,308 | £18,381 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £959 | 0.13 | £7,224 | £113,057 | 1 | 94% | 6% | 0% | 96% |
| SA13: Treatm | ent duratio | n based on | PLATO | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,084 | £17,345 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,146 | 3 | 0% | 38% | 62% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,145 | £17,384 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £39 | 0.02 | £2,469 | £111,421 | 2 | 5% | 57% | 38% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,163 | £18,245 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £861 | 0.13 | £6,499 | £113,211 | 1 | 95% | 5% | 0% | 96% |
| SA14: Treatm | ent duratio | n DAPT sp | ecific | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,081 | £17,344 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,153 | 3 | 0% | 38% | 62% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,157 | £17,399 | 13.09 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £55 | 0.02 | £3,135 | £111,446 | 2 | 8% | 55% | 38% | 5% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,301 | £18,384 | 13.36 | 8.49 | 6.57 | £986 | 0.13 | £7,501 | £113,089 | 1 | 92% | 8% | 0% | 95% |
| SA15: Treatm | ent duratio | n full year | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,158 | £17,402 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,097 | 3 | 0% | 40% | 60% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,228 | £17,453 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £51 | 0.01 | £3,614 | £111,326 | 2 | 8% | 52% | 40% | 5% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,452 | £18,517 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £1,064 | 0.13 | £7,930 | £112,945 | 1 | 92% | 8% | 0% | 95% |

| Event costs | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------|--------------|---------------|------------|--------------|-----------|--------|------|--------|----------|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| SA16: Percent | tage stroke | social care | e costs p | ublicly fund | led - 30% | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £21,321 | £16,154 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £112,331 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £21,389 | £16,206 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £52 | 0.02 | £3,414 | £112,581 | 2 | 6% | 55% | 39% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £22,460 | £17,141 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £935 | 0.13 | £7,014 | £114,313 | 1 | 94% | 6% | 0% | 96% |
| SA17: Percent | tage stroke | e social care | e costs p | ublicly fund | led - 70% | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £24,833 | £18,527 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £109,954 | 3 | 0% | 40% | 60% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,910 | £18,580 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £53 | 0.01 | £3,633 | £110,192 | 2 | 8% | 52% | 40% | 5% |
| Ticagrelor | £26,154 | £19,642 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £1,062 | 0.13 | £7,939 | £111,805 | 1 | 92% | 8% | 0% | 95% |
| SA18: Minor b | leeding co | sts set to C | Gi bleed | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,156 | £17,401 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.43 | | | | £111,103 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,250 | £17,473 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £72 | 0.02 | £4,312 | £111,364 | 2 | 8% | 54% | 39% | 5% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,391 | £18,457 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £984 | 0.13 | £7,515 | £112,999 | 1 | 92% | 8% | 0% | 95% |
| SA19: Major b | leeding co | sts includir | ng intracr | anial bleeds | s (10%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,085 | £17,348 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,141 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,160 | £17,402 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £54 | 0.02 | £3,542 | £111,393 | 2 | 7% | 54% | 39% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,317 | £18,400 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £998 | 0.13 | £7,507 | £113,054 | 1 | 93% | 7% | 0% | 96% |
| SA20: Major b | leeding co | sts includir | ng intracr | anial bleeds | s (20%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,131 | £17,382 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,107 | 3 | 0% | 40% | 60% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,200 | £17,431 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £49 | 0.01 | £3,467 | £111,342 | 2 | 7% | 53% | 40% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,361 | £18,433 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £1,002 | 0.13 | £7,463 | £113,025 | 1 | 93% | 7% | 0% | 96% |
| SA21: Intracra | anial bleeds | s set to 30% | 6 of majo | r bleeds | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,090 | £17,356 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,088 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,164 | £17,410 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £54 | 0.01 | £3,679 | £111,326 | 2 | 7% | 54% | 39% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,324 | £18,410 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £1,000 | 0.13 | £7,455 | £113,008 | 1 | 93% | 7% | 0% | 96% |
| SA22: Intracra | anial bleeds | s set to 40% | 6 of majo | r bleeds | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,115 | £17,371 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,119 | 3 | 0% | 40% | 60% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,185 | £17,423 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £52 | 0.01 | £3,804 | £111,340 | 2 | 7% | 53% | 40% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,343 | £18,420 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £998 | 0.13 | £7,429 | £113,028 | 1 | 93% | 7% | 0% | 96% |
| SA23: Higher | minor and | major bleed | ding cost | s (intracran | ial 20%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,060 | £17,335 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,143 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,148 | £17,403 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £68 | 0.02 | £4,498 | £111,376 | 2 | 7% | 54% | 39% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,296 | £18,391 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £989 | 0.13 | £7,402 | £113,059 | 1 | 93% | 7% | 0% | 96% |
| Methods | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA24: Utilities | s not age-ad | djusted | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,060 | £17,327 | 13.05 | 10.76 | 8.27 | | | | £148,121 | 3 | 0% | 38% | 62% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,133 | £17,379 | 13.08 | 10.79 | 8.29 | £52 | 0.02 | £2,590 | £148,470 | 2 | 5% | 56% | 38% | 4% |

| Ticagrelor | £24,284 | £18,373 | 13.36 | 11.01 | 8.46 | £994 | 0.17 | £5,826 | £150,889 | 1 | 95% | 5% | 0% | 96% |
|--------------|--------------|---------|-------|-------|------|--------|------|--------|----------|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| SA25: Discou | nt rate 1.5% | 6 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,071 | £20,266 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 7.38 | | | | £127,424 | 3 | 0% | 38% | 62% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,150 | £20,333 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 7.40 | £67 | 0.02 | £3,274 | £127,765 | 2 | 7% | 55% | 38% | 5% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,299 | £21,406 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 7.56 | £1,073 | 0.15 | £7,088 | £129,720 | 1 | 93% | 7% | 0% | 95% |

Abbreviations: CE = cost effective; disc. = discounted; Incr. = incremental; NMB = net monetary benefit; QALY = quality-adjusted life years; £20K = a threshold of £20,000 per QALY gained; \pounds 30K = a threshold of \pounds 30,000 per QALY gained.

Note: SA11 is for the UA/NSTEMI population only and so does not appear in this table. Incremental costs and QALYs are versus the comparator with the next lowest costs (the previous line in the table) unless that option has been ruled out by extended dominance in which case they are compared to the option with the lowest costs (the first line in the table).

| Table 54: Sensitivity analyses results for scenario 1: UA/NSTEMI population (probabilistic analysis, per person results) | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|--|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|-----|------|---|---|---|
| Intervention | Mean | Mean | Mean | Mean | Mean | Incr | Incr | ICER | NMR | Rank | % | % | % |

| Intervention | Mean lifetime costs undisc | Mean lifetime costs disc | Mean life years | Mean lifetime QALYs Undisc | Mean lifetime QALYs disc | Incr. cost | Incr. QALY s | ICER | NMB (£20k) | Rank at £20k | % CE at £20k | % Rank 2nd at £20k | % Rank 3rd at | % CE at £30k |
|----------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|---------------|--------------------|---------|---------------|--------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------|------------------------|--------------------|
| | | | | | | | | | | | | ~ | £20k | |
| Base case ana | alysis | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,327 | £14,854 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,954 | 3 | 0% | 40% | 60% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,370 | £14,892 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £38 | 0.01 | £4,510 | £114,085 | 2 | 14% | 46% | 39% | 7% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,216 | £15,665 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £774 | 0.07 | £10,424 | £114,795 | 1 | 86% | 14% | 0% | 93% |
| Baseline risks | ; | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA1: Stroke b | aseline ris | ks adjuste | d based o | on PLATO | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £16,976 | £13,193 | 12.98 | 8.26 | 6.48 | | | | £116,322 | 3 | 0% | 38% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £17,018 | £13,233 | 13.00 | 8.28 | 6.49 | £40 | 0.01 | £4,244 | £116,471 | 2 | 12% | 50% | 38% | 6% |
| Ticagrelor | £17,784 | £13,945 | 13.15 | 8.37 | 6.56 | £712 | 0.07 | £9,640 | £117,236 | 1 | 88% | 12% | 0% | 94% |
| SA2: Include b | paseline ris | sk adjustm | ent | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £18,676 | £14,393 | 12.96 | 8.22 | 6.45 | | | | £114,574 | 3 | 0% | 38% | 62% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £18,722 | £14,433 | 12.98 | 8.24 | 6.46 | £41 | 0.01 | £4,098 | £114,732 | 2 | 15% | 48% | 37% | 8% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,541 | £15,186 | 13.13 | 8.33 | 6.53 | £753 | 0.07 | £10,301 | £115,441 | 1 | 85% | 14% | 1% | 92% |
| SA3: Reduce | SMR for AC | CS/Reinfar | ction by 2 | 20% | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £20,900 | £15,781 | 14.14 | 8.92 | 6.87 | | | | £121,633 | 3 | 0% | 40% | 60% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £20,943 | £15,819 | 14.16 | 8.94 | 6.88 | £38 | 0.01 | £4,492 | £121,763 | 2 | 12% | 48% | 40% | 7% |
| Ticagrelor | £21,806 | £16,602 | 14.33 | 9.04 | 6.96 | £784 | 0.08 | £9,904 | £122,562 | 1 | 87% | 12% | 0% | 93% |
| Treatment effe | ects | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA4: Stroke tr | eatment ef | fect exclue | ded | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,357 | £14,872 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,910 | 3 | 0% | 41% | 58% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,433 | £14,937 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £65 | 0.01 | £8,003 | £114,008 | 2 | 10% | 48% | 41% | 5% |
|----------------|---------------|-------------|------------|---------------|-----------|------|------|-------------------------|----------|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| Ticagrelor | £20,182 | £15,633 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £696 | 0.08 | £9,199 | £114,825 | 1 | 90% | 10% | 0% | 95% |
| SA5: Ticagrelo | or's stroke | treatment | effect not | included | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,330 | £14,854 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,963 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,373 | £14,893 | 12.97 | 8.23 | 6.45 | £39 | 0.01 | £4,091 | £114,114 | 2 | 12% | 50% | 39% | 6% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,152 | £15,613 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £720 | 0.07 | £9,793 | £114,864 | 1 | 88% | 12% | 0% | 94% |
| SA6: Prasugre | el's stroke t | treatment e | effect not | included | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,374 | £14,887 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,911 | 3 | 0% | 42% | 58% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,450 | £14,952 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £65 | 0.01 | £8,145 | £114,006 | 2 | 13% | 45% | 42% | 7% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,261 | £15,698 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £746 | 0.07 | £9,980 | £114,754 | 1 | 87% | 13% | 0% | 93% |
| SA7: Rivaroxa | ban treatm | ent effect | included | (current pra | ctice usa | ge) | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,376 | £14,891 | 12.96 | 8.22 | 6.44 | | | | £113,994 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,401 | £14,912 | 12.97 | 8.23 | 6.45 | £21 | 0.01 | £2,837 | £114,123 | 2 | 15% | 47% | 39% | 8% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,243 | £15,684 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £771 | 0.07 | £10,552 | £114,814 | 1 | 85% | 14% | 1% | 92% |
| SA8: Rivaroxa | ban treatm | ent effect | included | (100% usage | e) | | | | | | | | | |
| Prasugrel | £19,438 | £14,938 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | | | | £114,026 | 3 | 4% | 14% | 82% | 1% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,287 | £15,715 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £777 | 0.07 | Extendedly dominated | £114,726 | 2 | 22% | 65% | 13% | 21% |
| Clopidogrel | £20,466 | £15,874 | 13.19 | 8.36 | 6.55 | £936 | 0.10 | £8,939 | £115,184 | 1 | 74% | 21% | 6% | 77% |
| SA9: Dyspnoe | a included | in analysis | S | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,310 | £14,841 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,944 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,355 | £14,881 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £40 | 0.01 | £4,566 | £114,080 | 2 | 14% | 48% | 38% | 8% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,200 | £15,654 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £774 | 0.07 | £10,469 | £114,784 | 1 | 86% | 14% | 0% | 92% |
| Intervention c | osts | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA10: Clopido | grel 300mg | g loading d | ose | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,272 | £14,811 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,997 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,315 | £14,849 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £38 | 0.01 | £4,353 | £114,133 | 2 | 14% | 47% | 39% | 8% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,160 | £15,623 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £774 | 0.07 | £10,507 | £114,833 | 1 | 85% | 14% | 0% | 92% |
| SA11: UA/NST | EMI prasu | grel arm re | ceiving c | lopidogrel lo | oading do | ose | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,357 | £14,875 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,922 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,401 | £14,914 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £39 | 0.01 | £4,262 | £114,065 | 2 | 15% | 46% | 39% | 8% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,246 | £15,687 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £773 | 0.07 | £10,541 | £114,759 | 1 | 85% | 15% | 1% | 92% |
| SA12: Treatmo | ent duratio | n based on | TRITON | ТІМІ | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,382 | £14,893 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,909 | 3 | 0% | 38% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,420 | £14,926 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £33 | 0.01 | £3,585 | £114,061 | 2 | 14% | 48% | 38% | 7% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,223 | £15,657 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £731 | 0.07 | £9,958 | £114,798 | 1 | 86% | 14% | 0% | 93% |
| SA13: Treatme | ent duratio | n based on | PLATO | | | | | | | | | | | |

| Clopidogrel | £19,338 | £14,858 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,948 | 3 | 0% | 37% | 63% | 0% |
|----------------|--------------|--------------|------------|---------------|----------|------|------|---------|----------|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| Prasugrel | £19,367 | £14,883 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £24 | 0.01 | £2,569 | £114,112 | 2 | 9% | 53% | 37% | 5% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,071 | £15,515 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £632 | 0.07 | £8,638 | £114,943 | 1 | 91% | 9% | 0% | 95% |
| SA14: Treatme | ent duratio | n DAPT spe | ecific | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,342 | £14,863 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,954 | 3 | 0% | 38% | 62% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,389 | £14,904 | 12.98 | 8.23 | 6.45 | £41 | 0.01 | £3,971 | £114,119 | 2 | 15% | 47% | 38% | 8% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,218 | £15,662 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £758 | 0.07 | £10,456 | £114,812 | 1 | 85% | 14% | 0% | 92% |
| SA15: Treatme | ent duratio | n full year | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,414 | £14,918 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,904 | 3 | 1% | 41% | 59% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,460 | £14,960 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £42 | 0.01 | £5,028 | £114,030 | 2 | 16% | 43% | 40% | 9% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,368 | £15,795 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £835 | 0.07 | £11,271 | £114,677 | 1 | 83% | 16% | 1% | 91% |
| Event costs | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA16: Percent | age stroke | social car | e costs p | ublicly fund | ed - 30% | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £18,423 | £14,233 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £114,579 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £18,469 | £14,275 | 12.97 | 8.23 | 6.45 | £42 | 0.01 | £4,633 | £114,718 | 2 | 13% | 48% | 39% | 7% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,276 | £15,019 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £744 | 0.07 | £10,109 | £115,447 | 1 | 87% | 13% | 0% | 93% |
| SA17: Percent | age stroke | social car | e costs p | ublicly fund | ed - 70% | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £20,242 | £15,478 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,329 | 3 | 0% | 40% | 59% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £20,285 | £15,515 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £37 | 0.01 | £4,272 | £113,467 | 2 | 15% | 45% | 40% | 8% |
| Ticagrelor | £21,165 | £16,314 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £799 | 0.07 | £10,807 | £114,146 | 1 | 85% | 15% | 1% | 92% |
| SA18: Minor b | leeding co | sts set to G | Gi bleed | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,399 | £14,908 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,896 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,455 | £14,958 | 12.97 | 8.23 | 6.45 | £50 | 0.01 | £5,089 | £114,044 | 2 | 15% | 46% | 39% | 8% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,290 | £15,722 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £764 | 0.07 | £10,560 | £114,726 | 1 | 84% | 15% | 1% | 92% |
| SA19: Major b | leeding co | sts includir | ng intracr | ranial bleeds | s (10%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,342 | £14,864 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,947 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,388 | £14,905 | 12.97 | 8.23 | 6.45 | £41 | 0.01 | £4,481 | £114,088 | 2 | 14% | 47% | 39% | 7% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,230 | £15,676 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £771 | 0.07 | £10,501 | £114,785 | 1 | 86% | 14% | 0% | 93% |
| SA20: Major b | leeding co | sts includir | ng intracr | ranial bleeds | s (20%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,384 | £14,895 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,910 | 3 | 0% | 40% | 60% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,427 | £14,934 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £38 | 0.01 | £4,516 | £114,042 | 2 | 14% | 46% | 40% | 7% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,272 | £15,706 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £773 | 0.07 | £10,417 | £114,753 | 1 | 86% | 14% | 0% | 92% |
| SA21: Intracra | inial bleeds | s set to 30% | 6 of majo | r bleeds | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,350 | £14,873 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,922 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 61% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,396 | £14,914 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £41 | 0.01 | £4,698 | £114,056 | 2 | 13% | 48% | 39% | 7% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,239 | £15,685 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £771 | 0.07 | £10,422 | £114,765 | 1 | 87% | 13% | 0% | 93% |
| SA22: Intracra | inial bleeds | s set to 40% | 6 of maio | r bleeds | | | | | | | | | | |

| Clopidogrel | £19,364 | £14,881 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,930 | 3 | 0% | 40% | 60% | 0% |
|-----------------|--------------|------------|----------|--------------|-----------|------|------|---------|----------|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| Prasugrel | £19,409 | £14,921 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £40 | 0.01 | £4,912 | £114,054 | 2 | 14% | 47% | 40% | 7% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,251 | £15,692 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £770 | 0.07 | £10,385 | £114,767 | 1 | 86% | 14% | 0% | 93% |
| SA23: Higher | minor and | major blee | ding cos | ts (intracra | nial 20%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,311 | £14,843 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,965 | 3 | 0% | 39% | 60% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,366 | £14,893 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £50 | 0.01 | £5,526 | £114,095 | 2 | 13% | 47% | 39% | 7% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,203 | £15,657 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £765 | 0.07 | £10,357 | £114,807 | 1 | 86% | 13% | 0% | 93% |
| Methods | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA24: Utilities | not age-ad | djusted | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,306 | £14,835 | 12.95 | 10.76 | 8.37 | | | | £152,643 | 3 | 0% | 38% | 62% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,351 | £14,875 | 12.97 | 10.78 | 8.39 | £39 | 0.01 | £3,197 | £152,848 | 2 | 9% | 53% | 38% | 5% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,191 | £15,644 | 13.12 | 10.90 | 8.48 | £769 | 0.10 | £8,080 | £153,984 | 1 | 91% | 9% | 0% | 95% |
| SA25: Discour | nt rate 1.5% | 6 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,305 | £17,132 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 7.36 | | | | £130,018 | 3 | 0% | 37% | 62% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,351 | £17,176 | 12.97 | 8.23 | 7.37 | £44 | 0.01 | £3,531 | £130,222 | 2 | 13% | 49% | 37% | 7% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,191 | £17,981 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 7.45 | £805 | 0.08 | £9,698 | £131,077 | 1 | 86% | 13% | 0% | 93% |

Abbreviations: CE = cost effective; disc. = discounted; ext dom = extendedly dominated; Incr. = incremental; NMB = net monetary benefit; QALY = quality-adjusted life years; $\pm 20K = a$ threshold of $\pm 20,000$ per QALY gained; $\pm 30K = a$ threshold of $\pm 30,000$ per QALY gained. Note: Incremental costs and QALYs are versus the comparator with the next lowest costs (the previous line in the table) unless that option has been ruled out by extended

dominance in which case they are compared to the option with the lowest costs (the first line in the table).

| Intervention | Mean lifetime costs undisc | Mean lifetime costs disc | Mean life years | Mean lifetime QALYs Undisc | Mean lifetime QALYs disc | Incr. cost | Incr. QAL Ys | ICER | NMB (£20k) | Rank at £20k | % CE at £20k | % Rank 2nd at £20k | % Rank 3rd at £20k | % CE at £30k |
|----------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|---------------|--------------------|-----------|---------------|--------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------|
| Base case an | alysis | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,115 | £17,368 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,106 | 2 | 37% | 58% | 5% | 36% |
| Prasugrel | £23,188 | £17,420 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £52 | 0.01 | £3,615 | £111,343 | 1 | 58% | 36% | 6% | 58% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,303 | £17,702 | 12.75 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £282 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,887 | 3 | 5% | 6% | 90% | 6% |
| Baseline risks | S | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA1: Stroke b | baseline ris | ks adjuste | d based o | on PLATO | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,681 | £14,968 | 13.08 | 8.36 | 6.47 | | | | £114,450 | 2 | 35% | 61% | 4% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £19,724 | £15,002 | 13.11 | 8.38 | 6.49 | £34 | 0.02 | £2,266 | £114,717 | 1 | 60% | 34% | 6% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,979 | £15,375 | 12.79 | 8.17 | 6.33 | £373 | -0.16 | Dominated | £111,204 | 3 | 5% | 5% | 90% | 6% |
| SA2: Include | baseline ris | sk adjustm | ent | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £21,903 | £16,461 | 13.17 | 8.38 | 6.48 | | | | £113,109 | 2 | 36% | 60% | 4% | 35% |

Table 55: Sensitivity analyses results for scenario 2: STEMI population (probabilistic analysis, per person results)

| Prasugrel | £21,956 | £16,500 | 13.19 | 8.40 | 6.49 | £40 | 0.01 | £2,800 | £113,352 | 1 | 59% | 35% | 6% | 59% |
|----------------|---------------|---------------|------------|--------------|-----------|--------|-------|-----------|----------|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| Ticagrelor | £22,132 | £16,822 | 12.86 | 8.18 | 6.33 | £322 | -0.16 | Dominated | £109,834 | 3 | 5% | 5% | 90% | 6% |
| SA3: Reduce | SMR for AC | S/Reinfarc | tion by 2 | 20% | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £24,806 | £18,351 | 14.18 | 8.97 | 6.83 | | | | £118,162 | 2 | 37% | 58% | 5% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £24,882 | £18,405 | 14.21 | 8.99 | 6.84 | £54 | 0.02 | £3,471 | £118,420 | 1 | 58% | 36% | 6% | 58% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,956 | £18,663 | 13.86 | 8.76 | 6.68 | £258 | -0.17 | Dominated | £114,843 | 3 | 5% | 6% | 89% | 6% |
| Treatment effe | ects | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA4: Stroke tr | eatment ef | fect exclud | led | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,037 | £17,313 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.43 | | | | £111,215 | 2 | 38% | 57% | 4% | 37% |
| Prasugrel | £23,181 | £17,422 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £109 | 0.01 | £7,568 | £111,394 | 1 | 57% | 36% | 7% | 57% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,163 | £17,598 | 12.76 | 8.11 | 6.29 | £176 | -0.16 | Dominated | £108,116 | 3 | 5% | 6% | 89% | 6% |
| SA5: Ticagrelo | or's stroke | treatment of | effect not | t included | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,147 | £17,392 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,102 | 2 | 36% | 60% | 5% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £23,217 | £17,441 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £49 | 0.02 | £3,132 | £111,368 | 1 | 60% | 34% | 6% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,276 | £17,678 | 12.76 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £237 | -0.16 | Dominated | £108,005 | 3 | 5% | 6% | 89% | 6% |
| SA6: Prasugre | el's stroke t | treatment e | effect not | included | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,115 | £17,369 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,109 | 2 | 40% | 56% | 5% | 38% |
| Prasugrel | £23,256 | £17,474 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £106 | 0.01 | £7,372 | £111,290 | 1 | 56% | 39% | 6% | 56% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,321 | £17,716 | 12.76 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £242 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,922 | 3 | 5% | 6% | 90% | 6% |
| SA7: Rivaroxa | ban treatm | nent effect i | included | (current pra | ctice usa | ige) | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,101 | £17,363 | 13.06 | 8.29 | 6.43 | | | | £111,182 | 2 | 39% | 57% | 4% | 38% |
| Prasugrel | £23,140 | £17,387 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £24 | 0.01 | £2,213 | £111,371 | 1 | 57% | 37% | 6% | 56% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,261 | £17,673 | 12.75 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £287 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,896 | 3 | 4% | 6% | 90% | 6% |
| SA8: Rivaroxa | ban treatm | ent effect i | included | (100% usage | e) | | | | | | | | | |
| Prasugrel | £23,102 | £17,361 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | | | | £111,369 | 2 | 4% | 88% | 8% | 2% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,239 | £17,659 | 12.76 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £298 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,952 | 3 | 0% | 8% | 92% | 0% |
| Clopidogrel | £24,613 | £18,664 | 13.49 | 8.56 | 6.63 | £1,005 | 0.35 | £6,617 | £114,004 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 97% |
| SA9: Dyspnoe | a included | in analysis | 5 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,074 | £17,337 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.43 | | | | £111,168 | 2 | 36% | 60% | 4% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £23,138 | £17,382 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £45 | 0.01 | £3,090 | £111,417 | 1 | 59% | 34% | 6% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,275 | £17,681 | 12.75 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £299 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,961 | 3 | 5% | 6% | 90% | 6% |
| Intervention c | osts | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA10: Clopido | grel 300m | g loading d | ose | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,062 | £17,330 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,149 | 2 | 37% | 59% | 5% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £23,132 | £17,380 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £50 | 0.01 | £3,419 | £111,391 | 1 | 58% | 36% | 6% | 58% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,259 | £17,670 | 12.75 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £291 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,928 | 3 | 5% | 6% | 90% | 6% |
| SA12: Treatme | ent duratio | n based on | TRITON | TIMI | | | | | | | | | | |

| | 000 000 | 047.040 | 40.05 | 0.00 | 0.40 | | | | | 0 | 050/ | 000/ | 50/ | 0 40/ |
|----------------|-------------|--------------|------------|--------------|-----------|------|-------|-----------|----------|---|------|------|-----|-------|
| Ciopidogrei | £23,080 | £17,343 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,154 | 2 | 35% | 60% | 5% | 34% |
| Prasugrel | £23,150 | £17,391 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £48 | 0.02 | £3,050 | £111,421 | 1 | 60% | 34% | 6% | 60% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,231 | £17,638 | 12.75 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £247 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,988 | 3 | 5% | 6% | 89% | 6% |
| SA13: Treatme | ent duratio | n based on | PLATO | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,063 | £17,329 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,144 | 2 | 34% | 61% | 5% | 33% |
| Prasugrel | £23,123 | £17,367 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £38 | 0.02 | £2,350 | £111,428 | 1 | 61% | 33% | 6% | 60% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,109 | £17,521 | 12.75 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £154 | -0.16 | Dominated | £108,059 | 3 | 5% | 6% | 89% | 6% |
| SA14: Treatme | ent duratio | n DAPT spe | ecific | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,118 | £17,366 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,102 | 2 | 36% | 60% | 4% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £23,193 | £17,420 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £54 | 0.01 | £3,604 | £111,347 | 1 | 59% | 35% | 6% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,296 | £17,689 | 12.75 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £270 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,894 | 3 | 5% | 5% | 90% | 6% |
| SA15: Treatme | ent duratio | n full year | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,070 | £17,339 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,131 | 2 | 37% | 59% | 4% | 36% |
| Prasugrel | £23,152 | £17,400 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £61 | 0.02 | £3,884 | £111,383 | 1 | 59% | 36% | 6% | 58% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,314 | £17,730 | 12.75 | 8.09 | 6.28 | £330 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,803 | 3 | 4% | 5% | 91% | 6% |
| Event costs | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA16: Percent | age stroke | social care | e costs p | ublicly fund | ded - 30% | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £21,361 | £16,185 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £112,284 | 2 | 34% | 61% | 4% | 33% |
| Prasugrel | £21,431 | £16,238 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £53 | 0.02 | £3,189 | £112,563 | 1 | 60% | 33% | 6% | 60% |
| Ticagrelor | £21,595 | £16,548 | 12.76 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £309 | -0.16 | Dominated | £109,089 | 3 | 5% | 5% | 89% | 7% |
| SA17: Percent | age stroke | social care | e costs p | ublicly fund | ded - 70% | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £24,941 | £18,605 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £109,887 | 2 | 35% | 60% | 5% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £25,022 | £18,661 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £56 | 0.02 | £3,436 | £110,155 | 1 | 60% | 35% | 5% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £25,097 | £18,922 | 12.75 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £261 | -0.16 | Dominated | £106,691 | 3 | 5% | 5% | 90% | 6% |
| SA18: Minor b | leeding co | sts set to G | SI bleed | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,191 | £17,425 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,067 | 2 | 35% | 60% | 5% | 34% |
| Prasugrel | £23,283 | £17,495 | 13.09 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £70 | 0.02 | £4,189 | £111,331 | 1 | 60% | 35% | 5% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,394 | £17,772 | 12.76 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £276 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,893 | 3 | 5% | 5% | 90% | 6% |
| SA19: Major b | leeding co | sts includir | ng intracr | ranial bleed | s (10%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,129 | £17,379 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,086 | 2 | 36% | 60% | 5% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £23,205 | £17,433 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £54 | 0.02 | £3,381 | £111,353 | 1 | 60% | 34% | 6% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,334 | £17,725 | 12.76 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £292 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,923 | 3 | 5% | 6% | 89% | 6% |
| SA20: Major b | leeding co | sts includir | ng intracr | ranial bleed | s (20%) | | | | · | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,087 | £17,351 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,125 | 2 | 36% | 59% | 4% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £23,159 | £17,403 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £52 | 0.02 | £3,424 | £111,377 | 1 | 58% | 35% | 6% | 58% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,292 | £17,698 | 12.76 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £295 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107.956 | 3 | 5% | 5% | 89% | 7% |
| SA21: Intracra | nial bleeds | s set to 30% | 6 of maio | r bleeds | | | | | , - | | | | | |

| Clopidogrel | £23,156 | £17,399 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.43 | | | | £111,103 | 2 | 37% | 59% | 5% | 36% |
|-----------------|--------------|--------------|-----------|--------------|-----------|------|-------|-----------|----------|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| Prasugrel | £23,223 | £17,447 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £48 | 0.01 | £3,406 | £111,340 | 1 | 58% | 36% | 6% | 58% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,359 | £17,745 | 12.76 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £297 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,921 | 3 | 5% | 5% | 90% | 6% |
| SA22: Intracra | nial bleeds | s set to 40% | 6 of majo | r bleeds | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,154 | £17,404 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,049 | 2 | 37% | 58% | 5% | 36% |
| Prasugrel | £23,230 | £17,460 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £56 | 0.01 | £3,782 | £111,291 | 1 | 58% | 36% | 6% | 58% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,356 | £17,749 | 12.76 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £289 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,887 | 3 | 5% | 6% | 89% | 6% |
| SA23: Higher | minor and | major blee | ding cost | ts (intracra | nial 20%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,172 | £17,416 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,066 | 2 | 37% | 59% | 5% | 36% |
| Prasugrel | £23,254 | £17,479 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 6.44 | £63 | 0.01 | £4,635 | £111,276 | 1 | 58% | 36% | 6% | 58% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,385 | £17,771 | 12.76 | 8.10 | 6.28 | £291 | -0.16 | Dominated | £107,852 | 3 | 5% | 6% | 90% | 6% |
| Methods | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA24: Utilities | not age-ad | djusted | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,147 | £17,394 | 13.05 | 10.75 | 8.27 | | | | £147,944 | 2 | 37% | 58% | 5% | 36% |
| Prasugrel | £23,207 | £17,437 | 13.07 | 10.78 | 8.28 | £43 | 0.02 | £2,510 | £148,242 | 1 | 57% | 36% | 7% | 57% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,342 | £17,733 | 12.75 | 10.50 | 8.08 | £296 | -0.20 | Dominated | £143,886 | 3 | 6% | 6% | 88% | 7% |
| SA25: Discour | nt rate 1.5% | 6 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,079 | £20,274 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 7.39 | | | | £127,456 | 2 | 36% | 59% | 5% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £23,150 | £20,334 | 13.08 | 8.31 | 7.40 | £60 | 0.02 | £3,464 | £127,743 | 1 | 59% | 35% | 6% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £23,273 | £20,538 | 12.76 | 8.10 | 7.22 | £204 | -0.18 | Dominated | £123,871 | 3 | 5% | 6% | 89% | 6% |

Abbreviations: CE = cost effective; disc. = discounted; Incr. = incremental; NMB = net monetary benefit; QALY = quality-adjusted life years; £20K = a threshold of £20,000 per

QALY gained; £30K = a threshold of £30,000 per QALY gained. Note: SA11 is for the UA/NSTEMI population only and so does not appear in this table. Incremental costs and QALYs are versus the comparator with the next lowest costs (the previous line in the table) unless that option has been ruled out by extended dominance in which case they are compared to the option with the lowest costs (the first line in the table).

| Table 56: Sensitivity analyses | results for scenario 2: UA/NSTEM | II population (probabilistic | analysis, per person results) |
|--------------------------------|----------------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------------------|
|--------------------------------|----------------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------------------|

| Interventio n | Mean lifetime costs undisc | Mean lifetime costs disc | Mean life years | Mean lifetime QALYs Undisc | Mean lifetime QALYs disc | Incr. cost | Incr. QALY s | ICER | NMB (£20k) | Rank at £20k | % CE at £20k | % Rank 2nd at £20k | % Rank 3rd at £20k | % CE at £30k |
|----------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|---------------|--------------------|-----------|---------------|--------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------|
| Base case a | nalysis | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,359 | £14,874 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,936 | 2 | 38% | 60% | 2% | 37% |
| Prasugrel | £19,403 | £14,914 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £39 | 0.01 | £4,525 | £114,071 | 1 | 60% | 37% | 4% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,810 | £15,386 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £472 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,732 | 3 | 2% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| Baseline risl | (S | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA1: Stroke | baseline ri | sks adjust | ed based | on PLATC |) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £16,947 | £13,170 | 12.98 | 8.26 | 6.47 | | | | £116,325 | 2 | 37% | 61% | 2% | 36% |

| Tricagrelor £17,435 £13,706 12.81 8.15 6.39 £497 -0.09 Dominated £114,131 3 3% 4% 94% 4% SA2: Include baseline risk adjustment Clopidogrel £18,726 £14,427 12.96 8.22 6.45 £114,525 2 37% 61% 2% 36% Prasugrel £18,765 £14,462 12.98 8.24 6.46 £35 0.01 £4,082 £114,662 1 60% 36% 4% 60% Ticagrelor £19,188 £14,946 12.79 8.11 6.36 £484 -0.09 Dominated £112,307 3 2% 4% 94% 4% SA3: Reduce SMR for ACS/Reinfarction by 20% 20% 21,040 £15,850 14.14 8.92 6.87 £121,558 2 37% 60% 3% 36% Clopidogrel £20,995 £15,850 14.14 8.92 6.87 24.89 0.01 £4,181 £121,708 1 60% 36% 36% Clopidogrel £20,995 £1 | Prasugrel | £16 987 | £13 208 | 13 00 | 8 28 | 6 48 | £38 | 0.01 | £4 266 | £116 464 | 1 | 60% | 36% | 4% | 60% |
|--|--------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|-------------|-----------|------|-------|-----------|----------|---|-----|-----|---------|-----|
| SA2: Include baseline risk adjustment Entry intervent Entry int | Ticagrelor | £17,435 | £13.706 | 12.81 | 8.15 | 6.39 | £497 | -0.09 | Dominated | £114.131 | 3 | 3% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| Clopidogrel £18,726 £14,427 12.96 8.22 6.45 £114,525 2 37% 61% 2% 36% Prasugrel £18,765 £14,462 12.98 8.24 6.46 £35 0.01 £4,082 £114,662 1 60% 36% 4% 60% Ticagrelor £19,188 £14,946 12.79 8.11 6.36 £484 -0.09 Dominated £112,307 3 2% 4% 94% 4% SA3: Reduce SMR for ACS/Reinfarction by 20% E £121,558 2 37% 60% 3% 36% Prasugrel £20,995 £15,850 14.14 8.92 6.87 £121,558 2 37% 60% 3% 36% Prasugrel £21,040 £15,890 14.16 8.94 6.88 £39 0.01 £4,181 £121,708 1 60% 37% 4% 60% Prasugrel £21,040 £15,890 14.16 8.94 6.88 £39 0.01 £4,181 £121,708 1 60% 37% 4% | SA2: Include | baseline r | isk adjustn | nent | 0110 | 0.00 | ~ | 0.00 | 201110100 | 2, | Ū | 0,0 | .,. | • . , • | .,. |
| Prasugrel £18,765 £14,462 12.00 61.10 61.10 £4,082 £114,662 1 60% 36% 4% 60% Ticagrelor £19,188 £14,946 12.79 8.11 6.36 £484 -0.09 Dominated £112,307 3 2% 4% 94% 4% SA3: Reduce SMR for ACS/Reinfarction by 20% Clopidogrel £20,995 £15,850 14.14 8.92 6.87 £121,558 2 37% 60% 3% 36% Prasugrel £21,040 £15,890 14.16 8.94 6.88 £39 0.01 £4,181 £121,708 1 60% 36% 4% 60% Clopidogrel £20,995 £15,890 14.16 8.94 6.88 £39 0.01 £4,181 £121,708 1 60% 37% 4% 60% Clopidogrel £21,040 £15,890 14.16 8.94 6.88 £39 0.01 £4,181 £121,708 1 60% 37% 4% 60% | Clopidoarel | £18 726 | £14 427 | 12.96 | 8 22 | 6 45 | | | | £114 525 | 2 | 37% | 61% | 2% | 36% |
| Ticagrelor £19,188 £14,946 12.79 8.11 6.36 £484 -0.09 Dominated £112,307 3 2% 4% 94% 4% SA3: Reduce SMR for ACS/Reinfarction by 20% Elige for accident and acc | Prasugrel | £18 765 | £14 462 | 12.98 | 8 24 | 6 46 | £35 | 0.01 | £4 082 | £114 662 | 1 | 60% | 36% | 4% | 60% |
| SA3: Reduce SMR for ACS/Reinfarction by 20% £121,558 2 37% 60% 3% 36% Clopidogrel £21,040 £15,850 14.14 8.92 6.87 £121,558 2 37% 60% 3% 36% Prasugrel £21,040 £15,890 14.16 8.94 6.88 £39 0.01 £4,181 £121,708 1 60% 37% 4% 60% | Ticagrelor | £19,188 | £14 946 | 12 79 | 8 11 | 6.36 | £484 | -0.09 | Dominated | £112 307 | 3 | 2% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| Clopidogrel £20,995 £15,850 14.14 8.92 6.87 £121,558 2 37% 60% 3% 36% Prasugrel £21,040 £15,890 14.16 8.94 6.88 £39 0.01 £4,181 £121,708 1 60% 37% 4% 60% Tissurglas 21,040 £12,040 £12,040 £12,040 £121,040 20% 4% 60% | SA3: Reduce | SMR for A | CS/Reinfa | rction by | 20% | 0.00 | 2.0. | 0.00 | 201110100 | 22,001 | Ū | _// | .,. | • . , • | .,. |
| Prasugrel £21,040 £15,890 14.16 8.94 6.88 £39 0.01 £4,181 £121,708 1 60% 37% 4% 60% Timesel £21,040 £15,890 14.16 8.94 6.88 £39 0.01 £4,181 £121,708 1 60% 37% 4% 60% | Clopidoarel | £20.995 | £15.850 | 14.14 | 8.92 | 6.87 | | | | £121.558 | 2 | 37% | 60% | 3% | 36% |
| | Prasugrel | £21.040 | £15.890 | 14.16 | 8.94 | 6.88 | £39 | 0.01 | £4.181 | £121.708 | 1 | 60% | 37% | 4% | 60% |
| Licadrelor £21,425 £16,349 13.96 8.81 6.78 £460 -0.10 Dominated £119,287 3 3% 4% 93% 4% | Ticagrelor | £21,425 | £16,349 | 13.96 | 8.81 | 6.78 | £460 | -0.10 | Dominated | £119,287 | 3 | 3% | 4% | 93% | 4% |
| Treatment effects | Treatment ef | fects | , | | | | | | | , | | | | | |
| SA4: Stroke treatment effect excluded | SA4: Stroke | treatment e | effect exclu | Ided | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel £19,303 £14,837 12.96 8.21 6.44 £114,003 2 39% 59% 2% 38% | Clopidogrel | £19,303 | £14,837 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £114,003 | 2 | 39% | 59% | 2% | 38% |
| Prasugrel £19,384 £14,905 12.97 8.23 6.45 £68 0.01 £7,888 £114,108 1 58% 37% 5% 59% | Prasugrel | £19,384 | £14,905 | 12.97 | 8.23 | 6.45 | £68 | 0.01 | £7,888 | £114,108 | 1 | 58% | 37% | 5% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor £19,723 £15,323 12.78 8.11 6.36 £418 -0.09 Dominated £111,864 3 3% 4% 94% 4% | Ticagrelor | £19,723 | £15,323 | 12.78 | 8.11 | 6.36 | £418 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,864 | 3 | 3% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| SA5: Ticagrelor's stroke treatment effect not included | SA5: Ticagre | lor's strok | e treatment | t effect no | t included | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel £19,408 £14,912 12.95 8.21 6.44 £113,896 2 37% 60% 2% 36% | Clopidogrel | £19,408 | £14,912 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,896 | 2 | 37% | 60% | 2% | 36% |
| Prasugrel £19,451 £14,950 12.97 8.23 6.45 £38 0.01 £4,028 £114,046 1 61% 35% 4% 61% | Prasugrel | £19,451 | £14,950 | 12.97 | 8.23 | 6.45 | £38 | 0.01 | £4,028 | £114,046 | 1 | 61% | 35% | 4% | 61% |
| Ticagrelor £19,828 £15,399 12.78 8.10 6.36 £449 -0.09 Dominated £111,758 3 2% 4% 94% 4% | Ticagrelor | £19,828 | £15,399 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £449 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,758 | 3 | 2% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| SA6: Prasugrel's stroke treatment effect not included | SA6: Prasuge | rel's stroke | e treatment | effect not | t included | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel £19,366 £14,879 12.96 8.21 6.44 £113,932 2 41% 57% 2% 38% | Clopidogrel | £19,366 | £14,879 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,932 | 2 | 41% | 57% | 2% | 38% |
| Prasugrel £19,444 £14,945 12.97 8.22 6.45 £66 0.01 £7,675 £114,039 1 57% 40% 4% 58% | Prasugrel | £19,444 | £14,945 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £66 | 0.01 | £7,675 | £114,039 | 1 | 57% | 40% | 4% | 58% |
| Ticagrelor £19,825 £15,397 12.78 8.10 6.36 £452 -0.09 Dominated £111,748 3 2% 4% 94% 4% | Ticagrelor | £19,825 | £15,397 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £452 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,748 | 3 | 2% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| SA7: Rivaroxaban treatment effect included (current practice usage) | SA7: Rivarox | aban treat | ment effect | t included | current pr | actice us | age) | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel £19,360 £14,879 12.96 8.21 6.44 £113,960 2 40% 58% 2% 39% | Clopidogrel | £19,360 | £14,879 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,960 | 2 | 40% | 58% | 2% | 39% |
| Prasugrel £19,382 £14,899 12.97 8.22 6.45 £20 0.01 £2,980 £114,072 1 58% 38% 4% 58% | Prasugrel | £19,382 | £14,899 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £20 | 0.01 | £2,980 | £114,072 | 1 | 58% | 38% | 4% | 58% |
| Ticagrelor £19,791 £15,374 12.78 8.10 6.35 £475 -0.09 Dominated £111,721 3 2% 4% 94% 3% | Ticagrelor | £19,791 | £15,374 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.35 | £475 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,721 | 3 | 2% | 4% | 94% | 3% |
| SA8: Rivaroxaban treatment effect included (100% usage) | SA8: Rivarox | aban treat | ment effect | t included | l (100% usa | ge) | | | | | | | | | |
| Prasugrel £19,346 £14,874 12.97 8.22 6.45 £114,075 2 7% 88% 5% 4% | Prasugrel | £19,346 | £14,874 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | | | | £114,075 | 2 | 7% | 88% | 5% | 4% |
| Ticagrelor £19,760 £15,353 12.78 8.10 6.36 £479 -0.09 Dominated £111,761 3 0% 5% 95% 0% | Ticagrelor | £19,760 | £15,353 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £479 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,761 | 3 | 0% | 5% | 95% | 0% |
| Clopidogrel £20,372 £15,809 13.19 8.36 6.55 £456 0.20 £8,915 £115,237 1 93% 7% 0% 96% | Clopidogrel | £20,372 | £15,809 | 13.19 | 8.36 | 6.55 | £456 | 0.20 | £8,915 | £115,237 | 1 | 93% | 7% | 0% | 96% |
| SA9: Dyspnoea included in analysis | SA9: Dyspno | bea include | d in analys | sis | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel £19,322 £14,846 12.95 8.21 6.44 £113,982 2 37% 61% 2% 36% | Clopidogrel | £19,322 | £14,846 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,982 | 2 | 37% | 61% | 2% | 36% |
| Prasugrel £19,362 £14,882 12.97 8.23 6.45 £36 0.01 £4,070 £114,122 1 60% 36% 4% 60% | Prasugrel | £19,362 | £14,882 | 12.97 | 8.23 | 6.45 | £36 | 0.01 | £4,070 | £114,122 | 1 | 60% | 36% | 4% | 60% |
| Ticagrelor £19,780 £15,364 12.78 8.10 6.36 £482 -0.09 Dominated £111,783 3 2% 4% 94% 4% | Ticagrelor | £19,780 | £15,364 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £482 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,783 | 3 | 2% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| Intervention costs | Intervention | costs | | _ | | | | | | | | | | | |

SA10: Clopidogrel 300mg loading dose

| <u> </u> | | | | | | | | | | - | | | | |
|--------------|-------------|--------------|-------------|--------------|-----------|------|-------|-----------|----------|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| Clopidogrel | £19,326 | £14,851 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,958 | 2 | 38% | 60% | 2% | 37% |
| Prasugrel | £19,369 | £14,889 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £38 | 0.01 | £4,356 | £114,095 | 1 | 59% | 37% | 4% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,780 | £15,365 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £476 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,754 | 3 | 2% | 3% | 94% | 4% |
| SA11: UA/NS | STEMI pras | ugrel arm r | receiving | clopidogre | lloading | dose | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,388 | £14,897 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,879 | 2 | 36% | 62% | 2% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £19,431 | £14,935 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £38 | 0.01 | £4,023 | £114,031 | 1 | 62% | 35% | 4% | 61% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,840 | £15,410 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.35 | £475 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,685 | 3 | 2% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| SA12: Treatn | nent durati | on based o | on TRITON | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,331 | £14,854 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,973 | 2 | 36% | 61% | 3% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £19,371 | £14,889 | 12.97 | 8.23 | 6.45 | £34 | 0.01 | £3,674 | £114,126 | 1 | 61% | 35% | 3% | 61% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,738 | £15,321 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £433 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,819 | 3 | 3% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| SA13: Treatm | nent durati | on based o | on PLATO | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,330 | £14,853 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,932 | 2 | 34% | 63% | 3% | 34% |
| Prasugrel | £19,359 | £14,876 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £23 | 0.01 | £2,413 | £114,101 | 1 | 62% | 33% | 4% | 62% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,630 | £15,213 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.35 | £337 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,873 | 3 | 3% | 4% | 93% | 4% |
| SA14: Treatn | nent durati | on DAPT s | pecific | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,359 | £14,871 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,903 | 2 | 37% | 61% | 2% | 36% |
| Prasugrel | £19,404 | £14,912 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £40 | 0.01 | £4,505 | £114,042 | 1 | 60% | 36% | 4% | 60% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,798 | £15,371 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.35 | £459 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,709 | 3 | 3% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| SA15: Treatn | nent durati | on full year | r | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,328 | £14,856 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,929 | 2 | 39% | 59% | 2% | 37% |
| Prasugrel | £19,381 | £14,904 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £48 | 0.01 | £5,118 | £114,067 | 1 | 59% | 37% | 4% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,840 | £15,430 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.35 | £526 | -0.10 | Dominated | £111,631 | 3 | 2% | 3% | 94% | 4% |
| Event costs | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA16: Percer | ntage strok | ke social ca | are costs | publicly fur | nded - 30 | % | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £18,471 | £14,271 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £114,515 | 2 | 36% | 62% | 2% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £18,518 | £14,313 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £43 | 0.01 | £4,310 | £114,670 | 1 | 61% | 35% | 4% | 61% |
| Ticagrelor | £18,932 | £14,788 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £475 | -0.09 | Dominated | £112,334 | 3 | 3% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| SA17: Percer | ntage strok | ke social ca | are costs | publicly fur | nded - 70 | % | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £20,341 | £15,551 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,260 | 2 | 37% | 61% | 2% | 36% |
| Prasugrel | £20,386 | £15,589 | 12.97 | 8.23 | 6.45 | £38 | 0.01 | £3,984 | £113,414 | 1 | 61% | 36% | 4% | 60% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,788 | £16,061 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £472 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,060 | 3 | 3% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| SA18: Minor | bleeding c | osts set to | GI bleed | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,420 | £14,921 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,894 | 2 | 37% | 61% | 3% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £19,475 | £14,970 | 12.97 | 8.23 | 6.45 | £50 | 0.01 | £5,015 | £114,042 | 1 | 61% | 35% | 4% | 61% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,878 | £15,439 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £468 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,714 | 3 | 2% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| SA19: Major | bleeding c | osts includ | ling intrac | ranial blee | ds (10%) | | | | | | | | | |

| Clopidogrel | £19,372 | £14,886 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,903 | 2 | 37% | 61% | 3% | 36% |
|----------------|--------------|--------------|------------|---------------|-----------|------|-------|-----------|----------|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| Prasugrel | £19,418 | £14,926 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £41 | 0.01 | £4,252 | £114,053 | 1 | 61% | 36% | 3% | 61% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,831 | £15,403 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £477 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,732 | 3 | 2% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| SA20: Major | bleeding c | osts incluc | ding intra | cranial blee | ds (20%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,343 | £14,866 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,941 | 2 | 38% | 60% | 2% | 36% |
| Prasugrel | £19,388 | £14,906 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £40 | 0.01 | £4,434 | £114,082 | 1 | 60% | 36% | 4% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,800 | £15,383 | 12.79 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £477 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,766 | 3 | 3% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| SA21: Intrac | ranial blee | ds set to 30 |)% of maj | or bleeds | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,396 | £14,902 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,934 | 2 | 38% | 60% | 3% | 37% |
| Prasugrel | £19,439 | £14,940 | 12.97 | 8.23 | 6.45 | £38 | 0.01 | £4,465 | £114,067 | 1 | 60% | 37% | 3% | 60% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,855 | £15,420 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £480 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,751 | 3 | 2% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| SA22: Intrac | ranial blee | ds set to 40 |)% of maj | or bleeds | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,422 | £14,927 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,854 | 2 | 38% | 59% | 3% | 37% |
| Prasugrel | £19,470 | £14,970 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £43 | 0.01 | £4,766 | £113,990 | 1 | 60% | 37% | 4% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,880 | £15,445 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £475 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,682 | 3 | 2% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| SA23: Highe | r minor and | d major ble | eding cos | sts (intracra | nial 20%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,407 | £14,914 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,892 | 2 | 38% | 60% | 2% | 37% |
| Prasugrel | £19,458 | £14,961 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 6.45 | £47 | 0.01 | £5,707 | £114,010 | 1 | 60% | 37% | 4% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,870 | £15,436 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 6.36 | £475 | -0.09 | Dominated | £111,692 | 3 | 3% | 4% | 94% | 4% |
| Methods | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA24: Utilitie | es not age- | adjusted | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,407 | £14,913 | 12.95 | 10.76 | 8.37 | | | | £152,496 | 2 | 38% | 59% | 3% | 36% |
| Prasugrel | £19,446 | £14,947 | 12.97 | 10.77 | 8.38 | £35 | 0.01 | £3,301 | £152,673 | 1 | 59% | 36% | 5% | 59% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,860 | £15,426 | 12.78 | 10.61 | 8.26 | £478 | -0.12 | Dominated | £149,776 | 3 | 3% | 5% | 92% | 5% |
| SA25: Disco | unt rate 1.5 | 5% | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,328 | £17,154 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 7.36 | | | | £130,012 | 2 | 37% | 60% | 3% | 35% |
| Prasugrel | £19,372 | £17,195 | 12.97 | 8.22 | 7.37 | £41 | 0.01 | £3,813 | £130,184 | 1 | 60% | 36% | 4% | 61% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,782 | £17,637 | 12.78 | 8.10 | 7.26 | £442 | -0.11 | Dominated | £127,592 | 3 | 3% | 4% | 93% | 4% |

Abbreviations: CE = cost effective; disc. = discounted; Incr. = incremental; NMB = net monetary benefit; QALY = quality-adjusted life years; £20K = threshold of £20,000 per

QALY gained; £30K = a threshold of £30,000 per QALY gained. Note: Incremental costs and QALYs are versus the comparator with the next lowest costs (the previous line in the table) unless that option has been ruled out by extended dominance in which case they are compared to the option with the lowest costs (the first line in the table).

| Table 57: Sensitivity analyses results for scenario 3: 51 Livil population (probabilistic analysis, per person res |
|--|
|--|

| Intervention | Mean lifetime | Mean lifetime | Mean life | Mean lifetime | Mean lifetime | Incr. cost | Incr. QALY | ICER | NMB (£20k) | Rank at | % CE | % Rank | % Rank | % CE at |
|--------------|------------------|------------------|--------------|------------------|------------------|---------------|---------------|------|---------------|------------|---------|-----------|-----------|------------|
| | | | years | | | | 5 | | | 22UK | | Z | | LJUK |

| | costs undisc | costs disc | | QALYs Undisc | QALYs disc | | | | | | at £20k | at £20k | 3rd at £20k | |
|----------------|-----------------|---------------|------------|-----------------|---------------|------|-------|-----------|----------|---|------------|------------|----------------|-----|
| Base case ana | alvsis | aloo | | Unaiou | aloo | | | | | | ~2011 | ~ | ~ | |
| Clopidoarel | £23.101 | £17.362 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111.091 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasuarel | £23,996 | £17.983 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.67 | £620 | 0.25 | £2,469 | £115.495 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,331 | £18,413 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £430 | -0.10 | Dominated | £112,994 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| Baseline risks | ; | , | | | | | | | · | | | | | |
| SA1: Stroke b | aseline ris | ks adjusted | d based o | n PLATO | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,756 | £15,022 | 13.08 | 8.36 | 6.47 | | | | £114,378 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £20,440 | £15,499 | 13.60 | 8.69 | 6.72 | £477 | 0.25 | £1,871 | £118,998 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,829 | £15,959 | 13.39 | 8.56 | 6.62 | £460 | -0.10 | Dominated | £116,452 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| SA2: Include b | baseline ris | sk adjustm | ent | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £21,816 | £16,396 | 13.17 | 8.38 | 6.48 | | | | £113,219 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £22,624 | £16,957 | 13.69 | 8.72 | 6.73 | £561 | 0.25 | £2,223 | £117,709 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £22,989 | £17,405 | 13.48 | 8.58 | 6.63 | £448 | -0.10 | Dominated | £115,203 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| SA3: Reduce | SMR for AC | CS/Reinfaro | ction by 2 | 20% | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £24,767 | £18,329 | 14.18 | 8.97 | 6.83 | | | | £118,226 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £25,723 | £18,983 | 14.74 | 9.33 | 7.09 | £654 | 0.26 | £2,471 | £122,865 | 1 | 95% | 4% | 0% | 94% |
| Ticagrelor | £26,036 | £19,402 | 14.51 | 9.18 | 6.98 | £419 | -0.11 | Dominated | £120,278 | 2 | 5% | 95% | 0% | 6% |
| Treatment effe | ects | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA4: Stroke tr | eatment ef | fect exclud | ded | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,152 | £17,392 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.43 | | | | £111,111 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,074 | £18,034 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £641 | 0.25 | £2,541 | £115,517 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 94% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,252 | £18,340 | 13.36 | 8.49 | 6.57 | £306 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,150 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 6% |
| SA5: Ticagrel | or's stroke | treatment | effect no | t included | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,029 | £17,307 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,193 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,919 | £17,923 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £616 | 0.25 | £2,450 | £115,606 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 94% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,129 | £18,255 | 13.36 | 8.49 | 6.57 | £332 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,230 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 6% |
| SA6: Prasugre | el's stroke | treatment e | effect not | included | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,098 | £17,354 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,144 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,019 | £17,995 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £641 | 0.25 | £2,543 | £115,543 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,330 | £18,407 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £412 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,061 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| SA7: Rivaroxa | ban treatm | nent effect | included | (current p | ractice usa | ige) | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,162 | £17,406 | 13.06 | 8.29 | 6.43 | | | | £111,101 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,026 | £17,999 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.67 | £593 | 0.25 | £2,399 | £115,452 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 94% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,366 | £18,433 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £435 | -0.10 | Dominated | £112,965 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 6% |
| SA8: Rivaroxa | ban treatm | nent effect | included | (100% usa | ae) | | | | | | | | | |

| Prasugrel | £24,038 | £18,008 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | | | | £115,514 | 1 | 83% | 13% | 3% | 79% |
|----------------|-------------|-------------|-----------|--------------|----------|------|-------|-----------|----------|---|-----|-----|------|-----|
| Ticagrelor | £24,370 | £18,436 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £428 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,010 | 3 | 1% | 22% | 77% | 1% |
| Clopidogrel | £24,724 | £18,740 | 13.49 | 8.56 | 6.64 | £305 | 0.06 | Dominated | £113,969 | 2 | 16% | 65% | 20% | 20% |
| SA9: Dyspnoe | ea included | in analysis | S | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,108 | £17,362 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,102 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,003 | £17,982 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £620 | 0.25 | £2,462 | £115,519 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,341 | £18,415 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £433 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,023 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| Intervention c | osts | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA10: Clopido | ogrel 300m | g loading d | ose | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,108 | £17,365 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,118 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,012 | £17,992 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £627 | 0.25 | £2,481 | £115,544 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,337 | £18,415 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £422 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,033 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| SA12: Treatm | ent duratio | n based on | TRITON | ТІМІ | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,091 | £17,351 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,103 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,980 | £17,965 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £613 | 0.25 | £2,425 | £115,549 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,284 | £18,363 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £398 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,065 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| SA13: Treatm | ent duratio | n based on | PLATO | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,101 | £17,356 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,134 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,986 | £17,964 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £608 | 0.25 | £2,415 | £115,563 | 1 | 95% | 4% | 0% | 94% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,178 | £18,255 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £290 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,190 | 2 | 5% | 95% | 0% | 6% |
| SA14: Treatm | ent duratio | n DAPT sp | ecific | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,111 | £17,367 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,129 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,016 | £17,995 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £628 | 0.25 | £2,488 | £115,548 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,331 | £18,407 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £413 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,054 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| SA15: Treatm | ent duratio | n full year | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,085 | £17,348 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,126 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,984 | £17,973 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £625 | 0.25 | £2,477 | £115,547 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,382 | £18,465 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £492 | -0.10 | Dominated | £112,974 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| Event costs | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA16: Percent | tage stroke | social car | e costs p | ublicly fund | ed - 30% | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £21,375 | £16,193 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £112,303 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £22,159 | £16,740 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £547 | 0.25 | £2,173 | £116,790 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £22,516 | £17,182 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £441 | -0.10 | Dominated | £114,286 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| SA17: Percen | tage stroke | social car | e costs p | ublicly fund | ed - 70% | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £24,834 | £18,530 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £109,945 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £25,836 | £19,220 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £690 | 0.25 | £2,732 | £114,307 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £26,157 | £19,647 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £426 | -0.10 | Dominated | £111,801 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |

| SA18: Minor b | leeding co | sts set to G | SI bleed | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------|--------------|--------------|-----------|---------------|-----------|------|-------|-----------|----------|---|-----|-----|------|-----|
| Clopidogrel | £23,107 | £17,367 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.43 | | | | £111,136 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,028 | £18,010 | 13.58 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £643 | 0.25 | £2,547 | £115,544 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,345 | £18,425 | 13.36 | 8.49 | 6.57 | £415 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,050 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| SA19: Major b | leeding co | sts includi | ng intrac | ranial bleed | s (10%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,115 | £17,371 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,086 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,012 | £17,992 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.67 | £621 | 0.25 | £2,464 | £115,506 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,346 | £18,422 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £430 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,006 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| SA20: Major b | leeding co | sts includi | ng intrac | ranial bleed | s (20%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,138 | £17,386 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,091 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,040 | £18,011 | 13.58 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £625 | 0.25 | £2,475 | £115,521 | 1 | 97% | 3% | 0% | 96% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,370 | £18,438 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £427 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,004 | 2 | 3% | 97% | 0% | 5% |
| SA21: Intracra | anial bleeds | s set to 30% | 6 of majo | r bleeds | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,136 | £17,388 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,057 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,032 | £18,008 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.67 | £620 | 0.25 | £2,471 | £115,457 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,369 | £18,440 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £432 | -0.10 | Dominated | £112,971 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| SA22: Intracra | inial bleeds | s set to 40% | % of majo | r bleeds | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,137 | £17,386 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,104 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,027 | £18,002 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £616 | 0.25 | £2,457 | £115,502 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 94% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,362 | £18,433 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £430 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,005 | 2 | 4% | 95% | 0% | 6% |
| SA23: Higher | minor and | major blee | ding cost | ts (intracrar | nial 20%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,103 | £17,366 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 6.42 | | | | £111,106 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,017 | £18,005 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 6.68 | £639 | 0.25 | £2,532 | £115,513 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,341 | £18,424 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 6.57 | £419 | -0.10 | Dominated | £113,025 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| Methods | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA24: Utilities | not age-a | djusted | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,147 | £17,389 | 13.05 | 10.76 | 8.27 | | | | £148,025 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £24,041 | £18,008 | 13.57 | 11.19 | 8.60 | £619 | 0.33 | £1,896 | £153,933 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,382 | £18,443 | 13.36 | 11.01 | 8.46 | £435 | -0.13 | Dominated | £150,810 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |
| SA25: Discou | nt rate 1.5% | 6 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £23,086 | £20,282 | 13.05 | 8.29 | 7.39 | | | | £127,448 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £23,977 | £21,038 | 13.57 | 8.62 | 7.68 | £756 | 0.29 | £2,583 | £132,545 | 1 | 96% | 4% | 0% | 95% |
| Ticagrelor | £24,315 | £21,423 | 13.36 | 8.48 | 7.56 | £385 | -0.12 | Dominated | £129,746 | 2 | 4% | 96% | 0% | 5% |

Abbreviations: CE = cost effective; disc. = discounted; Incr. = incremental; NMB = net monetary benefit; QALY = quality-adjusted life years; £20K = a threshold of £20,000 per QALY gained; £30K = a threshold of £30,000 per QALY gained.

Note: SA11 is for the UA/NSTEMI population only and so does not appear in this table. Incremental costs and QALYs are versus the comparator with the next lowest costs (the previous line in the table) unless that option has been ruled out by extended dominance in which case they are compared to the option with the lowest costs (the first line in the table).

| $radio vo. Constraity analysis results for section v. \sigma radio r m population (propagnistic analysis, per person results)$ | Table 58: Sensitivit | y analyses results | for scenario 3: UA/NSTI | EMI population (| probabilistic analy | vsis, per | person results) |
|--|----------------------|--------------------|-------------------------|------------------|---------------------|-----------|-----------------|
|--|----------------------|--------------------|-------------------------|------------------|---------------------|-----------|-----------------|

| Intervention | Mean lifetime | Mean lifetime | Mean life | Mean lifetime | Mean lifetime | Incr. cost | Incr. QALY | IČER | NMB (£20k) | Rank at | % CE | % Rank | % Rank | % CE at |
|----------------|------------------|------------------|--------------|------------------|------------------|---------------|---------------|-----------|---------------|------------|------------|----------------|----------------|------------|
| | costs undisc | costs disc | years | QALYs Undisc | QALYs disc | | S | | | £20k | at £20k | 2nd at £20k | 3rd at £20k | £30k |
| Base case ana | alysis | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,374 | £14,890 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,893 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,774 | £15,175 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.58 | £286 | 0.14 | £1,979 | £116,493 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,262 | £15,701 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £526 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,727 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 1% | 3% |
| Baseline risks | ; | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA1: Stroke b | aseline ris | ks adjuste | d based | on PLATO | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £17,014 | £13,219 | 12.98 | 8.26 | 6.47 | | | | £116,265 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £17,328 | £13,445 | 13.28 | 8.45 | 6.62 | £226 | 0.15 | £1,554 | £118,954 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £17,823 | £13,971 | 13.15 | 8.37 | 6.56 | £525 | -0.06 | Dominated | £117,189 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 0% | 3% |
| SA2: Include b | paseline ris | sk adjustm | ent | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £18,642 | £14,364 | 12.96 | 8.22 | 6.45 | | | | £114,611 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,015 | £14,631 | 13.26 | 8.41 | 6.59 | £267 | 0.14 | £1,841 | £117,243 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,508 | £15,159 | 13.13 | 8.33 | 6.53 | £528 | -0.06 | Dominated | £115,474 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 0% | 3% |
| SA3: Reduce | SMR for AC | CS/Reinfar | ction by | 20% | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £20,968 | £15,834 | 14.14 | 8.93 | 6.87 | | | | £121,608 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £21,399 | £16,137 | 14.46 | 9.13 | 7.02 | £303 | 0.15 | £1,983 | £124,359 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 96% |
| Ticagrelor | £21,876 | £16,657 | 14.33 | 9.04 | 6.96 | £520 | -0.07 | Dominated | £122,536 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 0% | 4% |
| Treatment effe | ects | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA4: Stroke tr | eatment ef | fect exclue | ded | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,400 | £14,903 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,915 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,811 | £15,197 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.59 | £294 | 0.14 | £2,032 | £116,513 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 96% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,223 | £15,662 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £465 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,818 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 0% | 4% |
| SA5: Ticagrelo | or's stroke | treatment | effect n | ot included | | | | | | - | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,284 | £14,820 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £114,019 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,681 | £15,103 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.59 | £283 | 0.14 | £1,958 | £116,623 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,108 | £15,580 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.53 | £477 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,921 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 0% | 3% |
| SA6: Prasugre | el's stroke | treatment | effect no | ot included | | | | | | - | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,351 | £14,867 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,944 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,762 | £15,161 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.59 | £294 | 0.14 | £2,036 | £116,539 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| licagrelor | £20,240 | £15,679 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £518 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,786 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 1% | 3% |
| SA7: Rivaroxa | iban treatm | nent effect | include | d (current p | oractice us | sage) | | | | - | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,398 | £14,906 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,917 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |

| Prasugrel | £19,775 | £15,171 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.58 | £265 | 0.14 | £1,867 | £116,492 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 96% |
|----------------|-------------|-------------|----------|---------------|----------|------|-------|-----------|----------|---|-----|-----|------|-----|
| Ticagrelor | £20,267 | £15,700 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £529 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,737 | 2 | 2% | 97% | 1% | 4% |
| SA8: Rivaroxa | ban treatm | ent effect | included | l (100% usag | ge) | | | | · | | | | | |
| Prasugrel | £19,791 | £15,183 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.58 | | | | £116,503 | 1 | 92% | 7% | 1% | 87% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,279 | £15,709 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £526 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,738 | 3 | 1% | 24% | 76% | 1% |
| Clopidogrel | £20,463 | £15,872 | 13.19 | 8.36 | 6.55 | £163 | 0.03 | Dominated | £115,195 | 2 | 8% | 70% | 23% | 12% |
| SA9: Dyspnoe | a included | in analysi | S | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,360 | £14,875 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,904 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,759 | £15,159 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.58 | £284 | 0.14 | £1,965 | £116,513 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,250 | £15,688 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £529 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,748 | 2 | 2% | 97% | 1% | 3% |
| Intervention c | osts | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA10: Clopido | grel 300mg | g loading d | lose | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,366 | £14,882 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,929 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,769 | £15,169 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.59 | £288 | 0.14 | £1,983 | £116,541 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,253 | £15,692 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £522 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,769 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 1% | 3% |
| SA11: UA/NST | EMI prasu | grel arm re | eceiving | clopidogrel | loading | dose | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,382 | £14,890 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,905 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,777 | £15,172 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.58 | £282 | 0.15 | £1,942 | £116,524 | 1 | 98% | 1% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,270 | £15,702 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £530 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,751 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 1% | 3% |
| SA12: Treatme | ent duratio | n based or | n TRITON | і ТІМІ | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,341 | £14,861 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,930 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,734 | £15,140 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.58 | £279 | 0.15 | £1,919 | £116,556 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,185 | £15,628 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £488 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,819 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 1% | 3% |
| SA13: Treatme | ent duratio | n based or | ו PLATO | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,366 | £14,877 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,938 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,750 | £15,147 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.59 | £270 | 0.14 | £1,866 | £116,557 | 1 | 97% | 2% | 0% | 96% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,097 | £15,533 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £386 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,929 | 2 | 3% | 97% | 0% | 4% |
| SA14: Treatme | ent duratio | n DAPT sp | ecific | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,374 | £14,888 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,918 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,779 | £15,177 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.59 | £290 | 0.15 | £1,997 | £116,529 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,251 | £15,688 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £510 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,770 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 1% | 3% |
| SA15: Treatme | ent duratio | n full year | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,340 | £14,862 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,941 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,745 | £15,153 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.58 | £290 | 0.14 | £2,008 | £116,544 | 1 | 99% | 1% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,296 | £15,741 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £589 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,714 | 2 | 1% | 98% | 1% | 3% |
| Event costs | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA16. Dorcont | ano stroko | social car | o coste | aublicly fund | dod - 30 | 0/_ | | | | | | | | |

SA16: Percentage stroke social care costs publicly funded - 30%

| Clopidogrel | £18,472 | £14,268 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £114,571 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
|-----------------|--------------|--------------|----------|---------------|-----------|------|-------|-----------|----------|---|-----|-----|------|-----|
| Prasugrel | £18,836 | £14,530 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.59 | £261 | 0.14 | £1,810 | £117,198 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £19,326 | £15,055 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £526 | -0.06 | Dominated | £115,439 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 1% | 3% |
| SA17: Percent | tage stroke | social car | e costs | publicly fur | nded - 70 | % | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £20,245 | £15,482 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,323 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £20,676 | £15,787 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.58 | £306 | 0.14 | £2,111 | £115,912 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £21,169 | £16,318 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £531 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,143 | 2 | 2% | 97% | 1% | 3% |
| SA18: Minor b | leeding co | sts set to (| GI bleed | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,358 | £14,878 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,942 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,773 | £15,177 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.59 | £299 | 0.15 | £2,055 | £116,551 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,251 | £15,693 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £517 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,783 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 1% | 3% |
| SA19: Major b | leeding co | sts includi | ng intra | cranial blee | ds (10%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,374 | £14,888 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,904 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,774 | £15,173 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.58 | £285 | 0.14 | £1,970 | £116,516 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,262 | £15,699 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £526 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,748 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 1% | 3% |
| SA20: Major b | leeding co | sts includi | ng intra | cranial blee | ds (20%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,377 | £14,889 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,897 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,781 | £15,177 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.58 | £288 | 0.15 | £1,982 | £116,516 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 98% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,266 | £15,702 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £524 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,738 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 0% | 2% |
| SA21: Intracra | anial bleeds | s set to 30% | % of maj | jor bleeds | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,388 | £14,899 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,876 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,787 | £15,184 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.58 | £285 | 0.14 | £1,975 | £116,474 | 1 | 99% | 1% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,277 | £15,711 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £527 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,718 | 2 | 1% | 98% | 1% | 3% |
| SA22: Intracra | anial bleeds | s set to 40° | % of maj | jor bleeds | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,374 | £14,886 | 12.96 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,942 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,770 | £15,168 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.59 | £282 | 0.14 | £1,961 | £116,537 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 96% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,259 | £15,695 | 13.13 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £527 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,776 | 2 | 2% | 97% | 1% | 4% |
| SA23: Higher | minor and | major blee | ding co | sts (intracra | nial 20%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,355 | £14,877 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 6.44 | | | | £113,914 | 3 | 0% | 1% | 99% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,766 | £15,172 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 6.58 | £296 | 0.14 | £2,041 | £116,517 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,247 | £15,692 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 6.52 | £519 | -0.06 | Dominated | £114,756 | 2 | 2% | 97% | 1% | 3% |
| Methods | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| SA24: Utilities | s not age-a | djusted | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clopidogrel | £19,387 | £14,894 | 12.95 | 10.76 | 8.37 | | | | £152,571 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
| Prasugrel | £19,785 | £15,177 | 13.25 | 11.01 | 8.56 | £283 | 0.19 | £1,496 | £156,078 | 1 | 97% | 3% | 0% | 96% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,276 | £15,706 | 13.13 | 10.90 | 8.48 | £529 | -0.08 | Dominated | £153,920 | 2 | 3% | 97% | 0% | 4% |
| SA25: Discou | nt rate 1.5% | 6 | | | | | | | | | | | | |

| Clopidogrel | £19,345 | £17,171 | 12.95 | 8.21 | 7.36 | | | | £129,980 | 3 | 0% | 0% | 100% | 0% |
|-------------|---------|---------|-------|------|------|------|-------|-----------|----------|---|-----|-----|------|-----|
| Prasugrel | £19,742 | £17,513 | 13.25 | 8.40 | 7.53 | £341 | 0.17 | £2,039 | £132,988 | 1 | 98% | 2% | 0% | 97% |
| Ticagrelor | £20,232 | £18,021 | 13.12 | 8.32 | 7.45 | £509 | -0.07 | Dominated | £131,040 | 2 | 2% | 98% | 0% | 3% |

Abbreviations: CE = cost effective; disc. = discounted; Incr. = incremental; NMB = net monetary benefit; QALY = quality-adjusted life years; £20K = a threshold of £20,000 per QALY gained; £30K = a threshold of £30,000 per QALY gained. Note: Incremental costs and QALYs are versus the comparator with the next lowest costs (the previous line in the table) unless that option has been ruled out by extended

dominance in which case they are compared to the option with the lowest costs (the first line in the table).

4 Discussion

4.1 Summary of results

Due to inconsistency in the 1-year clinical treatment effect data, three scenarios using different sets of clinical data were undertaken in the cost effectiveness analysis. The three scenarios utilise the following data to inform the 1 year relative treatment effects in the model (all scenarios use the 30 day NMA to inform the relative treatment effects 0 to 30 days in the model):

- 1. Ticagrelor vs clopidogrel (meta-analysis); prasugrel vs clopidogrel (meta-analysis)
- 2. Prasugrel vs clopidogrel (meta-analysis); ticagrelor versus prasugrel (ISAR-REACT 5)
- 3. Ticagrelor vs clopidogrel (meta-analysis); ticagrelor versus prasugrel (ISAR-REACT 5)

The DAPT option that was most cost effective varied depending on the clinical data used to inform the 1 year relative treatment effects. Ticagrelor was the most cost effective DAPT option, for STEMI and UA/NSTEMI, when data from studies comparing prasugrel to clopidogrel and ticagrelor to clopidogrel (and not ISAR-REACT 5) were used to inform the relative treatment effects at 1 year in the model (data scenario 1). Prasugrel was the most cost effective DAPT option, for STEMI and UA/NSTEMI, when data comparing ticagrelor and prasugrel from ISAR-REACT 5 were incorporated (data scenarios 2 and 3). Ticagrelor had the highest costs in all scenarios and ACS subgroups but only had the highest QALYs in scenario 1. In scenarios 2 and 3 prasugrel had lower costs than ticagrelor and the highest QALYs. Clopidogrel had the lowest costs in all scenarios.

There was low uncertainty in scenarios 1 (ticagrelor cost effective 93%/86%) and 3 (prasugrel cost effective 96%/98%). There more uncertainty in scenario 2 (prasugrel cost effective 58%/60%, clopidogrel 37%/38%). In addition, conclusions about which DAPT option was the most cost effective were unchanged in a range of sensitivity analyses around baseline risks, treatment effects, event costs and intervention costs in all three scenarios. The exception being when rivaroxaban use after ACS was incorporated alongside clopidogrel with 100% usage (and not alongside prasugrel or ticagrelor). In this exploratory sensitivity analysis, clopidogrel (incorporating rivaroxaban) became the most cost effective option in scenarios 1 and 2, although not in scenario 3 where prasugrel remained the most cost effective option. However, note that when rivaroxaban use was based on an estimate of current practice, conclusions did not differ from the base case analyses.

4.2 Limitations and interpretation

Baseline risks in 1 year decision tree

In the model we aimed to use baseline risks based on UK audit data in order to reflect real world risks for people with ACS. As discussed in the methods, the ideal source of baseline risks for the model would have been to undertake a bespoke analysis of national audit data linked with mortality and HES data as this would allow calculation of probabilities that matched the decision tree exactly, for example the probability of reinfarction 31 days to 1 year given you did or did not have an event 0 to 30 days, but this was not feasible within guideline development time constraints. Published audit data analyses were therefore used in the model and probabilities 31 days to 1 year were assumed to be independent of events experienced 0 to 30 days.

As the baseline risks were to populate the clopidogrel arm, it was ideal that the data was obtained from people in England who underwent PCI and were taking clopidogrel. One of the limitations was that the data for baseline risks was not solely people taking clopidogrel. For example, the mortality data was taken from BCIS audit from 2011/12 and clopidogrel use was 77.8% for STEMI and 98.5% for UA/NSTEMI. The use of clopidogrel in the UA/NSTEMI

population was very high, but the use was lower for STEMI. Although this was a limitation, the committee agreed that this was reasonable. Firstly, it was noted that people taking clopidogrel in more recent audit data may not be a good representation of the average population, for example, they have a higher bleeding risk due to age. Therefore, the committee agreed using the data from 2011/12 was a good balance between having a majority of people on clopidogrel and being relevant to current practice.

As described in section 2.3.2.1, the baseline risk data for stroke (in both STEMI and UA/NSTEMI) and reinfarction (only in STEMI) was for all events instead of non-fatal events. This may overestimate the number of people that are alive with an event at the end of the decision tree and entering the Markov model. This has implications as the health states for post-reinfarction and post-stroke result in higher costs and lower quality of life. In order to address this a sensitivity analysis was undertaken using lower probabilities for these events and this did not impact conclusions.

The committee noted that the mortality rates for UA/NSTEMI appeared lower than might be expected. However, it was agreed that this was due to the fact this analysis only included the PCI population, and it is those who are medically managed that might have a higher mortality rate. This was reinforced by the analysis of audit data undertaken in CG94 which showed that people that underwent PCI had a lower mortality rate. Also, the most recent BCIS audit report for 2017/18 showed that the 30-day mortality rate was 1.6% for people with UA/NSTEMI that underwent PCI which is very similar to the 1.79% used in the model.

Another limitation was that there was no recent data for reinfarction for the UA/NSTEMI population, and therefore the previous MINAP analysis that was conducted for the UA/NSTEMI NICE Guideline CG94 was used. This is based on data from 2005 to 2007 and may not be as reflective of current practice. However, everyone in the analysis would have been taking clopidogrel and therefore the committee felt this was a reasonable source to use. Also, the analysis only reported reinfarction at 1 year, and an assumption had to be made about the reinfarction rate at 30 days. In order to obtain this rate, the relationship between 31 days and 1 year reinfarction rates from a Swedeheart analysis and the PLATO trial was obtained. These showed a similar relationship and the committee agreed this was a reasonable way to obtain the 30 day reinfarction rate.

The source of baseline risk for stroke did not report 1-year event rates for either STEMI or UA/NSTEMI. Therefore, a similar approach had to be taken to obtain the relationship between 31 day and 1 year event rates. The relationship observed in the Swedeheart audit and PLATO trial were both discussed but as they were quite different, the committee agreed to use the relationship from the Swedeheart audit in the base case and to test using the data from the PLATO trial in a sensitivity analysis; and this did not impact conclusions.

There was no data available for minor and major bleeds from a UK audit. As a result, data from the PLATO RCT was used as it was considered the trial that was closest to UK practice. One limitation was that the PLATO trial included CABG related bleeding in their major and minor bleeding outcomes, and did not report non-CABG related bleeding for minor bleeds. As a result, assumptions had to be made about the relationships between major and minor bleeds, as well as the relationship between 31 day and 1 year bleeding events. The committee acknowledged this was a limitation, however, considered this to be the best available estimate.

Treatment effects

The treatment effects used in the model were obtained from the network meta-analysis (30 day data) and pairwise meta-analyses (1 year data) undertaken as part of guideline development (see Evidence report A and NMA report).

The RCTs that informed treatment effects varied in terms of their ACS population with some conducted in the overall ACS population and some in a particular ACS subtype (STEMI or

UA/NSTEMI). They also varied in terms of management strategy with some only including people receiving PCI and others including all management strategies. It was considered appropriate by the committee to assume that relative treatment effects were consistent and that combining ACS data together provided the best estimate of treatment effects. This may have limitations as it can be said that STEMI and UA/NSTEMI differ clinically, for example, STEMI is a medical emergency requiring urgent treatment. Although they may differ with regards to some clinical aspects, the committee reviewed the clinical evidence stratified by subtype (STEMI or UA/NSTEMI) and also by management approach (PCI or medically managed) and agreed that treatment effects were sufficiently consistent. It was therefore deemed appropriate to combine these to get the best estimate of treatment effects. This approach has been undertaken by other clinical reviews and in randomised controlled trials, for example the PLATO trial assessed the overall ACS population.

The NMA of 30-day outcomes included 14 RCTs; however, there were some limitations of the RCTs included. Firstly, the TRITON-TIMI 38 trial did not report 30 day outcomes for the overall ACS population and only reported 30 day outcomes for the STEMI population. This trial was the largest RCT comparing prasugrel and clopidogrel in over 13,000 patients, but the sub-analysis of the STEMI population only included over 3,000 patients. The committee considered this study significant for the comparison of prasugrel versus clopidogrel; therefore the absence of a large number of participants was considered a limitation of the NMA. Another RCT that was not included in the NMA as 30 day data was not available and was considered a significant study was the ISAR-REACT 5 trial. This study was conducted in over 3,000 participants and was considered a very important trial comparing ticagrelor and prasugrel. The studies included in the NMA for the ticagrelor vs prasugrel comparison were conducted on a smaller number of participants in comparison to the ISAR-REACT 5 (n = 1.698 versus 4.016 respectively); therefore not including this study was considered a limitation of the 30 day outcome data from the NMA. Note however that both ISAR-REACT 5 and the full TRITON-TIMI 38 population data are incorporated into the model as part of the 1 year relative treatment effects.

Another limitation was studies used to inform relative treatment effects did not always report both 30 day and 1 year treatment effects, resulting in different studies contributing to the 30 day and 1 year relative treatment effects used in the model. The committee considered the data available at 1 year to be the most complete however it was not possible to obtain a single set of consistent treatment effects incorporating all available data at 1 year due to the there being a high level of inconsistency across the 'direct' and 'indirect' estimates of effect in the evidence network which meant NMA was considered unreliable. As a result, the economic analysis had to utilise data from two sides of the network at one given time, resulting in 3 alternative base case scenarios, in order to explore the impact of the inconsistency in the clinical evidence on cost effectiveness conclusions. The alternative base case scenarios resulted in different conclusions; the inconsistency in the data was therefore an important issue to consider when interpreting the results.

The sensitivity analyses conducted which incorporated rivaroxaban use as an adjunctive therapy post-ACS alongside clopidogrel showed that conclusions could be affected. As rivaroxaban is only currently indicated alongside clopidogrel, a recommendation for one of the other antiplatelets could preclude rivaroxaban's use, therefore an exploratory analysis was undertaken where treatment effects of rivaroxaban were incorporated into the model to see if this would impact results. However, there were limitations associated with this analysis. As the use of low dose rivaroxaban post-ACS is not part of the scope of this update a systematic review of the clinical evidence was not undertaken and treatment effects reported in the ATLAS-TIMI trial as used in the NICE TA. The treatment effects reported in the ATLAS-TIMI trial were hazard ratios at 24 months. As treatment effects were not reported at the specific time points of interest (30 days and 1 year) it was assumed that treatment effects remained constant. The committee agreed this was a reasonable approach for this exploratory sensitivity analysis. The available data also relates a longer time point than was considered in this analysis, however, the study showed that on average rivaroxaban was

taken for 13 months, therefore applying these at 1 year was considered reasonable. The BNF also states 12 months as the usual duration. The committee noted that only a small number of people are prescribed low dose rivaroxaban and clopidogrel after ACS in practice and the assumption about the proportion of people on clopidogrel that would receive rivaroxaban affected conclusions. When based on an estimate of current usage the conclusions from the base case analyses were not changed, however when it was assumed everyone received rivaroxaban post-ACS conclusions changed in scenarios 1 and 2, but not 3. National audits do not collect data on rivaroxaban use and current usage was estimated using prescription data but this was not available by indication. It was also highlighted at consultation that some recent studies have combined rivaroxaban with prasugrel and ticagrelor. The use of rivaroxaban was not part of this guideline update and so this issue was not examined by the committee, however if rivaroxaban could equally be used alongside any DAPT option, this sensitivity analysis may not be relevant as the DAPT option recommended may not affect the use of low dose rivaroxaban post-ACS.

There was uncertainty around including the treatment effects of stroke in the model as it was unclear if there were differences between treatments and because stroke affects a small number of people. There was some uncertainty in the treatment effect estimates as some trials reported no events or only a very small number of events. It was acknowledged that stroke events have high costs associated with them and therefore a small number of events could impact costs considerably and also have a large impact on QALYs. However, this was tested in a sensitivity analysis by removing the treatment effects of stroke from the analysis to see if this impacted results. Conclusions did not differ from the base case analyses in these sensitivity analyses.

Events beyond one year

Data was not identified about risks of stroke or reinfarction in an ACS population beyond one year and so it was assumed that the rate beyond one year would be the same as that between 31 days and 1 year. It can be considered a limitation that there was no real world data available for the rate of reinfarction or stroke beyond one year to inform this decision. However, this is an approach that was used in other ACS models and the committee agreed it was a reasonable assumption.

The model did not allow for repeat events after 1 year and only allowed people in the no further event health state to have a reinfarction or stroke, and if they had one event they could not have the other event too. This can be considered a limitation as this does not reflect the real world as people can experience repeat reinfarctions and stroke. However, this was considered to be a reasonable simplification for modelling purposes as there is limited data available to model repeat events beyond one year and would require making too many assumptions. In addition, this was taken into account when selecting health state cost data where costs incorporating downstream events were used if possible.

It was considered that the mortality transition probabilities could be over or underestimating death in the model. The study used to obtain the SMRs for the no further event, reinfarction and post-reinfarction health states was for people with a myocardial infarction, and not just PCI. It was thought that this could potentially overestimate the mortality rates. Also, the study analysed mortality for people who have had their first myocardial infarction separately to those with a second myocardial infarction. The data for those that had their first myocardial infarction was used for the no further event health state in the model, however, some of these people being modelled would have had a previous myocardial infarction, therefore this could be underestimating mortality for this group. It was considered that despite these limitations, this was a good source of data and being able to utilise different SMRs for the no further event health states was important. Lastly, it was discussed that the SMRs from the study would include death from any cause, therefore this would include people who are dying from having a stroke. As a result, this could overestimate the number of people dying in each cycle, as the ACS SMRs have not been

adjusted to account for the fact that people with a stroke is being captured separately. A sensitivity analysis was conducted where the SMRs for the ACS health states (no further event, reinfarction and post-reinfarction) were reduced by 20% and this did not impact conclusions. In order to further test whether mortality in the model was accurate, the 5-year survival rate for STEMI was calculated and compared to the reported 5 year survival rate in a study by Brogan 2017⁵ for people with STEMI that underwent PCI. Results were similar, with the study reporting that 87% of people survive 5 years and the model showing that 85% survived 5 years.

Intervention costs

Intervention costs for those alive were calculated to take account of average treatment duration. However, this information is not collected in national audits and this varied between clinical studies used in the analysis. However, sensitivity analyses were undertaken using different assumptions and this did not impact conclusions.

Event costs

There were some assumptions made in relation to the costs. Firstly, the costs associated with ACS and applied to everyone were obtained from a study which reported the cost of myocardial infarction for people who were receiving lipid modifying therapy. Although this is not the exact population being modelled, the committee agreed that whether you are taking lipid modifying treatment before an event should not impact the treatment you receive for having a myocardial infarction, and therefore the costs should not be impacted. These costs were applied to both the STEMI and UA/NSTEMI population. It was noted that as unstable angina is not classified as a myocardial infarction, this could be overestimating the costs associated with these people. However, the committee agreed that as the model looked at people undergoing PCI, the downstream management and resource use would be similar to those with myocardial infarction and therefore this was considered a reasonable approach.

The costs associated with stroke were obtained from SSNAP data, which was considered the most reliable source of UK stroke data. However, some assumptions were made around the social care costs. As the SSNAP costs included both publicly and non-publicly funded social care costs, these had to be adjusted to ensure only the costs incurred to the NHS and personal social services were included. The percentage that was publicly funded was not reported; therefore an assumption had to be made. The committee agreed it was reasonable to follow the assumption made in an analysis by the Stroke Association which indicated that 50% of social care costs were publicly funded. This was also explored in a sensitivity analysis where 30% and 70% of these costs were assumed to be publicly funded, and this did not impact conclusions.

The costs of major and minor bleeding were based on what the committee considered were relevant NHS reference costs. For minor bleeds, the cost of an emergency admission was used. Although it was noted that minor bleeds may not require medical interventions, it was discussed that people experiencing a minor bleed may feel anxious as they have just had an ACS event, and therefore seek medical help. The costs associated with an emergency admission were used in a previous NICE technology appraisal, and the committee considered this a reasonable cost. There was variation in what other models in the areas had used to cost minor bleeds, and as a result a sensitivity analysis was conducted which costed a gastrointestinal bleed without interventions, and this did not impact conclusions. Major bleeds were costed as gastrointestinal bleeds with interventions, and gastrointestinal bleeds without interventions with a high comorbidity score (5+). It was discussed that major bleeding can also include intracranial bleeds; however, gastrointestinal bleeds were more common in this population. Sensitivity analyses were conducted which included intracranial bleeds in the costs of a major bleed, and these did not impact conclusions.

4.3 Generalisability to other populations or settings

The relative treatment effects used in the model were for the overall ACS population and therefore included people who were not invasively managed. Also, the same relative treatment effects were applied to the STEMI and UA/NSTEMI populations. The committee considered the pairwise meta-analyses stratified by condition and management approach, as well as the evidence for all ACS, and considered it was reasonable to assume that relative treatment effects were consistent and combining all the evidence provided the best estimate of treatment effects. To account for the fact that event rates may differ by subgroup, different baseline risks were used for the STEMI and UA/NSTEMI populations, and therefore absolute event rates were different.

The committee acknowledged that the people recruited to randomised controlled trials are generally younger and/or lower risk than the overall ACS population. However, this was partially addressed in the model by using baseline risks associated with real world ACS PCI population in order to estimate real world absolute event rates with the different treatment options. Although noting these issues, the committee agreed that it was appropriate to use the available clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness evidence to make recommendations for the whole ACS PCI population,

4.4 Comparisons with published studies

The economic literature review results are detailed in full in Evidence report A. Five published economic evaluations were included in the review. Two compared ticagrelor, prasugrel and clopidogrel, two compared ticagrelor and clopidogrel, one compared prasugrel and clopidogrel and one compared ticagrelor and prasugrel. One of the analyses that compared ticagrelor and clopidogrel is not relevant to this analysis as it looked at people with ACS that were medically managed, therefore, this is not included in this discussion.

One published economic evaluation (NICE TA236)³⁹ compared ticagrelor with clopidogrel in the overall ACS population (invasive and non-invasive management) using a probabilistic decision analytic model. The new analysis for the guideline takes a similar approach as it was conducted from a UK NHS and personal social services perspective and used a decision tree to model first year events and a Markov model for long term extrapolation, with the same health states. The analysis found that ticagrelor had higher costs and QALYs and was cost effective with an ICER of £3,805 per QALY gained. In this new analysis, if excluding prasugrel, ticagrelor is cost effective in comparison to clopidogrel in scenarios 1 and 3 which incorporate the studies directly comparing ticagrelor and clopidogrel (but not in scenario 2 which doesn't). The QALY gain between ticagrelor and clopidogrel is similar in this analysis for scenarios 1 and 3 compared to the NICE TA, however, the incremental costs are higher. It is likely this is due to the costs used in the current analysis being higher than the costs used in NICE TA236. For example, the Markov model costs for the no further event health state was £217 compared to £943 in the new analysis. The reinfarction health sate cost was similar however the post-reinfarction health state cost was £1,415 in the new analysis but only £285 in NICE TA236. The post-stroke health sate had a similar cost, however, the stroke health state costs in NICE TA236 was £13,084 compared to £18,522 in the new analysis. As more people were alive with ticagrelor compared to clopidogrel in scenarios 1 and 3, this means that more costs would have been accrued over time. Due to higher costs being used and more people being alive in the ticagrelor arm, this would have contributed to the higher difference in incremental costs and result in higher incremental cost effectiveness ratios. The same study also conducted an analysis comparing ticagrelor and prasugrel, however, this was based on an indirect comparison of ticagrelor versus prasugrel as there were no published trials at the time that had compared ticagrelor and prasugrel. The results from that analysis found that ticagrelor was cost effective compared to prasugrel, with an ICER of £3,482 per QALY gained. This is consistent with scenario 1 in the new analysis that also found ticagrelor to be cost effective compared to prasugrel using studies that compared

prasugrel and ticagrelor with clopidogrel. However, it differs considerably to scenarios 2 and 3 in the current analysis undertaken for this guideline that showed that ticagrelor was dominated by prasugrel in scenario 2 and 3 when 1 year data from ISAR-REACT 5 comparing ticagrelor and prasugrel were incorporated. The results are similar for scenario 1 but differ considerably to scenarios 2 and 3 due to the fact similar data is used in this analysis as scenario 1 but scenarios 2 and 3 utilised new head to head data for prasugrel and ticagrelor which showed that prasugrel was more effective in comparison to ticagrelor.

Greenhalgh 2015¹⁵ conducted an economic evaluation of prasugrel versus clopidogrel in people with ACS undergoing PCI and was the evidence review group report for NICE TA317. This analysis split the ACS population in to four subgroups which included STEMI with and without diabetes and UA/NSTEMI with and without diabetes. Prasugrel was found to be costeffective in comparison to clopidogrel, with an ICER of £6,687 per QALY gained for people with STEMI and without diabetes, £1,643 for people with STEMI and diabetes, £4,679 for people with UA/NSTEMI without diabetes and was dominant (higher QALYs and lower costs compared to clopidogrel) for the UA/NSTEMI group with diabetes. These results are consistent with the results in this analysis if excluding ticagrelor in terms of prasugrel being cost-effective compared to clopidogrel. One difference between this analysis and the new analysis is the cost of prasugrel. The NICE TA317 used a pack price of £47.56 and this cost has significantly decreased. This analysis reported higher lifetime costs across all subgroups in comparison to the new analysis. A breakdown of the costs showed that the no further event and reinfarction health state costs were similar, however, the costs associated with stroke over the lifetime were higher in this analysis compared to the new analysis. This may be due to the analysis separating stroke in to disabling and non-disabling stroke, and having a higher cost associated with disabling stroke over a long period of time. Another contributing factor could be the fact that the start age in the analysis was lower and therefore people were alive for a longer period of time and therefore accruing more costs. Despite the higher lifetime costs, incremental costs were similar, apart from the UA/NSTEMI with diabetes group, where prasugrel resulted in less costs. The lifetime QALYs were also higher across all subgroups in this analysis compared to the new analysis. This could be due to the new analysis for the guideline having a higher start age and therefore having a lower life expectancy, which would accrue less QALYs. Also, Greenhalgh 2015 did not apply a lower quality of life to those who had a second myocardial infarction, and this could further explain the differences in the lifetime QALY estimates. Incremental QALYs were lower in scenario 1 and 2 of the new analysis than in this analysis. This is likely to be largely due the 1 year relative treatment effect for mortality used in these scenarios being 1 in the new analysis and less than 1 in this analysis. Conversely, they were generally higher in scenario 3 where there is a greater mortality relative risk at 1 year than in this analysis.

Two economic evaluations conducted a three-way analysis of ticagrelor, prasugrel and clopidogrel. Abdel-Qadir 2015¹ conducted an analysis from a Canadian healthcare perspective and found that ticagrelor had the highest costs and QALYs followed by prasugrel and then clopidogrel. Prasugrel was extendedly dominated by ticagrelor and the ICER for ticagrelor versus clopidogrel was £6,556 per QALY gained. This analysis was based on data collected in three randomised controlled trials, two of which compared ticagrelor and clopidogrel (DISPERSE-2 and PLATO) and one which compared prasugrel to clopidogrel (TRITON-TIMI 38). Therefore, this analysis did not include head-to-head data for ticagrelor versus prasugrel. The analysis reported higher lifetime QALYs compared to the new analysis, and this is due to the utility values being much higher than the values used in the new analysis. For example, the no further event health state utility value was 0.91 compared to 0.84. Also, the analysis did not indicate whether quality of life was age-adjusted, and this could contribute to the analysis having higher QALYs. The sensitivity analysis conducted in the new analysis for the guideline where utilities were not age-adjusted also resulted in higher QALYs. Incremental QALYs were similar to scenario 1 in the new analysis which used similar data. The lifetime costs were also higher and the incremental cost between ticagrelor and prasugrel was lower. Wisloff 2015⁶² was the second three-way analysis which was conducted from a Norwegian healthcare perspective. This analysis found that ticagrelor had

the highest costs and QALYs followed by prasugrel and then clopidogrel. The ICER for prasugrel versus clopidogrel was £6,107 per QALY gained and the ICER for ticagrelor versus prasugrel was £6,210 per QALY gained and ticagrelor was the most cost-effective option. The lifetime QALYs were higher in this analysis compared to the new analysis, however the paper did not give details of what utility values were used. The difference in lifetime costs between the treatments was much bigger than the incremental costs in the new analysis, but due to the absence of detail regarding costs in the study, it is unclear why. The results from these three-way analyses are generally similar to scenario 1 in the new analysis undertaken as part of guideline development, but very different to scenarios two and three. The main reason for these differences is because they did not have head-to-head data for ticagrelor and prasugrel, and the new head-to-head data shows that prasugrel is more effective than ticagrelor, which resulted in the new analysis having higher QALYs associated with prasugrel in scenarios 2 and 3 that use this data.

4.5 Conclusions

This analysis found that the DAPT option that was most cost effective varied depending on the clinical data used to inform 1-year relative treatment effects. Ticagrelor (plus aspirin) was the most cost effective option for STEMI and UA/NSTEMI in data scenario 1 which used data from studies comparing prasugrel to clopidogrel and ticagrelor to clopidogrel (and not ISAR-REACT 5). Prasugrel (plus aspirin) was the most cost effective option in data scenarios 2 and 3, which both utilised data directly comparing ticagrelor and prasugrel from ISAR-REACT 5.

4.6 Implications for future research

There have been various economic evaluations looking at the cost effectiveness of dualantiplatelet therapy. This is the first UK analysis which has included the results from the ISAR-REACT 5 trial, which is the first large randomised controlled trial comparing ticagrelor and prasugrel. Due to the uncertainty around the applicability of the ISAR-REACT 5 trial to a UA/NSTEMI population in the UK, it would be beneficial to conduct a UK study in this population undergoing PCI, comparing ticagrelor and prasugrel.

References

- 1. Abdel-Qadir H, Roifman I, Wijeysundera HC. Cost-effectiveness of clopidogrel, prasugrel and ticagrelor for dual antiplatelet therapy after acute coronary syndrome: A decision-analytic model. CMAJ Open. 2015; 3(4):E438-446
- Alexopoulos D, Galati A, Xanthopoulou I, Mavronasiou E, Kassimis G, Theodoropoulos KC et al. Ticagrelor versus prasugrel in acute coronary syndrome patients with high on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity following percutaneous coronary intervention: A pharmacodynamic study. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2012; 60(3):193-199
- 3. Ara R, Brazier JE. Populating an economic model with health state utility values: Moving toward better practice. Value in Health. 2010; 13(5):509-518
- 4. Bonello L, Laine M, Cluzel M, Frere C, Mancini J, Hasan A et al. Comparison of ticagrelor versus prasugrel to prevent periprocedural myonecrosis in acute coronary syndromes. American Journal of Cardiology. 2015; 116(3):339-343
- 5. Brogan RA, Alabas O, Almudarra S, Hall M, Dondo TB, Mamas MA et al. Relative survival and excess mortality following primary percutaneous coronary intervention for ST-elevation myocardial infarction. European Heart Journal: Acute Cardiovascular Care. 2017; 8(1):68-77
- 6. Bronnum-Hansen H, Davidsen M, Thorvaldsen P. Long-term survival and causes of death after stroke. Stroke. 2001; 32(9):2131-2136
- 7. Cannon CP, Husted S, Harrington RA, Scirica BM, Emanuelsson H, Peters G et al. Safety, tolerability, and initial efficacy of AZD6140, the first reversible oral adenosine diphosphate receptor antagonist, compared with clopidogrel, in patients with non-STsegment elevation acute coronary syndrome: Primary results of the DISPERSE-2 trial. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2007; 50(19):1844-1851
- 8. Curtis L, Burns A. Unit costs of health and social care 2018. Canterbury. Personal Social Services Research Unit University of Kent, 2018. Available from: https://www.pssru.ac.uk/project-pages/unit-costs/unit-costs-2018/
- 9. Danese MD, Gleeson M, Kutikova L, Griffiths RI, Azough A, Khunti K et al. Estimating the economic burden of cardiovascular events in patients receiving lipid-modifying therapy in the UK. BMJ Open. 2016; 6(8):e011805
- 10. Dasbiswas A, Rao MS, Babu PR, Vijayvergiya R, Nayak R, Dani S et al. A comparative evaluation of prasugrel and clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndrome undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. Journal of the Association of Physicians of India. 2013; 61(2):114-116, 126
- 11. Dehghani P, Lavoie A, Lavi S, Crawford JJ, Harenberg S, Zimmermann RH et al. Effects of ticagrelor versus clopidogrel on platelet function in fibrinolytic-treated STEMI patients undergoing early PCI. American Heart Journal. 2017; 192:105-112
- 12. Department of Health. NHS reference costs 2017/18. 2018. Available from: https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/reference-costs/ Last accessed: 10/7/2019.
- 13. Doble B, Pufulete M, Harris JM, Johnson T, Lasserson D, Reeves BC et al. Healthrelated quality of life impact of minor and major bleeding events during dual

antiplatelet therapy: a systematic literature review and patient preference elicitation study. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2018; 16(1):191

- 14. Goto S, Huang CH, Park SJ, Emanuelsson H, Kimura T. Ticagrelor vs. clopidogrel in Japanese, Korean and Taiwanese patients with acute coronary syndrome -- randomized, double-blind, phase III PHILO study. Circulation Journal. 2015; 79(11):2452-2460
- 15. Greenhalgh J, Bagust A, Boland A, Dwan K, Beale S, Fleeman N et al. Prasugrel (Efient®) with percutaneous coronary intervention for treating acute coronary syndromes (review of TA182): Systematic review and economic analysis Health Technology Assessment. 2015; 19(29)
- 16. Han L, Zhang JJ, Jing HF, Qin L. Ticagrelor for patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction after emergency percutaneous coronary intervention. Journal of Biological Regulators and Homeostatic Agents. 2019; 33(2):485-490
- 17. Hulme WJ, Sperrin M, Martin GP, Curzen N, Ludman P, Kontopantelis E et al. Temporal trends in relative survival following percutaneous coronary intervention. BMJ Open. 2019; 9(2):e024627-e024627
- Jing R, Lin W. Comparison of ticagrelor with clopidogrel in Chinse ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction patients treated with primary percutaneous coronary intervention. International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine. 2016; 9(12):23525-23529
- 19. Joint Formulary Committee. British National Formulary (BNF) Online. Available from: http://www.medicinescomplete.com Last accessed: 08/11/2019.
- 20. Kitano D, Takayama T, Fukamachi D, Migita S, Morikawa T, Tamaki T et al. Impact of low-dose prasugrel on platelet reactivity and cardiac dysfunction in acute coronary syndrome patients requiring primary drug-eluting stent implantation: A randomized comparative study. Catheterization and Cardiovascular Interventions. 2020; 95(1):E8-E16
- 21. Krishnamurthy A, Keeble C, Anderson M, Somers K, Burton-Wood N, Harland C et al. Real-world comparison of clopidogrel, prasugrel and ticagrelor in patients undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Open Heart. 2019; 6(1):e000951
- 22. Laine M, Frère C, Toesca R, Berbis J, Barnay P, Pansieri M et al. Ticagrelor versus prasugrel in diabetic patients with an acute coronary syndrome. A pharmacodynamic randomised study. Thrombosis and Haemostasis. 2014; 111(2):273-278
- 23. Li W, Guo S, Wang S, Sun X, Li Z, Sun X et al. Comparison of ticagrelor with clopidogrel in reducing interleukin-17 and myeloperoxidase expression in thrombus and improving postprocedural coronary flow in st-segment elevation myocardial infarction patients. Journal of Pharmacy & Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2018; 21(1):207-216
- 24. Lindholm D, Varenhorst C, Cannon CP, Harrington RA, Himmelmann A, Maya J et al. Ticagrelor vs. clopidogrel in patients with non-ST-elevation acute coronary syndrome with or without revascularization: Results from the PLATO trial. European Heart Journal. 2014; 35(31):2083-2093
- 25. Ludman PF. BCIS audit returns: Adult interventional procedures 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018. 2018. Available from: http://www.bcis.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2019/02/BCIS-Audit-2017-18-data-for-web-ALL-excl-TAVI-as-27-02-2019.pdf

- 26. Ludman PF. BCIS audit returns: adult interventional procedures Jan 2016 to Dec 2016. British Cardiology Intervention Society, 2018. Available from: http://www.bcis.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/BCIS-Audit-2016-data-ALL-excluding-TAVI-08-03-2018-for-web.pdf
- 27. Main C, Palmer S, Griffin S, Jones L, Orton V, Sculpher M et al. Clopidogrel used in combination with aspirin compared with aspirin alone in the treatment of non-ST-segment-elevation acute coronary syndromes: a systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technology Assessment. 2004; 8(40)
- 28. Mega JL, Braunwald E, Wiviott SD, Bassand J-P, Bhatt DL, Bode C et al. Rivaroxaban in patients with a recent acute coronary syndrome. New England Journal of Medicine. 2011; 366(1):9-19
- 29. Montalescot G, Wiviott SD, Braunwald E, Murphy SA, Gibson CM, McCabe CH et al. Prasugrel compared with clopidogrel in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention for ST-elevation myocardial infarction (TRITON-TIMI 38): Double-blind, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2009; 373(9665):723-731
- 30. Motovska Z, Hlinomaz O, Miklik R, Hromadka M, Varvarovsky I, Dusek J et al. Prasugrel versus ticagrelor in patients with acute myocardial infarction treated with primary percutaneous coronary intervention: Multicenter randomized PRAGUE-18 Study. Circulation. 2016; 134(21):1603-1612
- 31. Myint PK, Kwok CS, Roffe C, Kontopantelis E, Zaman A, Berry C et al. Determinants and outcomes of stroke following percutaneous coronary intervention by indication. Stroke. 2016; 47(6):1500-1507
- 32. Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project [MINAP]. 2019 summary report (2017/18 data). London. NICOR: National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research, 2019. Available from: https://www.nicor.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/MINAP-2019-Summary-Report-final.pdf
- 33. Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project [MINAP]. Heart attack in England, Wales and Northern Ireland. Anual public report April 2015 - March 2016. London. NICOR: National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research, 2017. Available from: https://www.nicor.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/minap-2015-16annualreport.pdf
- 34. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Developing NICE guidelines: the manual [updated October 2018]. London. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014. Available from: http://www.nice.org.uk/article/PMG20/chapter/1%20Introduction%20and%20overview
- 35. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. NICE Charter. 2020. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/about/who-we-are/our-charter Last accessed: 24/08/20.
- 36. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. NICE principles. 2020. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/about/who-we-are/our-principles Last accessed: 24/08/20.
- 37. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Prasugrel with percutaneous coronary intervention for treating acute coronary syndromes (review of technology appraisal guidance 182). NICE technology appraisal guidance 317. London. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014. Available from: http://guidance.nice.org.uk/TA317
- 38. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Rivaroxaban for preventing adverse outcomes after acute management of acute coronary syndrome. NICE

technology appraisal guidance 335. London. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2015. Available from: http://guidance.nice.org.uk/TA335

- National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Ticagrelor for the treatment of acute coronary syndromes. NICE technology appraisal guidance 236. London. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2011. Available from: http://guidance.nice.org.uk/TA236
- 40. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Unstable angina and NSTEMI: the early management of unstable angina and non-ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction. NICE clinical guideline 94. London. National Clinical Guideline Centre, 2009. Available from: http://guidance.nice.org.uk/CG94
- 41. NHS Business Services Authority. NHS electronic drug tariff: July 2020. 2020. Available from: https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliancecontractors/drug-tariff Last accessed: 15/07/2020.
- 42. NHS Business Services Authority. Prescription cost analysis England, 2019 2020. Available from: https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/statistical-collections/prescription-costanalysis/prescription-cost-analysis-england-2019 Last accessed: 01/08/2020.
- 43. Nikolic E, Janzon M, Hauch O, Wallentin L, Henriksson M. Cost-effectiveness of treating acute coronary syndrome patients with ticagrelor for 12 months: Results from the PLATO study. European Heart Journal. 2013; 34(3):220-228
- Office for National Statistics. National life tables: England 2015 2017. 2018. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/lif eexpectancies/datasets/nationallifetablesenglandreferencetables Last accessed: 01/10/2019.
- 45. Palmer S, Sculpher M, Philips Z. A cost effectiveness model comparing alternative management strategies for the use of glycoprotein IIB/IIIA anatagonists in non-st-elevation acute coronary syndrome. York. Centre for Health Economics, 2004.
- 46. Parodi G, Bellandi B, Valenti R, Migliorini A, Marcucci R, Carrabba N et al. Comparison of double (360 mg) ticagrelor loading dose with standard (60 mg) prasugrel loading dose in ST-elevation myocardial infarction patients: the Rapid Activity of Platelet Inhibitor Drugs (RAPID) primary PCI 2 study. American Heart Journal. 2014; 167(6):909-914
- 47. Parodi G, Valenti R, Bellandi B, Migliorini A, Marcucci R, Comito V et al. Comparison of prasugrel and ticagrelor loading doses in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction patients: RAPID (Rapid Activity of Platelet Inhibitor Drugs) primary PCI study. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2013; 61(15):1601-1606
- 48. Patel A, Berdunov V, King D, Quayyum Z, Wittenberg R, Knapp M. Current, future & avoidable costs of stroke in the UK. London. Stroke Association, 2019. Available from: https://www.stroke.org.uk/sites/default/files/jn_1819.144b_current_future_avoidable_c osts_of_stroke_0.pdf
- 49. Roe MT, Armstrong PW, Fox KAA, White HD, Prabhakaran D, Goodman SG et al. Prasugrel versus clopidogrel for acute coronary syndromes without revascularization. New England Journal of Medicine. 2012; 367(14):1297-1309
- 50. Savonitto S, Ferri LA, Piatti L, Grosseto D, Piovaccari G, Morici N et al. Comparison of reduced-dose prasugrel and standard-dose clopidogrel in elderly patients with

acute coronary syndromes undergoing early percutaneous revascularization. Circulation. 2018; 137(23):2435-2445

- 51. Schulz S, Angiolillo DJ, Antoniucci D, Bernlochner I, Hamm C, Jaitner J et al. Randomized comparison of ticagrelor versus prasugrel in patients with acute coronary syndrome and planned invasive strategy—design and rationale of the intracoronary stenting and antithrombotic regimen: Rapid early action for coronary treatment (ISAR-REACT) 5 trial. Journal of Cardiovascular Translational Research. 2014; 7(1):91-100
- 52. Schupke S, Neumann FJ, Menichelli M, Mayer K, Bernlochner I, Wohrle J et al. Ticagrelor or prasugrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes. New England Journal of Medicine. 2019; 381:1524-1534
- 53. Smolina K, Wright FL, Rayner M, Goldacre Michael J. Long-term survival and recurrence after acute myocardial infarction in England, 2004 to 2010. Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes. 2012; 5(4):532-540
- 54. Steg PG, James S, Harrington RA, Ardissino D, Becker RC, Cannon CP et al. Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients with ST-elevation acute coronary syndromes intended for reperfusion with primary percutaneous coronary intervention: A Platelet Inhibition and Patient Outcomes (PLATO) trial subgroup analysis. Circulation. 2010; 122(21):2131-2141
- 55. Szummer K, Wallentin L, Lindhagen L, Alfredsson J, Erlinge D, Held C et al. Improved outcomes in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction during the last 20 years are related to implementation of evidence-based treatments: experiences from the SWEDEHEART registry 1995-2014. European Heart Journal. 2017; 38(41):3056-3065
- 56. Szummer K, Wallentin L, Lindhagen L, Alfredsson J, Erlinge D, Held C et al. Relations between implementation of new treatments and improved outcomes in patients with non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction during the last 20 years: experiences from SWEDEHEART registry 1995 to 2014. European Heart Journal. 2018; 39(42):3766-3776
- 57. Tang X, Li R, Jing Q, Wang Q, Liu P, Zhang P et al. Assessment of ticagrelor versus clopidogrel treatment in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology. 2016; 68(2):115-120
- 58. Wallentin L, Becker RC, Budaj A, Cannon CP, Emanuelsson H, Held C et al. Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes. New England Journal of Medicine. 2009; 361(11):1045-1057
- 59. Wallentin L, Becker RC, Budaj A, Cannon CP, Emanuelsson H, Held C et al. Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes. New England Journal of Medicine. 2009; 361(11):1045-1057
- 60. Wang H, Wang X. Efficacy and safety outcomes of ticagrelor compared with clopidogrel in elderly Chinese patients with acute coronary syndrome. Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management. 2016; 12:1101-1105
- 61. Wang X, Li X, Wu H, Li R, Liu H, Wang L et al. Beneficial effect of ticagrelor on microvascular perfusion in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction undergoing a primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Coronary Artery Disease. 2019; 30(5):317-322

- Wisloff T, Atar D. Cost-effectiveness of antiplatelet drugs after percutaneous coronary intervention. European Heart Journal Quality of Care & Clinical Outcomes. 2016; 2(1):52-57
- 63. Wiviott SD, Trenk D, Frelinger AL, O'Donoghue M, Neumann FJ, Michelson AD et al. Prasugrel compared with high loading- and maintenance-dose clopidogrel in patients with planned percutaneous coronary intervention: the Prasugrel in Comparison to Clopidogrel for Inhibition of Platelet Activation and Aggregation-Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction 44 trial. Circulation. 2007; 116(25):2923-2932
- 64. Wu B, Lin H, Tobe RG, Zhang L, He B. Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in East-Asian patients with acute coronary syndromes: A meta-analysis of randomized trials. Journal of Comparative Effectiveness Research. 2018; 7(3):281-291
- 65. Xu XM, Vestesson E, Paley L, Desikan A, Wonderling D, Hoffman A et al. The economic burden of stroke care in England, Wales and Northern Ireland: Using a national stroke register to estimate and report patient-level health economic outcomes in stroke. European Stroke Journal. 2018; 3(1):82-91
- 66. Yao Z, Fu C, Li G. Analysis of antiplatelet activity and short-term prognosis of ticagrelor in AMI patients undergoing emergency PCI during perioperative period. International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine. 2017; 10(6):9595-9600
- 67. Zeymer U, Mochmann HC, Mark B, Arntz HR, Thiele H, Diller F et al. Double-blind, randomized, prospective comparison of loading doses of 600 mg clopidogrel versus 60 mg prasugrel in patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction scheduled for primary percutaneous intervention: The ETAMI trial (early thienopyridine treatment to improve primary PCI in patients with acute myocardial infarction). JACC: Cardiovascular Interventions. 2015; 8(1 Pt B):147-154
- 68. Zhang Y, Zhao Y, Pang M, Wu Y, Zhuang K, Zhang H et al. High-dose clopidogrel versus ticagrelor for treatment of acute coronary syndromes after percutaneous coronary intervention in CYP2C19 intermediate or poor metabolizers: a prospective, randomized, open-label, single-centre trial. Acta Cardiologica. 2016; 71(3):309-316